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Wednesday, April 5, 2006

     --- Upon commencing at 9:37 a.m.


MS. SEBALJ:  Good morning, everyone.  My name is

Kristi Sebalj.  I am Board Counsel.  And I'm joined by Ron

Man and Rudra Mukherji from the Board Staff.  We are the Board support team.  

I wanted to thank everyone for coming this morning and for accommodating us in our new and improved venues.  As indicated in yesterday’s e-mail, the Board is undergoing renovations and we would not have wanted to be in the room that was otherwise planned for this proceeding.  So thank you.

      My role today is to organize the proceedings, act as a bit of an MC for you.  As you know, there is also a Board

hearing team.

      In terms of logistics, messages, just so you know,

will be left - if they're not urgent - will be left over by

the coffee station and otherwise will be brought to me, and

I'll attempt to deliver them to you.

      Before I set out the history and the context for this proceeding and a little bit about why we're here today, I'm going to ask for a registration of appearances.  

But before we do that, can I please ask when you register your appearance, that you also provide an indication of whether you're going to be asking questions of Union today and, if so, a time estimate.  I know everyone hates time estimates because it depends on the answers, but if you can give us a ballpark, that would be appreciated.  

The third thing I need you to do - it's a big assignment - is to give an indication of whether you intend to file -- if your party intends to file evidence by May 1st.  You may not know, and that's fine.  But we're also trying to get an idea of whether the May 18th/19th, Technical Conference is enough time, frankly.

     So let's go ahead and do that, starting with Donna.


APPEARANCES:

MS. CAMPBELL:  Donna Campbell.  I'm here for the Board

hearing team, and I'm accompanied by Pascale Duguay,

Laurie Klein, Adrian Pye, and Fred Hassan.  An estimate, I expect will be, depending on the answers from the team, between 45 minutes to one hour.  And yes, we will be filing evidence May 1st. 

MR. LESLIE:  I'm Glenn Leslie.  I'm counsel to Union Gas.  Beside me are Connie Burns and Mike Packer.  I'll introduce the panel once we get started, if that's okay.

     MS. SEBALJ:  Thank you.  

Do you want to start on this end?

MS. DEJULIO:  My name is Gia DeJulio.  I'm representing the Ontario Power Authority.  I do not have questions today for Union Gas, and we may be filing evidence.

MS. SEBALJ:  Thank you.

     MR. THOMPSON:  My name is Peter Thompson, and I'm here for the Industrial Gas Users Association and the Association of the Major Power Consumers in Ontario.

We have questions.  I expect to be three quarters of an hour to an hour, if time allows.  We will be leading evidence at the hearing.

     MS. SEBALJ:  Thank you, Mr. Thompson.

     MR. MATTHEWS:  Dave Matthews for Direct Energy.  I may have a few questions today, if Peter leaves me any time.  And we're not sure if we're going to be filing evidence for

May 1.

     MS. SEBALJ:  Thank you.

     MR. MORAN:  Pat Moran for APPrO, and I'm with John

Rosenkranz, Richard King, and David Butters.

      I'll be, depending on where I am in the batting order, maybe about 45 minutes to an hour, and we will be filing evidence.

     MS. SEBALJ:  Thank you.  Mike?  No?  Oh, sorry.  Whoever feels like they're next.  Sorry, I can't see.

     MR. AIKEN:  Randy Aiken.  I'm here on behalf of the

London Property Management Association and the Wholesale Gas Service Purchasers Group.  I do have questions.  Again, depending on the batting order, I would expect maybe 15 minutes.  And we will not be filing any evidence 

MS. SEBALJ:  Thank you, Mr. Aiken.

     MR. WIGHTMAN:  James Wightman, Econalysis Consulting Services, on behalf of the Vulnerable Energy Consumers Coalition.  I expect to have, at most, ten minutes of questions.  As to filing evidence, if you mean for all the issues, or do you mean with respect to these gas-fired generator rates?

     MS. SEBALJ:  With respect to any of the issues, 1 

through 4.

     MR. WIGHTMAN:  Yes, there are a group of intervenors that will be sponsoring evidence.

     MS. SEBALJ:  Thank you.

     MS. GIRVAN:  Julie Girvan from the Consumers Council of Canada.  I don't think I'll have any questions today. 

And we're jointly sponsoring evidence with a number of ratepayer groups on the storage issues.

     MS. SEBALJ:  Thanks.

     MR. BROWN:  David Brown for Southdown –- or Sithe -- Southdown, TransCanada Energy, and the Portlands Energy Centre.  With me are John Wolnick, Jason Stacey.   Margaret Duzy is somewhere in the room, and Brian Kelly.  Depending on the order, I would think 30 to 45 minutes by

way of questions, and it's likely that evidence will be

filed by TransCanada/Portlands and by Southdown SITHE.

     MS. SEBALJ:  Thanks, Mr. Brown.

     MS. RUZYCKI:  Nola Ruzycki with the Energy Savings Group.  I will not be asking any questions today of Union Gas, and we may be filing evidence.

     MS. SEBALJ:  Thank you.

     MR. RATTRAY:  John Rattray, appearing on behalf of the

IESO, and I'm accompanied by Al Millar and George Katsuras.  We have no questions today and we have not yet decided if we will be filing evidence.

     MS. SEBALJ:  Thanks.

MR. REDFORD:  Jim Redford for the Market Hub Partners Canada.  We had one question and that was submitted previously.  And if it gets answered today, fine.  If it's by undertaking, that's fine as well.  

COURT REPORTER:  I’m sorry, could you speak up, please?  “We had one question ...”

MR. REDFORD:  Sure.  One question that was submitted previously, and if it gets answered today, fine.  If it’s by undertaking, that’s fine, too.  And we will be filing evidence for May 1st.

     MS. SEBALJ:  Thank you, Mr. Redford.

     MR. KEYS:  Patrick Keys, counsel for TransCanada PipeLines.  Joining me in the room today are Peter Exal, Tim Stringer, and Murray Ross.  We will have questions for Union today.  Again, depending on the order, I would estimate about 30 to 45 minutes.  And TransCanada does intend to file evidence.

     MS. SEBALJ:  Thank you.

     MR. SHAUGHNESSY:  Bryn Shaughnessy with BP Canada.  We will not be asking questions today, and we will be considering whether we will be filing evidence.

     MS. SEBALJ:  Thank you.

     MR. ROWAN:  Malcolm Rowan with Canadian Manufacturers and Exporters.  No questions today, but we are part of a sponsoring group for evidence.


COURT REPORTER:  I’m sorry?  “No questions today, but we ...”


MR. ROWAN:  Are part of a sponsoring group for evidence.

     MS. SEBALJ:  Thank you.

     MR. PORAY:  My name is Andy Poray, and I'm with Hydro One Networks.  I have no questions for Union Gas today.  And we don't think we'll be filing any evidence.

     MS. SEBALJ:  Thanks.

     MR. OLSEN:  Greg Olsen and Jason [inaudible] from OPG.  We will not be asking questions, and we do not expect to provide separate evidence.

     MS. SEBALJ:  Thank you.

     MS. YOUNG:  Val Young and Frank Brennan with AEGENT Energy Advisors.  We have about 15 to 20 minutes of questions for Union today, and we're not sure at this stage whether we'll be filing evidence.

     MS. SEBALJ:  Thank you.

     MR. SEAL:  Darryl Seal, School Energy Coalition.  We don't anticipate asking any questions today, and we are part of the intervenor group that will be sponsoring evidence.

     MS. SEBALJ:  Thank you.

     MR. CASS:  Fred Cass for Enbridge Gas Distribution.  Enbridge Gas Distribution does not expect to have any questions today.

     MS. SEBALJ:  Thanks.

     MR. JACKSON:  Malcolm Jackson, FRC Canada, representing Low Income Energy Network.  And I will have no questions today.  At this point we do not anticipate filing any evidence on May 1st.

     MS. SEBALJ:  Thank you.

     MR. LOCKHART:  Bob Lockhart on behalf of Tribute Resources.  I do not expect to be asking any questions today, and we may be filing evidence.

     MR. ADAMS:  Tom Adams for Energy Probe, and we  [inaudible].

MR. RATELLE:  Louie-Charles Ratelle --

COURT REPORTER:  Your name again, please.

MR. RATELLE:  Louie-Charles Ratelle, Gaz Métropolitain.
COURT REPORTER:  I still didn’t hear you.

MR. RATELLE:  I’ll give you my card after.  

I will not have any questions.

     MS. SEBALJ:  Thank you, Mr. Ratelle


Is there anyone else there?

     MS. CRAIG:  Bob Craig, Enbridge Inc.  We will have no questions today, and it's likely we'll file some evidence.

     MS. SEBALJ:  Thank you.  

Anyone else in the back of the room that wants to register an appearance?  Great.  Thank you, everyone.  That may have been a little lengthy exercise, but I think it gives us a better idea.  We may actually be able to get this done today.
     There was also an attendance sheet floating around the room so that we can get an idea as to who else is in the room.  So I'll give a little bit of background to the proceeding for the record.


PRELIMINARY MATTERS:
     We're here today as a result of a notice of proceeding issued by the Board on December 29, 2005, on its own motion.  That notice was pursuant to sections 19, 36, and 29 of the Ontario Energy Board Act.
     As many of you know, there was a history beyond that notice in the Natural Gas Forum, but I won't go into that detail.  The notice on December 29 indicated that the Board wanted to determine the following:  Whether it should order new rates for the provision of natural gas, transmission, distribution, and storage services to gas-fired generators and other qualified customers, and whether to refrain, in whole or in part, from exercising its power to regulate the rates charged for storage of gas in Ontario by considering whether, as a question of fact, the storage of gas in Ontario is subject to competition sufficient to protect the public interest.  That notice directed Enbridge and Union to file evidence of potential rates for gas-fired generators.
     This technical conference is intended to address the first of these issues in the notice, but just before I get into that detail, let me give you the history of the proceeding.
     Procedural Order No. 1 was issued on January 24th.  It contains an issues list with respect to both rates for 

gas-fired generators, storage regulation and transportation capacity, bidding process, and allocation, i.e., M12.
     The next step which, of course, wasn't directly in this proceeding was the Enbridge 2006 rates application decision.  That was issued February 9th, 2006, and that’s relevant to this proceeding because the Board directed Enbridge to file a revised rate 300 series of rates for conventional large-volume customers.  At that point, the Board also received a request from Enbridge regarding the timetable.     

The next step was Procedural Order No. 2, and this was in the NGEIR proceeding.  That was issued February 28th.  The Board revised its NGEIR timetable and outlined mandatory evidence to be filed by Enbridge on the service provision for the proposed rate 300 series of rates.
     The next was another Procedural Order No. 2, this time in a Union 2007 rates proceeding.  That was issued March 10th, and that is relevant because the Board moved four issues from its rate proceeding to this NGEIR proceeding. 
     Next we have Procedural Order No.3 and the NGEIR proceeding.  That was issued March 15th and the Board ordered Union to file evidence with respect to issue number 4, power services, and M12 service upgrades for power producers.
     Of course, then we have the evidence filed by Enbridge and Union on March 20th, which is the reason we're here today.
     The purpose of this technical conference is to provide Union today and Enbridge tomorrow with the opportunity to present their evidence and for all participants to obtain further clarification on that evidence.  And that of course, is the evidence in appendix C, issue number 1 in particular.
     Just to be clear, the scope of this conference is on the evidence filed March 20th, and in particular, on potential rates for gas-fired generators.  I understand that evidence was filed on the M12 premium, but I am hoping that we can restrict our questions to the gas-fired generators and if there's time at the end of the day address the M12 issue.
     M12 was originally scheduled to be on the May 18/19 technical conference at any rate but I know that some people have come prepared to discuss M12.
     So this is the first day of a two-day technical conference, and it's the first of two scheduled technical conferences.  The next conference, of course, is May 18th and 19th.  And that may or may not be expanded, depending on the proceeding.
     Just so that everyone knows, there's no intention at this point to have additional interrogatories or IRs.  We can address that if there is a perceived need at a future point, but at this point, the technical conference is intended to address that need.
     So for today, here are the rules to the game.
     First, as I just mentioned the scope of questions permitted of Union are restricted to Union's evidence provided March 20th, and I'd like to further restrict it to the gas-fired generator issue leaving room for M12 if possible.
     Second, if Union is not in a position to answer any question today, Procedural Order No. 2 indicates the complete responses to any undertaking are to be filed with the Board and delivered to all participants by April 17th, 2006.     

Third, although no express time limit was put on the technical conference, we will want to be as efficient as possible.  We have many parties in the room, and there is an interest in trying to get this done today.
     I know Board Staff are willing to sit late, and I understand from Union that they are willing to sit late, if need be.  But of course, if we can get this done by the end of the normal work day, that would be preferable.     

Finally, we are in a new venue, and as we've seen just from the registration of appearances, it's tricky to hear everyone.  So the way we're going to work this is, the party who is going to be asking questions will sit at this table in front, and we'll rotate questioning parties in and out so that the party has the use of the mikes.  It's unfortunate we just don't have a fully miked room.     

But if for some reason you need to speak from the back of the room, it's important that you stand and you raise your voice so that the court reporter can hear you.
     In terms of the order of events, Union will be providing a brief introduction and presentation with respect to their evidence.  In terms of questions, the Board hearing team is proposing to go first.
     Beyond that, I had suggested we go in order of appearances.  I understand that Greenfield would like to go next.  If there are any other parties who have scheduling conflicts or any other reason that they want to go out of the order of appearances, if you could just let me know, that would be great.
     I'm not hearing any.     
     The last point is that if there are any disputes, of course, we're not in a position to address those today because we don’t have a decision panel in front of us.  So I would suggest that we register any objections and any responses to those objections and they'll be taken to the panel for resolution.
     Unless there are any questions or any preliminary issues, I think we should get started with Union.     

MS DUGUAY:  (Off microphone) Hi, Kristi, sorry.  Can you just, for everybody's benefit, clarify the role of the different Board Staff teams in this case, in terms of, if we do get -- as well, how that's going to work with the two teams.     

MS. SEBALJ:  Sure.  Our role, the Board support team for -- I think that's how it's described in the Procedural Order, our role is to provide counsel to the panel, to the decision-maker.  And the Board hearing team's role is to provide advocacy in the public interest and to complete the record.
     So to the extent that there are panel questions or panel inquiries, we'll be making those that are coming from the panel, to the extent that the normal role of the public interest and completing the record will be performed by Ms. Campbell and her team.    

MS. DUGUAY:  (Off microphone) What about order?  How is this going to workout?     

MS. SEBALJ:  In terms of order, if we have anything remaining, we'll do that at the end of the day.
     Are there any other issues or questions?  Thanks.
     I turn it over to you, Mr. Leslie.     

MR. LESLIE:  Thank you very much.  I'll start by introducing the panel.     

From the left is Chris Shorts, who is Union Gas' manager, Ontario power markets.  Next to Mr. Shorts is Libby Passmore, who is manager of product and process development.  Mark Kitchen is next, and he's manager of rates and pricing.  Next to him is Mark Isherwood, who is the director of business development, storage and transportation.  And finally, to the right, is Carol Cameron, who is a storage and transportation specialist.

UNION GAS – PANEL 1:

Chris Shorts 

Libby Passmore

Mark Kitchen

Mark Isherwood 

Carol Cameron     
     MR. LESLIE:  Our plan for the first 20 minutes or so today is to make some introductory remarks which Mark Isherwood will handle.  I thought I'd give you a bit of a road map as to which witnesses are most familiar with the content of the evidence we've filed, which is intended to be responsive to the Board's directive.     

I'll do this by reference to the table of contents, and just to summarize, apart from the introduction, the first section of the evidence deals with background information on system operations both in North America and within Union's system.
     Libby Passmore will be dealing with North American standards for pipeline operation.
     Mark Isherwood will deal with Union's system operation.

     U.S. pipelines, Carol Cameron is most familiar with.

     And finally, Chris Shorts is the person from Union who's most familiar with the IESO requirements as they impact on all of this.

     The next section, tab 3, deals with infranchise services, and that is really a combination of Mr. Shorts on the existing services, Mr. Kitchen on the new T1 proposed rate structure, and Libby Passmore will deal with the evidence that responds directly to the Board's Procedural

Order.

Next to last is the exfranchise power service evidence.  That's at tab 4.  And that is largely Mark Isherwood and Carol Cameron, dealing with the existing services and the proposed new services.

     And then, finally, on the M12 premium, if we get there, that is something that Mr. Isherwood and Mr. Kitchen

will deal with; Mr. Kitchen more from the rates and costs

standpoint.  

     I hope that's somewhat helpful, and I'll now ask Mr. Isherwood to introduce the evidence for you, and then the panel will be available for questioning.


OPENING STATEMENT BY MR. ISHERWOOD: 

MR. ISHERWOOD:  Good morning, everybody.  I'm going to spend a few minutes, as Glen mentioned, 15 or 20, just

to give some high-level comments around the evidence, and to really give a roadmap on how it was organized.  

The intent is really to keep this fairly short and preserve as much of the day as possible for questions.  It sounds like there's quite a few out there, so I'll make this pretty short and that will leave more time to questions.  

In terms of slide 2, and I hope everybody has this in

front of them – it was left on your chair, I believe – the evidence has five tabs.  The first tab is a fairly short introduction.  The second tab is a background section.  Tab 3 and 4 cover off the infranchise and exfranchise service, both existing and proposed.  


I should just define briefly what we mean by "infranchise."  Infranchise, to us, is any customer within our franchise area, so we have a group of services and rates for that.  Exfranchise customers are those customers outside of our franchise that use our system to transport or store gas across it.  So a good example would be Enbridge or Gaz Métropolitain in Montreal, they are exfranchise customers.  And then tab 5 is really the M12 premium, which we may or may not get to today.

     In terms of the background section on slide 3, Union felt it very important to go through some context and some background before getting into the actual services on both infranchise and exfranchise.  So the background section really covers off four different areas of background, and

I'll just go through them ever so briefly here.

     The first is really around the North American standards, and we really identified there being three standards that were important.  

The first is really the definition of the gas day.  All across North America, every pipeline, every storage company, every LDC, has the same gas day.  It's 10 o'clock in the morning for us, in Eastern Canada, the clock time.

     The second important standard is something we call rateable flow.  Rateable flow means that we would deliver the gas across our system based on a constant hourly amount.  So if you've nominated 24,000 gJs, as an example, to go to Parkway, we would deliver that 1,000 gJs per hour.  And that's a constant standard, again, across North America.  

The third standard that's very important is the use of nominations, and there are really four nominations that are standard across North America.  A nomination is simply an instruction by an end-user or a shipper to instruct the service provider on what services are required for tomorrow or within the gas day.  It would be -- for example, the instruction for us to deliver the 24,000 gJs at Parkway would be a nomination.

     Given that every pipeline, every operator, across North America has the same four windows, end-use rateable flow, and uses the same gas day, it really allows the whole North American system to operate very efficiently, very effectively.  It allows to us align our interconnecting pipelines both contractually, commercially, and, most importantly, operationally.  So it’s very, very important to have that background.

     In terms of Union's system operations, Union has a very robust system.  It includes the Dawn hub.  It also includes the Dawn-Parkway pipeline system that connects Dawn to essentially the Toronto power market, which is the topic of today.

     Including the Dawn compressor station, there are really four compressors that operate along that pipeline.  There’s Dawn, Lobo, Bright, and Parkway.  Our mandate is to operate that system in a very safe, reliable, and efficient mode of operation.

     It's important to appreciate that we do interconnect with multiple parties both at the Dawn end and also at the Kirkwall/Parkway end.  And, again, going back to those NAESB standards -– NAESB, I should say, stands for North American Energy Standards Board – and it's really those NAESB standards that allow us to interconnect with those pipelines and operate efficiently, reliably, and safely.

We also have a piece in the evidence on U.S. pipelines.  This is really a continuation on some of the work that was done by both Board Staff and the Board Staff's consultant.  From our perspective, we continued on with some of that research and maybe expanded it in a few spots.  But given that the U.S. has installed over 200,000 megawatts of new generation since 1998, it's really important for us all, I think, to look to those jurisdictions for some experience and some ideas.

     From our perspective, we did try to look at it from two different perspectives.  One is from an infranchise perspective, so those power plants that are actually located directly off of the pipeline in the U.S., we view that as sort of an infranchise equivalent type of service.  And for us, that would compare back to our T1 service, which I think, if you looked at T1 relative to any of the U.S. pipelines, infranchise type services is industry leading.

     We also looked at it from the point of view of an exfranchise service.  So what services are U.S. pipelines providing customers that are really located one or two pipelines away?  And we found fewer examples of that type of operation, which is important to note as well.

     And the fourth piece on the background is really around the IESO, and how they dispatch power today, but more importantly, directionally where that may be going in the future.

    
It’s Union's view that the dispatch of electricity has an element of predictability to it.  Obviously, the closer you get to the dispatch hour, the more predictable it will be.  But two or three years out, there is an element of predictability that is reasonably very good today.  And through the commitment process being introduced on June 1, that predictability will get better, and, hopefully with the evolution of the day-ahead market, will get better again.

     So those are all important background pieces in terms of what we are looking at and thinking through as we developed services and evaluated existing services.

Our whole development process really falls under E here, the power customer meetings.  We had a first power customer meeting back in August, where we actually presented our existing services and got feedback, and I'll talk about that in a few minutes.  We also had large customer meetings in November and, again co-sponsored with TCPL and Enbridge, another meeting in January.  We found those two meetings very, very helpful in terms of getting feedback in terms of our development.  We also had dozens and dozens and dozens of 101 meetings with the full range of industry participants, from gas producers to power generators to industry associations.  We tried to cover the whole gamut.

Turning to slide 4.  The infranchise services we have today have certainly evolved over time.  I became involved in the world of direct purchase and T1 back in the late ‘80s, and I think the first T1 contract was in the '87/'88 time frame.  It has certainly evolved since that point in time.  I can remember back in the first one or two contracts, people were very uncomfortable, both on the customer side and the Union side, entering those contracts, because there was no experience, no history.  When you compare that to today where now, during long-term contracts, it has evolved into a much broader, much more optionality.  It's a much better service.  And that's common, I think, that any service will evolve over time.

The meeting we had in August, we did review at length the T1 service and the other services we provide customers in the north.  Coming out of that meeting were really no major suggestions in terms of improvements we could make to the service level itself.

     The evidence, going through it, will describe in great detail how we operate –- how customers will operate under a T1 service in the south, and the various services in the north: rate 100, rate 25, rate 20, et cetera.  


It’s important to note that currently Union has in excess of 4,400 megawatts of natural gas-fired generation operating in our franchise today.  That represents approximately 90 percent of the gas-fired generation in Ontario.  That total number of 4,400 includes about 1,000 megawatts that would be dispatchable in today's environment.  It includes 2000 megawatts at Lennox that would be deemed to be a peaking type of load and the remainder, essentially, a co-generation type of load.  So in a nutshell, I think Union Gas has tremendous experience in serving power generation, and that also served an important role we went through, our service development as well 
     On slide 5, I believe most people in the room are following with great interest the hearing that was held back in the late fall/early winter around the Greenfield Energy Centre, and specifically the decision that came out of that in RP-2005-0222.  

The underlying message that we got out of that decision as we read it was really around price.  I think the message we were picking up is that the Board was suggesting we go back and see if we could make the rate from a price point of view more robust.  And we actually have come forward with two different suggestions, one in this proceeding and one in our 2007 proceeding.  

The first one is really to find a way to offer a lower demand charge for firm contract demand at the plant level for a large T1 customer. The current T1 rate today has two declining blocks.  So a large customer would essentially have part of their CD paying the high price in the first black and the second – and the rest of their CD paying the lower price in the second block.  So it's a kind of a declining structure.  

The proposal we're making in the NGEIR proceeding is to go to a four-step design.  So the demand charge the customer would actually pay would be based on which step would apply to his level of contract demand.  Obviously, a very small T1 customer would be in the first step, and a very large T1 customer would be in the fourth step paying a lower overall demand charge.
     The second suggestion we made, or proposal we made, is actually in our ‘07 rate case.  And it's to eliminate the need for a T1 customer to pay fuel and unaccounted-for gas which is directly connected to a third-party pipeline. Example, a third-party pipeline would be Vector or TransCanada would be two good examples.
     That's consistent with the provision that Enbridge has in their Rate 125 tariff.
     On page 6, again, at the August meeting Union presented our exfranchise service, both M12 and C1 storage, and actually received a lot of excellent feedback from customers in terms of how we could improve those services to make them more flexible for power customers or how we can provide enhanced services sort of on top of existing services to provide value to power customers.  It’s really based on that feedback that we went forward with the development process in terms of getting new services developed, and it led to really our two checkpoints, which is a meeting in November in which we got all customers together to give us more feedback in terms of point in time, how we were doing, and again in January, point in time, how we were doing.  As I mentioned, that's complemented by dozens and dozens of 101 meetings as well.  

     In our evidence, we actually filed four new services.  The first one is called F24-T.  F standing for firm, 24 standing for 24 hours a day, and T standing for transport.  This service provides three enhancements that would not otherwise be available in today's M12 service.  It provides for a reservation of capacity all day long.  It provides for six additional nomination windows.  And on those six nomination windows, we've really shrunk the amount of time between when the nomination's due and when it's effective.  

If you look at the Nasby windows, if you look at the time between effective time and when it's actually due, the gap is anywhere from 4 hours to 21 hours across those windows.  We've actually shrunk that down to 2 hours again, responding to the needs of the power consumers.  

F24-S is a similar type of service for storage.  “S” standing for storage, but has similar characteristics as F24-T.  The other two services we have proposed here is the upstream pipeline balancing service.  I had mentioned earlier that one of the characteristics of the North American gas system is a rateable flow of gas.  What up stream pipeline balancing service does is allow the customer to deliver to us on a basis of a rateable flow, 1/24th at Dawn, and we would deliver the gas at Parkway over a different hourly rate between 12 and 24 hours, provided that the customer had contracted for at least that volume of hourly demand.
     The last service is a downstream pipeline balancing service.  This is in response to power customers wanting the ability to start up their power plant on short notice in between nomination windows.  It's essentially a park and loan service at Parkway that would allow the power generator to manage to have a small storage position sitting at Parkway so you could start up between nomination windows.
     And finally, on page 7, this is really covered in tab 5 of the evidence, there's a brief description of the M12 premium issue, why Union offered to allow customers bidding in our 2006 and 2007 open season, the ability to bid a premium.  And as mentioned, if we have time we can get to that today.  Those are my remarks.     

MR. LESLIE:  Thanks very much, Mark.  

The witnesses are now available for questions.     

MS. CAMPBELL:  Thank you.  Before I start, if there's anybody in the audience who did not receive a copy of the questions that the hearing staff wish to put to the Union panel today, I do have extra copies at the front.  Everyone should have received it by e-mail, but in case you didn't, there are copies at the front.
     All right.  Now, these questions, as I indicated, were sent to the Board previously, and I understand from speaking with your earlier, Mr. Leslie, that some of them will be answered in writing but a number of them can be answered today.     

MR. LESLIE:  I think we can deal with most of it orally today.  Obviously, where there’s a requirement for tables or detailed calculations, we’ll we'll provide that subsequently.

CROSS-EXAMINATION BY MS. CAMPBELL:

MS. CAMPBELL:  Thank you.  So starting with question number 1.  And the reference to that is tab 2, pages 4 to 6.  And the line that you find it on, tab 2, page 4.  And the lines are 8 through 11.
     
“Upon receipt of a nomination at the timely 

window, there are six major steps undertaken by Union before the nomination can be authorized and scheduled.”

     And the first question that relates to this is: 

“For each of the identified nomination steps, 

please identify which processes is including Union's internal process and the interaction between TCPL, Vector, and EGD are automated and which ones are manual and which are a combination.”     

MS. PASSMORE:  I'll take that one.  Let’s start with step number one, which is a step where we are confirming the contract parameters.  So that is essentially that if the customer requests a service, do we have a valid contract for that service, and does that contract have that limit or that amount of capacity.  So if a customer's requesting to nominate from gas to be moved from Dawn to Parkway, do they have a valid contract?  Currently, that process is automated through gas care and Union Line.
     The next step is that we have to validate that the receipts equal the deliveries.  So if a customer has requested that we send the same thousand gJs to Parkway, so that is the delivery, have we seen a thousand gJs arriving at Dawn.  So this is validating receipts equal deliveries.  And that process, again, is automated.  And that is through gas care and Union Line.
     Then we move on to, in order to be able to schedule interruptible services, we have to determine the availability of these services.  This is the first that you see a combination of care and manual intervention.     

The fourth step is the confirming with the upstream and the downstream operators.  Again, if a shipper has told Union that they would be delivering a thousand gJs of gas to TransCanada at Parkway, we would be confirming that TransCanada is expecting to receive 1,000 gJs of gas at Parkway.  This process is highly manual, and this is a very -- this is a process that requires quite a bit of give and take, intercommunication, telephone, et cetera.
     Step number five is after we have confirmed with our upstream and downstream operators, is a point in time where we begin to communicate with our gas control folks, so our operations people, right.  These are the people that are actually setting up our pipelines system in order to ensure that all the gas that has been nominated by the customers will be at the receipt points that the customers expect it to be.

     This is a gas care and a manual dialogue as well.

     And then the final step is when we do confirm back to the shipper that their nomination has been received and has been scheduled, and this happens through our Union Line system and it is automated.

     MS. CAMPBELL:  Thank you.  And the follow-up question to that on the list is, if you would give us an idea of the staff time that's involved for the manual steps that you have spoken of.

     MS. PASSMORE:  And so the first manual step is confirming the availability of the interruptible services.  That is the longest step in the process.  And that would take between two and two quarter hours, is really the average of that when we're working on that in the timely window.

     The next step is when we're confirming with the upstream and downstream pipeline operators.  This is the step that does require, basically, picking up the telephone and talking to our upstream and downstream pipes.  On average that takes about 70 to 90 minutes.

     And then the final step that has the manual intervention is when we're working with our own gas control folks to get the pipeline scheduled, and we usually allot 10 to 15 minutes for that.

     MS. CAMPBELL:  Thank you.

     The next question references tab 2, page 15, lines 7 and 9.  And I'm reading:  

“On-peak demand days, when Union's system is already operating near its limits, i.e., minimum

pressure, any sudden shift in demand can compromise the integrity and reliability of the natural gas delivery service.”

     The question arising out of that is, how large a demand can the Ontario natural gas delivery system tolerate before it's compromised?

     MR. ISHERWOOD:  I'll take that one.  

MS. CAMPBELL:  Thank you.

MR. ISHERWOOD:  This is one of the questions we had some difficulty with from the perspective that, the actual graph that's referenced here is actually showing Enbridge CDA measured for a scheduled quantity, and it was really for the month of February 2005.  So for those that haven't seen it, it's a very noisy graph in terms of up and down.  It does go from a low of 30,000 to a high of about 55,000, but that range ability is really over the course of a full month.

From our perspective, it would be difficult to estimate at the Ontario level what could be done.  It's really very much point specific, so a CDA would be a good question, or Dawn or Parkway.  Certainly, our system is designed to meet peak-day capability, and two of our services are really designed -– that we're proposing for exfranchise shippers, really does address this issue in terms of sudden shift or sudden change in load pattern. 

The first one would be the F24-T service.  Again, that

has a two-hour window between when a nomination is due and a nomination is effective.  So what we said in evidence is, Union Gas could provide up to 500,000 gJs a day at Parkway, based on nominations being effective two hours after they're due.  I think that kind of gets to the same answer to the question, what can you tolerate?  500,000 a day is what that one service is designed to provide.  

The other service that kind of gets to the same question is the downstream pipeline balancing service, where we actually -– if the customer was parking gas at Parkway, we would be able to handle four-hour volume -– four-hour equivalent volume going to that customer at

Parkway.

I don't know if that answered the question wholly, but it was difficult within the context of the Ontario system.  Certainly, at Parkway we’ve identified two services to help with this very situation.

     MS. CAMPBELL:  All right.  Moving on to question 3,

which is tab 2, page 17, lines 6 to 11.  

Essentially, Union has indicated that it was difficult to identify examples where flexibility beyond the NAESB standards is offered to power customers located at downstream interconnecting pipelines.  And it states:  

“This is critical given that Union's new exfranchise power services are intended for power

customers located two pipelines away, i.e., gas must travel on TCPL and Enbridge's system to reach the power customer.”

And the first question arising out of that was to please describe Union's operational difficulties associated with providing services two pipelines away.

     MR. ISHERWOOD:  I'll try that one, too.

     MS. CAMPBELL:  Mr. Isherwood?  Thank you.

     MR. ISHERWOOD:  I'm not sure the difficulty is as much operational as it may be more the relationship being one of causality.  And I'll give a couple of facts first and I’ll try and wrap them up in the answer at the end.  

But to the extent that the party is two pipelines away - and we might as well use the example of a power customer taking the gas from Dawn on Union to Parkway, TCPL from Parkway to the Enbridge CDA, and then Enbridge to the ultimate endpoint location - so in that case, the Enbridge endpoint location is two pipelines away from our system.  It has to travel on both TransCanada as well as on Enbridge to get to the ultimate meter.

     In terms of what we see, we don't see any of the consumption.  The only party that would see consumption in that case would be Enbridge, because they have the meter and they have the electronics to go back to their control room.  So that's sort of the first point that's important to note.

The second point is really one around, when the customer is moving gas in our system, we actually deliver what they nominate.  We don't deliver what they consume.  So if they nominated a hundred units, we will deliver a hundred units and they will consume something different, probably.  It would be a rare case for them to consume exactly a hundred units.  So that will result in a pipeline imbalance somewhere between Dawn and the endpoint location.

     So to the extent that the customer burned more, say, 105 units, then somewhere along that path they would be owing somebody 5 units; and, likewise, if they burned 95 units, they would have 5 units of gas in excess.

     That's typically handled between pipelines using OBA agreements, operational balancing agreements, or between

pipelines and -- again, TCPL and Enbridge would be handled through an LBA.  But those pipeline to operator agreements are really at a macro level.  It's very much aggregated information.  So if a power generator was burning gas in the middle of the Enbridge franchise, nobody but Enbridge would really know what that pipeline –- what that power customer did in terms of that daily consumption.  All that he would see would be an imbalance between TransCanada and Enbridge at the takeoff, or also possibly between Union and Enbridge or Union and TCPL at Parkway.  But it’s all in aggregate.  No one sees the actual impact of that one customer.

     Another point I mentioned is it's very difficult to telegraph flexibility from one system on to the next or down to a third -- second pipeline downstream.  And I think there's questions later on that get to that very point, around Union proposing ten nomination windows.  That only works if TCPL and Enbridge can also recognize the same ten windows.  So at some point it becomes difficult to telegraph flexibility past the interconnection point.  I believe that's part of the main reason why, in the U.S., you see very few instances where two pipelines interconnecting will actually have services making it flexible to bring gas into the system further on.  They’ll focus on their own system.

     And that's really the main sense behind it all.  But it's really more -- from my perspective, it's the fact that we actually bill based on a nominated volume, not on consumed volume.

     MS. CAMPBELL:  So, then, the question below that has to do with whether or not the difficulties -- and we

characterize them as operational; you didn't.  You quibbled with the characterization.  But with the difficulties that you’ve just outlined, you're saying those difficulties exist whether the pipelines are in or outside Ontario.

     MR. ISHERWOOD:  Yes, exactly –-

MS. CAMPBELL:  And it has absolutely no impact at all.

     MR. ISHERWOOD:  That’s correct.

MS. CAMPBELL:  All right.

MR. ISHERWOOD:  And what makes it unique here is Enbridge, Union and TCPL are all very close to each other, but if there’s power customer off of Portlands pipeline in the U.S., that's also two pipelines away – it’s Parkway on TCPL to Portlands and then into a second system – it’s further away but it’s the same issue.

     MS. CAMPBELL:  All right.  So the issue is not caught by the provincial and state line boundaries.

     MR. ISHERWOOD:  No.

     MS. CAMPBELL:  All right.  Thank you.

     Turning to page 4 -- question 4, rather, which is tab 2, page 19, and the lines that are cited are at 10 to 12.

     The short-notice services reviewed -- I'm sorry, I’m 

quoting exactly from the page:  

“All of these short-notice services are likely of limited practical value for exfranchise customers since most interconnecting U.S. pipelines restrict flow changes to the four NAESB standard nomination windows.”

And I know, from looking at the page previous, that of the ten pipelines reviewed, which are listed on page 16, that six had short-notice service and they were reviewed.

     Our question is, If you could offer an explanation of how the services provided by pipelines reviewed those six, I believe, are relevant to Ontario?

     MS. CAMPBELL:  I'll answer that question.

MS. CAMPBELL:  Certainly. 

MS. CAMERON:  When we looked at those six pipelines that you referred to, they focussed mostly on pipeline service that were directly connected or for end-use customers directly connected to their facilities.  Union Gas is facing a different situation because most of the power that we are trying to focus on will not be directly connected.  So we thought it was of limited value to look at some of the U.S. pipelines other than to gain experience from them and to see what service they had offered themselves.
     The services were flexible but only to the point that you were connected to their pipeline.  But they also offered a significant amount of restrictions, which was something that Union Gas tried to avoid.
     Mostly they refer to the same issues that Mr. Isherwood just referred to, the line of sight issues, the differences between actual and nominated, the fact that you can control, you have lots of information for -- with someone who is directly connected to your system and you don't have the same amount of information when you're not connected to them.  So it didn't offer us a lot of value at all.     

MS. CAMPBELL:  Okay.  Thank you.  Moving on to question 5, which is tab 2, page 21, lines 3 to 5, and it's Union's view -- and I'm reading: 

“It's Union's view that the current IESO scheduling process provides power customers advanced notice of the need to operate during most operating conditions.”

     And our first question is -- boiled down simply, is can that scheduling process also work for the gas system?   Is it Union's belief that it can?    

MR. SHORTS:  I'll take that one.  The short answer is not necessarily.  And I think the reasons why are a couple. First and foremost, we ultimately depends on what the customer tells us, the end-user of the generator, whether it be a nomination or an hourly flow notification of what they are going to be doing.  And why that's important is we also need, for example, the source of the gas, whether it's going to be coming from storage or whether it's going to be coming from an upstream supply.  

The other things to note are, for example, for a dual fuel customer, it might not be necessarily just enough notice for to us know that, say, Lennox is on.  We also need to know whether, obviously, it's running on gas or not.  

To expand a little bit more, I guess, what you will find is that our expectation is that the things that the IESO is doing in the day-ahead commitment process, those types of improvements will only help the customers themselves to be able to nominate more accurately.  And that should then have a cascading effect on Union to allow Union and other operators to actually improve their accuracy as well.     

MS. CAMPBELL:  The next question following out of that is whether or not Union incorporate it is IESO's information pre-dispatch schedule in the day ahead and other dispatch signals into their day-ahead nomination forecast.     

MR. SHORTS:  I go back to the first answer.  We look at that data but we ultimately expand on what a customer tells us either through the nomination or through the hourly profile change, as to where they’re going to operate and how they're going to operate.     

MS. CAMPBELL:  Does Union -- I guess the real question is:  Do you expect that the day-ahead market will also help peaking plants or just base load and intermediate?     

MR. SHORTS:  I think the day-ahead market, whether it be the commitment process or the day-ahead market will obviously increase the accuracy of the markets going forward, and I think it will give us more time and I think it will obviously lead to improvements in the way that the systems are set up and the way that the systems will ultimately be managed.     

MS. CAMPBELL:  So, in that answer, are you including peak generators that do not have dual fuel capabilities?     

MR. SHORTS:  Absolutely.  I mean, we do expect that the day-ahead market will send strong signals for all generators going forward.     

MS. CAMPBELL:  All right.  Thank you.
     Now, we're going move on to the infranchise power services.  That takes us into tab 3, page 6, and we're going to the footnote.  Some of us should have brought longer arms.  I'll have to speak to whoever did this. They're obviously young.
     The footnote reads, the part that I'd like to ask you about reads:  

“Infranchise customer's storage requirements are calculated using the aggregate excess methodology.”

     Skipping down to the last line. 

“A customer's storage requirement is the difference between their winter consumption and their average annual consumption over the 151 day winter period.”

     And the first question, really, goes the calculation, I guess.
     Is the winter consumption calculated as the average winter consumption over 151 days?     

MR. SHORTS:  I'll take that one again.     

MS. CAMPBELL:  Thank you.     

MR. SHORTS:  I think the easy way to look at it is, we take the average winter daily consumption, subtract the average annual consumption, and multiply that times 151 days.  So I believe the answer to your question is yes.     

MS. CAMPBELL:  Thank you.  

The next question has to do with how the aggregate excess will be determined for a new gas-fired power generator or large customer.     

MR. SHORTS:  We follow the same methodology that we do for any existing customer.  We look, in this case, though, we don't have actual data, obviously, to go from so we will use the low profile that's been provided to us by the generator to determine that, but we do follow the same methodology.     

MS. CAMPBELL:  Thank you.  Question 7.  And question 7 is tab 3, page 9, and it's lines 18 to 19.  And it has to do with U7.  And is there is an indication that a U7 customer can also contract for exfranchise hub services referenced to in the T1 service description.
     And the first question has to do with how many customers are currently taking service pursuant to rate U7. 

MS. PASSMORE:  We currently have no U7 customers.     

MS. CAMPBELL:  All right.  So that takes care of the second part of that question.
     The question under that: 

“Under U7, do customers have a daily tolerance 

between delivery and consumption where no balancing charges apply?”     

MS. PASSMORE:  And, yes, they do.  And there's two, actually, ranges within there.     

MS. CAMPBELL:  Mm-hmm.     

MS. PASSMORE:  And the first range is within our periods of the peak injection or withdrawal period, so that's most notably -- that is the ejection being the September 1 to November 30th time frame or the peak withdrawal period being considered to be February 1 to the April 30th time period.  And during those time periods customers can consume, or have the delta, the difference between what they deliver and consume up to the greater of 8 percent of what was nominated for that day, or 150 gJs, right.  That's the first range.
     Then the second range is happening, obviously, during our more off-peak time frames so those are the periods from December 1 to January 31.  And again, from May 1 to October 31.  And during those time frames the customer has up to the greater of 8 percent of what was nominated or 302 gJs before they would hit any balancing penalties.     

MS. CAMPBELL:  Thank you.     

I'm going to go back to 7, because I just had a question suggested to me.  Do you expect, going back to 7(a), do you expect to have any customers contract for hub services -- for U7, I apologize?     

MS. PASSMORE:  We have nothing currently in the forecast for 2007 that would suggest we have customers transitioning from T1 to U7.     

     MS. CAMPBELL:  Thank you. 

     Question 8, tab 3, page 10, lines 22 to 23, which states:

“Rates 20, 25, and 100 services operate separately from one another.  The main differences between Rate 20 and 100 are minimum volume and load factor requirements.”

And the question is, Does Union provide rates for intermediate and peaking gas-fired power generators located in Union's north system?

     MR. SHORTS:  Basically, the rates applicable in the north for an intermediate or peaking-type generation would be a rate 20, if they so choose a firm service, or rate 25, if they were looking for an interruptible service.  There is no load factor requirement in those rates, although there is a minimum volume or contracted demand level of 14,000 metres-cubed per day.

     MS. CAMPBELL:  And would that be the restriction to the rate?

     MR. SHORTS:  You have to contract for at least at least 14,000 metres-cubed per day of CD, or contracted demand, to be applicable for that rate, to be eligible for that rate.

     MS. CAMPBELL:  Thank you.

Question 9, tab 3, page 22, lines 7 to 9.  

“Union's proposing to replace the current two declining block commodity rate structures with a single commodity rate applicable to all volumes transported.” 

And the first question is, What's the rationale for the change?

     MR. KITCHEN:  The rationale for the change is provided at lines 11 to 14 on the same page.  And what we wanted to do was to align the commodity rate structure with the step block rate structure in the demand charge, where a customer would pay a specific rate for a specific level of CD, and they will now pay a single commodity charge as well.  

The other reason for doing it is that it partially offset the increases for small customers, because small customers within T1, under the old rate design, would pay a higher commodity rate than a larger customer, slightly higher.

     MS. CAMPBELL:  What costs are currently being recovered through the commodity charges?

     MR. KITCHEN:  The commodity charges primarily recover the cost of fuel, UFG, and other variable O&M-related costs.

     MS. DUGUAY:  What was the rationale for the existing two-tier commodity rate?  And when was that, if you do recall, approved by the OEB?

     MR. KITCHEN:  The existing structure was approved by the OEB in RP-2003-0063, which was our 2004 rate proceeding. 

The rationale is that when we did the initial redesign of T1, we were trying to remove some of the interclass subsidy and we took a global approach on the rate, adjusting -- putting a two-tiered demand block in place, declining block structure, and a two-tiered declining block structure in the commodity rate as well.  We looked at the rate design in total.

     MS. DUGUAY:  I see, thank you.

     MS. CAMPBELL:  Question 10, which is tab 3, page 26, and that deals with table 3, which is the firm transportation delivery rate impacts.

     The table provides the average delivery rate impact for customers within each of the new demand blocks relative to Union's 2007 proposed T1 rates, and there was a request for detailed calculations of the 2007 proposed rates, the T1 redesigned rates, and then a following question for the provision of a table depicting the allocated costs for distribution and transmission needs.

     Is this a question that you can answer today, or should we expect an answer in writing on these?

     MR. KITCHEN:  I think that before I -- I need some clarification on actually what you would like in the table.  I think that would be helpful.

     MS. CAMPBELL:  Sure.  Well, first of all, question A are calculations.

     MR. KITCHEN:  And we can give you a response; it’s probably best to do it written.  But none of Union's infranchise rates are cost-based or cost-related.  In other words, there are differences between the costs allocated and the recovery.  So it won't be a straight up, A divided by B gives you the answer, so I want to make you aware of that.  Because there are other factors that go into designing the rate, and we’ve highlighted those as being the rate relationships between other rate classes.  And also the fact that we wanted to maintain the same recovery in T1 as our 2007 proposed so that we didn't impact any other rate class.  

So we can try to put something together for you, but there may be some caveats around it, is all I'm saying.

     MS. CAMPBELL:  That's fine.

     MS. DUGUAY:  And if you could just give us an indication in your response of any assumption or any other principle you've taken into consideration to calculate those unit rates, that would be useful.

     MR. KITCHEN:  Yes.

     MS. DUGUAY:  Thank you.

     MS. CAMPBELL:  Now, concerning the table, you said you needed additional information?

     MR. KITCHEN:  Yes.  In the second part of the question, it says:

               "Please include the forecast revenues under

               the T1 redesign scenario from customers that

               use the transmission and/or distribution

               mains respectively."

When we designed the rate, we're not actually charging different rates to customers that are served off description versus customers served off transmission.  The rates are applicable to customers within blocks.

     So within a block, you may have both customers being served.  As you get to the higher blocks, the majority of the customers, the vast majority of the customers, are served off transmission, which is what drives the lower rates; but in the lower blocks, the majority of the customers are served off distribution, which drives the higher rate. 

So I'm just not sure what you're looking for in that second part.

     MS. DUGUAY:  Okay.  I understand your concern with regard to question B, and I understand that, as it is currently phrased, that it may not be as useful as anticipated.  

So having said that, let's move on to question C.  

     MS. SEBALJ:  Do I understand that we have an undertaking for question 10A?

     MS. DUGUAY:  I'm sorry?

     MS. SEBALJ:  I’m understanding that there was an undertaking for question 10A.  I just want to properly describe that for the record.

     MS. CAMPBELL:  Yes.  I believe that the witness indicated that they will be providing a detailed calculation in accordance with question 10A.  

UNDERTAKING NO. 1:  FOR UNION TO PROVIDE A DETAILED CALCULATION OF THE 2007 PROPOSED RATES AND T1 REDESIGN RATES, AS WELL AS ANY ASSUMPTIONS UNION MAKES IN PROVIDING THOSE CALCULATIONS

MS. CAMPBELL:  With regard to question 10B, perhaps what we can do is work on reframing the question and providing you with greater assistance but not taking the time to do so now because we're under time constraints.  So we'll get back to you.  We will undertake to get back to you on the framing of question 10B --

     MR. KITCHEN:  Thank you.

     MS. CAMPBELL:  -- and we'll move on.

     Now, moving on to question C, the question was: 

“Provide the overall bill impact associated with
the proposed changes to the T1 rate.”

     MR. KITCHEN:  My question back is, what do you mean by “overall bill impact”?  The bill impact that we provided is the delivery impact that -- the firm delivery rate impact for a customer that takes firm service.

     MS. DUGUAY:  So the percentages that were provided did include the effect on the total bill, meaning storage, transportation, and distribution; is that it?

     MR. KITCHEN:  No.  No.  The impacts that are provided are for the firm transportation only.  

MS. DUGUAY:  Right.

     MR. KITCHEN:  We didn't provide -– we didn’t include the storage impact for two reasons; one, we're not changing the storage rates that are applicable to T1 customers, and T1 customers have options in terms of whether or not Union will provide deliverability or Union will provide fuel, which would distort the impact that we would provide.

     MS. DUGUAY:  And the distribution was excluded as well; correct?

     MR. KITCHEN:  No.  This is the firm transportation, which I would say is distribution.  It's the same thing.

     MS. DUGUAY:  Okay.  I'm just using another term.  So for you, when you say "transportation," it's both distribution and transmission on the --

     MR. KITCHEN:  That’s right.  It's the full effect of all our changes to T1.

     MS. DUGUAY:  Okay, because the intent, here, of the question was to get a feel of the overall impact on the total bill rather than the impact on the transportation component of the rate.  Is that something that you could provide?

     MR. KITCHEN:  Again, I think we could probably undertake to provide something, but there would be several assumptions around it.  The other complicating 

factor is that, as I said, some customers have Union required fuel, which will have different impacts.  But we can try to provide something through an undertaking.     

MS. DUGUAY:  And if, in your assumption, you could consider what most customers do within that particular rate schedule, that would be useful.     

MR. KITCHEN:  Yes.     

MS. CAMPBELL:  All right, so what we have, then, is an undertaking to provide an answer to question C, which is the overall bill impact associated with proposed changes to the T1 rate, and you will provide any assumptions or anything else that's necessary to understand the answer.     

MR. KITCHEN:  Yes.

UNDERTAKING NO. 2:  FOR UNION TO provide the overall 
bill impact associated with proposed changes to the T1 
rate     

MS. CAMPBELL:  Moving on to question 11, tab 3, page 28, lines 13 to 15.  And I'm reading:

“Union has fully exhausted its rate-design options for creating lower rates for large customers such as power customers while adhering to the principles that postage-stamp rates and class rate-making.”   

And the question was: Did Union consider the creation of a new rate class for customers served directly off the transmission main?     

MR. KITCHEN:  This is one I can answer.     

MS. CAMPBELL:  Good.  Excellent.     

MR. KITCHEN:  We did consider it and we dismissed it. And the reason that we dismissed it is that it was our view that a customer should be able to look at the eligibility criteria within a rate schedule and know, based on their load characteristics, whether or not that rate applies. They shouldn't have to know how they are served by Union, in other words, whether they are served off distribution main or transmission main.
     The second reason is that, based on the GEC decision, it was our view that the Board reaffirmed its support of postage-stamp rates when they said that there is a 

postage-stamp rate solution for large customers.     

MS. CAMPBELL:  Thank you.
     Moving on to question 12.  Question 12 is tab 3, page30, line 10.  And it states that:

“For T1 or U7 customers Union's standard storage deliverability is 1.2 percent of the total amount of space contracted for, and is priced at cost.  However, at the customer's request, Union will conduct an analysis to determine what facilities or third-party services would be required to provide a higher level of deliverability.”

     And the first question under this part is: What amount of storage space does Union currently have that can provide 1.2 percent, 5 percent, and 10 percent deliverability?   

Mr. Isherwood.     

MR. ISHERWOOD:  I'll take that one.  Our storage pools, we have 20 pools in total that provide 163 pJs of space.     

MS. CAMPBELL:  Was that 20?     

MR. ISHERWOOD:  20 pools.  That's correct.  And a total of space of 163 petaJoules or pJs.  On average, those pools will deliver 1.2 percent deliverability.  We obviously have a wide range of pools.  Some are quite a bit below 1 percent deliverability and some are quite a bit higher than 1.2 percent.  But from the point of view of looking at customers' specific requests, we don't necessarily tie their requests to an individual pool.  From an operating point of view and from a marketing point of view, we actually look at space and deliverability quite differently.  Space comes naturally with the 1.2 percent on average.  So if a customer came to us looking for 5 or 10 percent, we wouldn't necessarily look to an individual pool to provide that.  We look at the total integrated system and find a way to create additional deliverability.  And that can be created by adding more wells to a pool, sometimes adding a bigger pipe connecting a pool back to Dawn, or the most obvious at times is simply adding compression to draw more gas out of the pool.  So we actually look at deliverability and space quite independently, from the point of view of -- both operation and from a marketing point of view.     

MS. CAMPBELL:  So what you're saying is out of the 20 pools you could provide the 1.2 percent, the 5 percent, and the 10 percent?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  Out of the 20 pools, you can provide the 1.2 percent.

MS. CAMPBELL:  Right, but the 5 and 10 percent?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  If a customer wanted 5 or 10 percent, depending on how large that customer was, we may have to go and actually construct new facilities, and that could be more wells or more compression.  

A good rule of thumb we've been using, I think, Enbridge, just beyond Union, is for every 1,000 megawatts, we've been sort of assuming about a Bcf of space.  But to the extent you need a 10 percent deliverability, you need to have 100,000 gJs per day of deliverability, compared to 1.2 percent, which is only 12,000, so it's quite a change in deliverability.  And if you had 2,000 megawatts which is sort of the number people use in terms of scoping the size of the market, that really equates to 200,000 gJs of deliverability compared to 24,000.  Certainly, that order of magnitude, we would have to be building.  We would not have that available.     

MS. CAMPBELL:  The next question.  What's the potential amount of storage space that Union could develop to provide 1.2, 5 percent, and 10 percent deliverability?     

MR. ISHERWOOD:  Some of our capabilities and costing and contracts are somewhat sensitive, given we're speaking to a roomful of competitors, so we have to be a little conscious of that.
     Again, going become to the rule of thumb, if we're assuming it's 2,000 megawatts requiring two Bcf, and 200,000 gJs of deliverability, we certainly have that capability to build and beyond that.     

MS. CAMPBELL:  And one of the questions was:  Would you need to construct new facilities?     

MR. ISHERWOOD:  Yes.     

MS. CAMPBELL:  Additional facilities, and the answer is yes.     

MR. ISHERWOOD:  For that order of magnitude, we would for sure.     

MS. CAMPBELL:  Thank you.  And the next question relates to the costs of developing that storage capability the 1.2 percent, the 5 and the 10 percent.  Can you give us an estimate of the costs involved?     

MR. ISHERWOOD:  Again, I'm speaking to a roomful of competitors and so I'm a little sensitive to that.  What we did do back in the summer and in the fall, working with Board Staff's consultant, we did provide confidentially our cost information, and that information was amalgamated into a broader-based report, so no one person could find out whose costs was what.  But that does show up on an amalgamated basis in the Union report from the fall.     

MS. CAMPBELL:  A related question to that, and maybe Mr. Leslie wishes to deal with this.  In our review of the evidence that was filed, we don't believe that Union has complied fully with the notice of proceeding, specifically, the request that -- or rather the order that rates for a firm high deliverability service from storage is to reflect three scenarios:  Current pricing, storage priced at cost, and storage priced at market prices.
     Is it Union's intention to file all of those rates?     

MR. LESLIE:  I'll let Mr. Isherwood deal with that.     

MR. ISHERWOOD:  Thanks, Glen.     

MS. CAMPBELL:  That's why you pay him.     

MR. LESLIE:  I think perhaps there was a difference in understanding of that question.  Because my note is that the information requested is in the rate schedule.  And three scenarios, I think, we were positing 1.25 to 10.  

You've given us a different understanding.  Is that correct, Mark?     

MR. ISHERWOOD:  Actually, Mr. Kitchen can address the cost-of-service component, and I can address the market-based component.     

MR. KITCHEN:  The cost-based rates for providing 1.2 percent, 5 percent, and 10 percent deliverability would be in terms of dollars per gJ of space would be 31 cents per gJ, approximately 83 cents per gJ for 5 percent, and $1.51 for 10 percent per gJ of space.
     And those rates reflect our 2007 proposed rates. 

MR. THOMPSON:  What was the last one?  Sorry.      

MR. KITCHEN:  $1.51.  Those reflect our 2007 proposed cost-of-service rates.     

MR. ISHERWOOD:  And in terms of the market-based rates, C1 rate schedule actually has a range rate for both space and deliverability.  The current range is between 0 and 3 dollars for both space and for deliverability.  There was a change proposed in the ‘07 rate case but that's sort of the current number.
     The difficulty with market-based rates is that this is really set by the -- really, based on the NYMEX price, which is changing throughout any business day constantly.  And the price is really quite often calculated based on summer/winter differential, i.e., what is the price in the summer versus what is the price in the winter.  And then various marketers and end-users will value it first on that, then they will add a price premium in terms of what its value is to them.  

So it's really difficult to establish a market price.  And any market price you would give would be valid for a very short period of time.

     MS. CAMPBELL:  All right.  Moving on to the next question and getting away from rates, what are the time lines for developing the storage, the 1.2 percent, the 5 percent, and the 10 percent?

     MR. ISHERWOOD:  In terms of the actual 1.2 percent, that would come with the storage that we would use to serve the power customer.  That would be already naturally there, so we wouldn't need to incur any development to provide the 1.2 percent to the infranchise power customer.  

To the extent we needed to go to a 5 or 10 percent service to serve the power customer, and we needed to add compression or more pipe or more wells, we typically look at 24 to 30 months to do that.  That’s in line with what we do in our Dawn/Parkway expansion.  It’s typically 24 to 30 months’ advance time, from the time you start with open season to the time it actually starts to flow.

     MS. CAMPBELL:  Thank you.  The next question is, would higher deliverability be on a firm or a best-efforts basis?

     MR. ISHERWOOD:  It could be either, depending on what the customer required.  If they wanted firm, that would probably, as I mentioned earlier, mean we would need to build to provide it.

     Interruptible or best efforts, we typically won't build to serve an interruptible load.  We just use the existing system to do that.

     MS. CAMPBELL:  What's Union's process for allocating space if demand for the service exceeds the availability?

     MR. ISHERWOOD:  Union first allocates space to infranchise customers at the 1.2 percent, and to the extent that we had space remaining and there's still market demand above that, we would then go to an open season, to our exfranchise customers or to infranchise customers wanting quantities above what they were allocated.  And that would all be at market-based rates.  So it would be allocated based on the market rate.

     MS. CAMPBELL:  The next question is, which third-party storage providers currently offer high deliverability storage?

     MR. ISHERWOOD:  We’ve not actually researched that, but our understanding is that, or our thought would be that it would be quite common or would be available through Michigan storage providers.  And in the Enbridge evidence as well, I believe they're looking at developing that kind of service as well.  So there are definitely multiple parties in the Dawn market area that would be able to do that.

     MS. CAMPBELL:  Thank you.  The next question:  Have T1 customers contracted with third-party storage providers to obtain high deliverability storage?

     MR. ISHERWOOD:  We're not actually a party to those contracts, so we would never know if they have or haven't. 

When it shows up at Dawn, it would show up as a nomination or as a gas flow coming into Dawn, either on Vector, on Great Lakes or on Panhandle.  So we wouldn't really be party to it or know it; we would just see it coming in as supply.

     MS. CAMPBELL:  Okay.  So you're not capable of answering the question of how many?

     MR. ISHERWOOD:  We would have no idea.  It gets back to my earlier discussion around being one or two pipelines away.  Obviously, it’s a nomination in gas flow; how it got there, we don’t really know.

     MS. CAMPBELL:  All right.  So you couldn't answer the question about what their deliverability requirements were either?

     MR. ISHERWOOD:  That's correct.

     MS. CAMPBELL:  Thank you.  And the final question under this sequence:  Do you know if other infranchise customers contracted to third-party storage providers to obtain higher deliverability storage?

     MR. ISHERWOOD:  It would be the same issue we have with the T1s.  We wouldn't be able to see behind the nomination.

     MS. CAMPBELL:  All right.  And so you wouldn't be able to tell us the deliverability requirements or the number.

     MR. ISHERWOOD:  Correct.


MS. CAMPBELL:  Thank you.

     MS. SEBALJ:  Ms. Campbell, is this a good time for the mid-morning break?  I realize we started late, but it is 11:00 and -–

MS. CAMPBELL:  I’m sure everyone needs caffeine to wake up.  Thank you.

MS. SEBALJ:  Can I suggest that we try and reconvene for about 11:15, and then have a slightly later lunch, say, 1 o'clock?  Thanks.

--- Recess taken at 11:03 a.m.

--- On resuming at 11:22 a.m.     

MS. SEBALJ:  If I could just ask everyone to take their seats, please, or to leave if you want to stay on the phone or chit-chat.
     Just a couple of clarifying issues.  First, I've been asked to make clear that this proceeding is going to be part of the record.  So we do have a full transcript, and this will be part of the record of proceeding.
     Secondly, I've been asked to tell everyone who is speaking to speak a little bit more slowly, and that probably includes me, to speak a little more slowly and a little more clearly.
     And thirdly, I wanted to make sure that we start keeping track of undertakings, because we'll probably have a lot of them here and tomorrow.     

And so, to my knowledge, we have two undertakings that are related to questions 10(a) and 10(c) from the Board hearing team.  

Undertaking No. 1 being, that Union will provide the detailed calculations of the 2007 proposed rates and the T1 redesign rates as well as any assumptions that they make in providing those calculations.
     And Union Undertaking No. 2 being that it will provide the overall bill impact associated with the proposed changes to the T1 rate.     

And we will keep track because obviously on May 18th and 19th, we will have a number of other parties.   We will keep track of undertakings and exhibits on a party basis.   So it's Union Undertaking No. 1 and Union Undertaking No. 2.   That's all.  

Ms. Campbell.     

MS. CAMPBELL:  During the break there was some discussion on the hearing team concerning the answers I think you gave, Mr. Kitchen, Mr. Isherwood, when you talked about cost of space.
     Did those numbers include deliverability?     

MR. KITCHEN:  Yes.  They would have included deliverability.  They included space charges deliverability charge, and a commodity charge for one cycle of the space and they assume that the customer would provide their own fuel and deliverability inventory.     

MS. CAMPBELL:  Thank you.  So, carrying on with the questions, we're now at question 13.  13 and 14 are actually the same question, but for four different services.
     Dealing first of all with -- sorry, five.     

Dealing first, question 13 deals with T1, R20, R100, or R25, and the reference is tab 3, page 30, lines 23-24, and page 31, lines 1-2.
     I'm specifically looking at the bottom of page 30.  

“In the event that a T1, R20, R100, or R25 customer’s consumption is unexpectedly reduced within the gas day, the gas may be injected into storage, the customer may request authorization to redirect gas to a hub account or they may suspend gas receipts by Union in order to sell to a third party.”

     And the question that arises from that is whether there are circumstances or there’s any time of year in which Union does not allow or limits the exercise of those options?     

MS. PASSMORE:  Okay.  I'm going to take this question.     

MS. CAMPBELL:  Thank you.     

MS. PASSMORE:  And just as a preamble, two points, is that there is no time period of the year where Union doesn't allow service.  There's no pre-set blackout periods or anything such as that.
     So that's one important distinction.
     The second distinction is that a firm service is never interrupted, right.  So to the extent that any of these services have been contracted on a firm basis, they would not be interrupted at all.
     Then when we do move into the third part of it, is that any time, if these were contracted as interruptible services, when they would be most apt to be impacted would be during the time periods of our peak injections, or again during our time periods of our peak withdrawals.
     What's important, as you go through the different services, is that if -- at no time would all three of the options likely be limited in their availability, right. It's not Union not allowing this service.  It would be a time period where there would be a request for the service or demand for the service that would exceed Union's capability to offer it.
     Now, I'm going to try to take it through the rest of this verbally, and if it gets too convoluted then I'd be prepared to provide a table.
     So let's look at the T1 service, and if we're talking about, you know, injecting gas into storage, all right.     So, very importantly, up to their firm injection capability, they would never be interrupted.  Okay.  But during the period of September 1 to November 30th, there could be periods where Union Gas would be limiting the amount of overrun, right.  So we would not be allowing authorized overrun.  We wouldn't have the capability for customers to want to inject more into storage than what they had contracted for.
     During that same time period, if a customer had requested an authorization to redirect to a hub, so if that was a period of tight time constraints, Union would very likely give them the authorization to not deliver the gas, but again, there might be interruptions in the amount of injections into hub, into hub services.     

At the same point in time, if the customer asked if they could suspend receipts to sell to a third party during that period of heavy injections, it would be highly unlikely there would be any impact.  All right.  So even though there's a possibility that we wouldn't be allowing overrun during a peak injection period of storage injections, it's highly unlikely that the customer wouldn't be allowed to suspend their deliveries.
     Conversely, if we move to the peak withdrawal period, all right, so again, we'll talk about that February 1 to April 30th.  For gas injections into storage, highly unlikely that we would, obviously, interrupt -- first of all, your firm injection capability would never be interrupted.  And then overrun would very likely be authorized.  Right.  This is our heavy withdrawal period.
     An authorization to redirect to a hub.  Again, the injections into a hub, it would be highly unlikely that there would be impact on the injections into the hub part. But for a customer with an obligated DCQ, these are the time periods that if the weather approached or if we were approaching a peak day, that we would possibly be in a position that we needed that gas at the obligated receipt point and the customer would not be able to suspend.
     All right.  So there's different things.  And for each one of these, it's important -- the second part of the question talked about instances and duration.  And you have to realize as we go through this, all of this is impacted by weather.  It's all impacted by market prices for gas.  It's impacted by the level of demand for the services that the customers are asking for on any specific day.
     So that's the T1 scenario.
     Under the rate 20 and the rate 100 and rate 25, and they all act similarly, if you go to the peak injection time frame, gas being injected into storage, in this instance, in their CBS account, there would very likely be any impact in to that.  We haven't done any current history of impacting injections in the CBS account.
     Requests for an authorization to redirect to a hub.   Again, the part of it ability injecting into the hub service, if it's a tight time period, a tight period of constraint, that part of it possibly could be limited.  But a rate 20 or rate 100, or rate 25 customer at any point in time can redirect their gas.  The gas does not have to arrive.  They do not have an obligated DCQ, so that portion of it would never be limited.
     Going back to the gas injected into storage, into their storage service, under their CBS account, during that February 1 to April 30th period, so, again, that's our heavy withdrawal period, highly unlikely we ever, right.  And we haven't interrupted directions into CBS in the past several years.
     The authorization to redirect into a hub.  These customers have no obligation to deliver their gas, so that part of it wouldn't be impacted.  And then the fact that we're in our heavy withdrawal period, it's highly unlikely that we would ever need to limit the injections into hub accounts.
     And then again, these customers can suspend their receipts to stall a third party at any point in time.     Do you want me to go on to question 14, since that was...     

MS. CAMPBELL:  14 deals with U7, but it's exactly the same question.  So you can deal with that right now.  That would be great, thank you.     

MS. PASSMORE:  That makes sense, thanks.  Gas injected into storage, the U7 customers have firm injections, if they have chosen to take the storage with the firm injection rights, they would never be interrupted on their injections into storage.  


Again, if it's a heavy injection time period and they wanted to use more service than they had contracted for, so, i.e., go into overrun, it could be there would possibly be limitations on overrun, redirecting to a hub.  


Again, injections can be interrupted if it's during our heavy peak period.  But for an unbundled customer, both the question about not delivering or the –- excuse me, the requests for the authorization for the gas to not arrive on the system, the only customers that could possibly be impacted by this would be unbundled customers that would have a Parkway obligation that would be eligible to the Parkway call-back, which is part of this service, where a customer could be called back to Parkway up to 22 times during the year.  And that would be based on Union's needs to meet peak demand.  But at all other points in time, the customer's free to deliver the gas or not deliver, since they have the obligation to ensure that their receipts equal their consumption.

     MS. CAMPBELL:  All right.  Thank you.  15 is appendix A, page 5, lines 19 to 28, but the specific reference that we're after in this question is in paragraph 3, in which it is stated:

               "Unless otherwise authorized by Union,

               customers who are delivering gas to Union

               under direct purchase arrangements must

               obligate to deliver at a point or points

               specified by Union and must acquire and

               maintain firm transportation on all

               upstream pipeline systems."

And this has to do with the requirement to deliver gas to specified delivery points.  The first question is, How are these delivery points determined, and by whom?

     MR. SHORTS:  Just to clarify, when we talk about delivery points, we're really speaking about the gas that the customer is delivering to Union and not Union redelivering to the customer.

     MS. CAMPBELL:  Thank you.

     MR. SHORTS:  So just to be clear, because sometimes we get them mixed up between delivery and receipt points.

     MS. CAMPBELL:  Thank you.

     MR. SHORTS:  The delivery point in this case is determined by Union through discussions with the customer.  It's essentially driven by where the end-use or consumption location is, whether it's east, west, wherever on Union's system it's located.

     MS. CAMPBELL:  All right.  And the question following that, then, is, under what circumstances would Union authorize different delivery points?

     MR. SHORTS:  Union may authorize a different short-term delivery point change, if the customer asked for it in advance and if there was no negative impact on Union's system.  These authorizations tend to be interruptible and short term in nature, so it's something that we do quite often.

     MS. CAMPBELL:  So it's customer-initiated?

     MR. SHORTS:  Yes.

     MS. CAMPBELL:  And there aren't any other circumstances that would arise, so it wouldn't be Union, you're suggesting, it would only be the customer?

     MR. SHORTS:  Not through a contract change.  If the customer had basically set –- if the contracted delivery point was Parkway, then it would be the customer who would request something different than that.

     MS. CAMPBELL:  Thank you.  And the next question is whether or not it's Union's intention to eliminate obligated deliveries at Parkway once the Dawn-Trafalgar expansion program is completed.  

MR. ISHERWOOD:  I’ll take that question.

MS. CAMPBELL:  Thank you.

     MR. ISHERWOOD:  We have no intention at this point in time of building on the Dawn-Parkway system to eliminate the obligated deliveries at Parkway.

     MS. CAMPBELL:  Thank you.  Question 63, tab 3, page 36, lines 13 to 16.

“Given the market for natural gas and the operational and contractual issues associated

with underground title transfer, plus the existence of a number of proven reliable tools to manage supply and demand balances, Union does not believe that underground title transfers are appropriate or required.”

     And the question is, When the title transfers in storage are between customers with similar deliverability levels, so 1.2 and 1.2, and the customers are not seeking to use injection or withdrawal rights, is the title transfer an administrative matter only?

     MS. PASSMORE:  Okay.  First of all, a customer cannot request a title transfer without, in essence, using his withdrawal and the other customer using their injection rights.  There are only three parameters of a contract for storage, which is space, injection, and withdrawal.

     So, when the customer requests a title transfer from their account or a reduction in their account in the amount of gas in their account, they are requesting a withdrawal.  And a withdrawal will be done in our care system to make it happen.  If it is the customer that has bought the gas, for all intents and purposes, who is asking for the storage account to increase, the only way that that increases is with an injection.

      The fact -- to say that it is administrative, I would suggest that the authorization for a title transfer is no more an administrative matter than is a nomination for M12 capacity, right, a nomination for gas to move from Dawn to Parkway.  Because, in those instances, Union will make it happen.  The customer gets the benefit.  The customer requests the service, the customer has contracted for the service, and the customer gets the benefit of the service.  But at no point in time has Union had to prove that they moved that molecule from Dawn to Parkway.

In Union, we've had this discussion several times before, and we've talked about it with both the M12 - and this is the concept of notional versus contractual services - we've talked about it with the Board, with M12 before, more recently just last year with both the M13 decision and the M16 decision, was that the notional or the contractual movement of the gas is the appropriate way to drive the rates.

     MS. CAMPBELL:  Thank you.  Moving on to exfranchise power services, which is question 16, and we're in tab 4, at page 1, lines 8 to 19, and a synopsis of that is basically that Union states that the Dawn-Parkway capacity is fully subscribed, and that all capacity for 2006 and 2007 open season has been allocated.  It also states that although no power customers contracted for capacity in 2006, there are two power customers who have contracted for capacity in 2007.

     And the questions we have arising out of that are a request that you provide Union's estimated additional future capacity requirements for new gas-fired generators expected to be built in Ontario over the next several years.  

Mr. Isherwood?

     MR. ISHERWOOD:  When we filed our expansion facilities for the 2006 expansion, which we're actually building today, as part of that decision, the Board had requested that the next time we come forward with an application, we provide an estimate of where we think our expansions would be on Dawn-Parkway in terms of volumes and timing.  

So, as part of the current filing before the Board for our 2007 facility expansion, Dawn to Parkway - the filing number is EB-2005-0550 - it was in section 3, pages 10 and 11 -- sorry, 10 of 11, paragraph 36, we provided actually a summary of the impact of the power market.

And just to give it here, the little table in the evidence there - and this was filed back on December 20th of 2005, so it's a few months back - we're estimating approximately 200,000 gJs per day of Dawn-Parkway capacity required in 2008 to serve, as the OPA would describe it, the GTA west RFP process; and we had forecast 220,000 gJs per day required in 2009 to serve both partially the co-gen load and the downtown GTA load.  The market – the electric market has changed slightly since then, but those were our estimates back in December.

     MS. CAMPBELL:  Will you be updating that filing when the markets change, or do you expect that the change in the market will be impacted that much based on what was filed in December?

     MR. ISHERWOOD:  I think the conclusion we had in evidence was that we would be expanding in 2008 and 2009, partly driven by Ontario power, and that part has not changed.  The actual numbers in which projects are driving it may change, but the total volumes aren't that much different.

     MS. CAMPBELL:  Okay.  Thank you.  The next question following that was whether Union plans another open season to provide service to future power customers who may need to contract on the Dawn to Parkway system.  

Mr. Isherwood?

     MR. ISHERWOOD:  Absolutely.  We would align that process with the OPA, the Ontario Power Authority.  And our expectation today would be, we're doing an ‘08, 2008 open season probably in Q2 or Q3 of this year, probably May/June time frame, would be my best guess.

     MS. CAMPBELL:  Thank you.  Question 18, tab 4, page 4, lines 9-12.   

“Under the existing C1 rate schedule, Union has also provided storage services to meet the shipper's needs that have parameters that are different than the common form of storage service.  For example, Union may provide a storage service that is firm year-round, or a service that does not have ratchets.”

     The first question, How many customers have storage contracts that deviate from the standard of C1 storage contracts?     

MR. ISHERWOOD:  We have a total of four contracts with three parties that would total five pJs, and that five pJs, to put it in perspective, is our total exfranchise long-term storage market is about 71.5 pJs, so 5 pJs of the 71.5 would be different than the standard discussed in evidence.     

MS. CAMPBELL:  Thank you.  How much storage is available year-round?     

MR. ISHERWOOD:  The total amount of storage space available year-round on the Union system is 163 pJs, of which 71.5 approximately is for exfranchise market and the rest is used for the infranchise market.     

MS. CAMPBELL:  Okay.  Thank you.  How much unratchetted storage is available?       

MR. ISHERWOOD:  The contracts I described in Part A are unratchetted, so that would be the 5 pJs across four contracts.     

MS. CAMPBELL:  Thank you.  What is Union's access policy if the demand for such services exceed their availability?     

MR. ISHERWOOD:  For access for that type of service would typically done through an open-season process, and to the extent that the market exceeded our capability, we would certainly look at whether the market would support a build.     

MS. CAMPBELL:  Thank you.  Question 19, which is tab 4 -- sorry.     

MS. DUGUAY:  If you were to have a competing bid within your open season, let's say that you've got, just as a simplified example, a hundred units available, and shippers request 120 units, how will you go about, for the exceeding -- or the 20 units that is in excess of what is currently available?  How will you apportion that?     

MR. ISHERWOOD:  So there are 120 units that were bid and 100 units available; is that correct?     

MS. DUGUAY:  No, it's the contrary.  You've got 100 units that is currently available.     

MR. ISHERWOOD:  Right.     

MS. DUGUAY:  And your bids total 120 units, meaning that your demand is in excess of your available services. How will you go about that?     

MR. ISHERWOOD:  We would allocate the capacity to the highest bidders that would form the first hundred units, and would not award any capacity to the bidders that bid the lowest-valued bids.     

MS. DUGUAY:  I see.     

MS. CAMPBELL:  Okay.  Question 19.  Tab 4, page 4, lines 14-20.  

“Union currently has the ability under the C1 rate schedules to provide higher levels of deliverability,” the 5 to 10 percent that we've talked about already.
     “Although today few customers have expressed a need or are prepared to contract for high deliverability storage, if the interest materializes, it's likely that Union would need to construct additional facilities to provide this service.”


And the question arising out of this is, Would these customers use different facilities than T1 or U7 customers?

     MR. ISHERWOOD:  The customers would use the same facilities.  C1 is an integrated operation at Dawn.  So the answers for 19 are essentially the same as the answers for question 12.     

MS. CAMPBELL:  Thank you.  Question 20 at tab 4, page 4, lines 21 to 22, the statement:

“To the extent additional facilities are 

required, the contract term and price will need to be sufficient to support the economic construction of the new facilities.”     

And the question is, What does Union deem to be a contract term and price sufficient to support the new facilities?     

MR. ISHERWOOD:  This question essentially relates, I think, to deliverability.  Just as a bit of a backdrop for the Dawn-Parkway expansions, our minimum term we've accepted is ten years.  So that's sort of the point of reference.
     Deliverability is typically using the same type of assets, it's compressors, it's wells, and pipe.     

So I think initially our position would be, we would expect a ten year term.  But again, because of it being a market-based rate, if a party wanted a shorter term and was willing and able to pay a higher unit rate, then we would certainly consider that.  But I think a normal position would be ten years.     

MS. CAMPBELL:  Thank you.
     Question 21, tab 4, page 5, lines 5 to 6:     

“Union has sold exfranchise storage at 

market-based rates since approval was granted by the OEB in the EBRO 456 proceeding in late 1989.”

     The request is to provide the annual average unitized market-based rate received by Union, on the total amount of space sold under market-based rates from each year from 2000 to 2005.  

Mr. Isherwood.     


MR. ISHERWOOD:  Union just filed, actually, yesterday a bunch of IRs related to our 2007 rate case.  And there's two IRs that were in that filing yesterday that I think answer the question fully in table form.  So I would point back to J5.02D, part D.  And also J1.27.     

MS. CAMPBELL:  Question 22, tab 4, page 5, lines 11 to 12.  It discuss it is four new services and it's it states: 

“Given the unique nature of the proposed four new services, Union will offer each of them on a pilot basis.”

     And the question is, basically, on what circumstances would occur -- sorry.  “Under what circumstances would Union decide to withdraw these services?”     

MS. CAMERON:  It is not Union's intent to withdraw this service unless parties have not contracted for them.  As long as they are being contracted for and utilized, we will continue to offer this service.
     Union is aware that there is a variety of different activities going on in the electricity market, the 

day-ahead market, the day ahead commitment process.  It may change how people use these services or their need for these service. Union Gas would like the opportunity and feel that customers would benefit from that opportunity as well of having a re-look at that service after a period of time to see if we can change how they're offered or improve them.

MS. CAMPBELL:  Thank you.  Question 23, tab 4, page 7, lines 3 to 4.     

“The F24-S can be added on to the existing C1 

storage service.”  

And the question is, Could the F24-S be made available to U7 customers?     

MS. PASSMORE:  I'll take that one.  As I'd mentioned earlier, we currently have no U7 customers, so this isn't a request we've had.  We've had no customer request for this.
     So for that intents and purposes, we hadn't contemplated that, and yet I don't believe that that precludes it.
     It would essentially be that for both the F24-S and the F24-T services what those services are really doing is taking firm contracted parameters and making them firm throughout the day on all ten NAESB windows.  So we would recognize that, and they would be used in the same assets that the exfranchise customers would be competing for.
     So, where Mark has said earlier that for the F24-T we would believe that we could offer 500,000 gJs a day to the marketplace.  If a U7 customer is interested in an F24-T type service to their plant, they would be competing for that same limited capacity.
     So the answer is that we hadn't contemplated it but we haven't precluded it.     

MS. CAMPBELL:  Would you be in a position at this time to answer at any rest of the question, which is estimated costs and time lines for implementation.     

MS. PASSMORE:  I don't believe there would be any additional costs other than what has been put in the evidence now for F24-T and F24-S.     

MS. CAMPBELL:  Thank you.  And that applies also to time lines for implementation?     

MS. PASSMORE:  That's correct.     

     MS. CAMPBELL:  Thank you.  Question 24, this is tab 4, page fine, lines 6 to 8 at the meeting that Union held in August 2005, power customers asked Union:



“to develop a service that provided for more 


nomination windows and the ability to reserve 


firm transportation capacity all day.” 

And the question is, Have generators expressed general agreement with
the proposed new nomination windows?”

     MS. CAMERON:  Generators have generally been very supportive of the additional nomination windows that Union Gas has proposed.  To the extent that there were suggestions, there was no consensus on any individual change to be made.  Union Gas would consider adding a nomination window if there was consensus.

     MS. CAMPBELL:  Thank you.  Question 25, tab 4, page 12, lines 12 to 14:  

“Union is uncertain at this time how willing marketers, upstream and downstream pipelines, and storage operators will be able to accommodate these additional nomination windows.”  

And the first question is, Is Union currently consulting with these industry participants?” 

Mr. Isherwood?

     MR. ISHERWOOD:  In tab 2, pages 28 to 30, we went through some discussion around the power meetings that we have held, including the one in August, November, and then jointly with Enbridge and TCPL in January.  In addition to that, I've mentioned earlier the dozens and dozens of one-on-one meetings with the full range of participants, from 

gas marketers and producers to power customers, industry associations.  So we have done extensive consultations, and continue to do that.

     MS. CAMPBELL:  The next question is, Why is it necessary that all industry participants provide additional nomination windows in order for Union to provide the service?

     MR. ISHERWOOD:  I think our position in the evidence is, not that there necessarily has to be all participants.  It's really from the point of view that the more that can participate, the better.  So, in terms of the first level, the base level, you need the line of sight all the way from Dawn to the power customer's plant in Toronto, you need to ensure that Union, TCPL and Enbridge have a clear path in terms of, in this case, ten nomination windows.  So as long as TCPL and Enbridge can recognize the ten windows and the clear line of path right to the plant, in terms of that aspect of the service.  

You layer on top of that, back at Dawn, then, for example, the flexibility that all power customers need.  It would be very helpful, for example, if other storage providers in the Dawn area - whether it be Michigan or Tecumseh on the Enbridge system - would provide the same ten windows out of storage, would be helpful, and it would give power customers options.

     As well, upstream pipelines, whether it be Panhandle or Vector or TransCanada through Great Lakes, it would be helpful there as well if those participants offered the same ten windows.

     And then the final layer, which I think is equally important, is the marketers and producers.  To the extent that they are also willing to participate in the ten windows, it gives generators more and more options and flexibility.

     So I guess the answer to the question is, it's not mandatory that it’s all industry participants.  You definitely need that line of sight between Dawn and the end-use location.  And then beyond that, the more the better.

     MS. CAMPBELL:  And just dropping down to line 16 that's underneath that, some questions that arose out of that that are not printed here, but it struck me that I'd like to ask them anyway.  It says: 

“If industry participants are unwilling to offer the same ten nomination windows, Union can certainly operate with a lesser number of windows.” 

What's the lesser number of windows that you're referring to there?  Anything under ten?

     MR. ISHERWOOD:  Exactly.  So, you know, four is the industry standard, and that’s the lowest common denominator.  We're hoping that we can go somewhere between four and ten.

MS. CAMPBELL:  And then the next sentence makes reference to: 

“Union is also open to adding additional windows, subject to consensus among industry participants.” 

Are those in addition to the ten nominations or different from the ten?

     MR. ISHERWOOD:  That's going back to Carol Cameron's response in terms of, if there was consensus, if the industry came back and said, The ten windows are great, but we also think we need one more at this spot -- the difficulty we've had is we've had two or three suggestions in terms of nomination windows.  It's just they are sort of one customer or one idea, and we've not seen, really, a consensus or view develop across any one new window.

     MS. CAMPBELL:  Thank you.  Question 26, tab 4, page 14, lines 10 to 14.  

“Union proposes to initially offer F24-T to those M12 transportation shippers in the 2007 open season.” 

And skipping down: 

“If there is remaining capacity available, Union will hold an open season to determine if any other existing shippers are interested in this new service.”

      And the first question is, Would existing M12 transportation shippers that have not participated in the 2007 season be eligible for the new service?

     MS. CAMERON:  In the second sentence you just read, “if there is remaining capacity available, Union will hold an open season to determine if any other existing shippers...” that would include all M12 shippers, so we would go to all M12 shippers and ask if they were interested in that service.  So all shippers would have an opportunity after the 2007 shippers.

     MS. CAMPBELL:  Thank you.  The next question is, If there is remaining capacity available, what would be the timing of the open season?

     MS. CAMERON:  It would be immediately after the first

one.

     MS. CAMPBELL:  And the final question, Would the F24-T be made available to the U7 customers, the mythical U7 customers? 

MS. PASSMORE:  And, as I believe I inferred in number 23, yes, it would.  We hadn't thought about it at this point in time because we've had no requests for it, with the mythical U7 customers, but we certainly would contemplate it.  And the time lines would be the same.

     MS. CAMPBELL:  Thank you.  Questions 27, 30, and 32 are all the same, so we can possibly get those answered all

at once, and they relate to -- 27 relates to UPBS, 30 relates to DPBS, and 32 relates to F24-S.  There's a typo in that question.  It should be F24-S.  And so it's the same question for those three, which is, they're proposing to provide, or you are proposing to provide them, all those rates, under Union's C1 rate schedule at market-based rates.  And the question for each of them:  Why are those services deemed to be competitive services and subject to market-based rates?  

Mr. Isherwood?

     MR. ISHERWOOD:  And I'll answer all three questions with the same answer.

     In the case of all three services, what's being used to provide the service is deliverability and storage space at Dawn, and it's space and deliverability that we're currently using today to serve the exfranchise market under the C1 rate schedule.  So from that perspective, a proposal that all three rates would be market-based.

     MS. CAMPBELL:  So did you conduct an analysis or not?

     MR. ISHERWOOD:  Sorry, we did not do the analysis in terms of specific rates.  What we have done earlier in the NGF proceeding is file evidence in terms of the competitive nature of the Dawn storage market, and we're presently preparing an update to that evidence to be filed as part of the second phase of this hearing in terms of the competitiveness of storage at Dawn.

     MS. CAMPBELL:  Thank you.  And the second part of that question, question B to that, is, is Union aware of other regulated monopoly transmission service providers offering such a service under market-based rates?

     MR. ISHERWOOD:  I think part of that will be covered by the competitive study in terms of what is competitive at Dawn, but we have not done the specific analysis regarding these services.

     MS. CAMPBELL:  All right.  Moving on to question 28, tab 4, page 24, lines 6 to 9.  And this is, obviously, a hypothetical.  

“If the Board found that the immediate offering of this service, the UPBS, was in the public interest, Union would include the total cost associated with developing this new service in the M12 transportation toll.”

     And the first question is, Under this alternative, would the service be provided at cost- or market-based rates?

     MR. KITCHEN:  If the Board found that there was need to have these services developed more quickly, then we would build them into the rate, if that's what they found.

     The service itself for the UPBS or F24-S or DPBS would be priced at market because, as Mr. Isherwood indicated, the underlying assets are market-based assets.

     MS. CAMPBELL:  And the second question under that is, Would all M12 shippers pay for that if they're not using it, or would this be a separate charge under the M12 schedule?

MR. KITCHEN:  Well, that would depend to a large extent, on the Board's decision.  But if we built it into the M12 transportation rate, then all shippers would pay, the belief being that it is the M12 shipper that is able to take up the other services.     

MS. CAMPBELL:  Thank you.  Questions 29, 31, and 33 are all the same.  And they deal with the UPBS, DPBS, and F24-S. And it's all the same question.  I assume one person will answer all of them.     

MS. CAMERON:  Yes.     

MS. CAMPBELL:  And we'll get rid of it all at the same time.  Thank you, Ms. Cameron.  

“As a result of implementing those three service, interruptible activity involving storage injections and/or withdrawals may be impacted due to system constraints.”

     And the questions for those three services are, firstly: Has Union estimated the instances and duration 

of the interruptions stemming from the introduction of those three services?     

MS. CAMERON:  Union Gas has not estimated the duration or instances of the interruptions.
     However, because these are firm services, it would be the same effect if firm customers today used the firm services with 100 percent load factor.
     For example, if someone had the ability to use firm storage and could withdraw 100 units a day, if he withdrew 100 units a day, interruptible customers would be interrupted.
     The impact would be the same.     

MS. CAMPBELL:  Thank you.  And the final question under that is, I guess, put a little more clearly:  At what point will the level of interruptions cause Union to decrease prices?     

MS. CAMERON:  Union will not change our pricing methodology.  We price our interruptible services based on market prices today.     

MS. CAMPBELL:  Thank you.     

The next series of questions deal with M12, so we're not going to touch on them.
     And the final question is question 35, which has a diagram attached to it of four specific scenarios.  And I don't know whether that is capable of being answered today or if someone would like to give an undertaking to answer that. 

Mr. Isherwood?     

MR. ISHERWOOD:  The question is really split between Mr. Shorts and myself, and myself from an exfranchise point of view, which I think covered off two of the four diagrams, Mr. Shorts from the infranchise point of view which cover off the other two of the four.
     I'm looking at the question, and it's a very broad question.  It’s very, very difficult to answer from the point of view we'd be making many, many, many assumptions, which ultimately I'm not sure of the value of the output.  And it's probably true on the infranchise and exfranchise.

The complexity I have on the exfranchise is I don't have a lot of knowledge on the Enbridge distribution services.  It would be very difficult to be able to provide that whole package from Dawn to the plant looking at -- including Dawn -- I'm sorry, including Enbridge services as part of that package.  

And the last concern I would have is, two or three of the services that would be priced here would be 

market-based services, so I’m again, talking to a roomful of my closest competitors, giving away market-sensitive information.     

MS. CAMPBELL:  So does that mean you're not answering it?     

MR. ISHERWOOD:  I'm not sure we can, I guess, is my conclusion.     

MS. CAMPBELL:  And what information do you need to answer it?  

MR. ISHERWOOD:  I’m not sure we could.

MS. CAMPBELL:   Right.  Are you saying you need further information, or even with additional information, you can't answer it?     

MR. ISHERWOOD:  From the exfranchise point of view, I don't have the knowledge on the Enbridge services, so I couldn't do that part of it.
     The market price is market sensitive, so you would be having a constraint there as well.  

Certainly I could look at it from the point of view of volumes and levels of service without getting into pricing, but I could only go as far as Parkway, to my level of knowledge.     

MR. SHORTS:  Some of the difficulties, even in answering the infranchise questions, are there a number of variables which we don't know, number 1, is the customer choosing to supply their own deliverability inventory?  Are they firm?  Interruptible?  Should we include items like compressor fuel, costs?  At what rate would that be?  

So those are some other points that lead to the inability to answer the question properly.     

MS. CAMPBELL:  Maybe a better way of dealing with this, rather than taking up time discussing what you might need or might not need, and things like that, what I'd propose to do is to allow everybody else to can their questions and then, at a later point I will speak with Mr. Leslie and anyone else at Union and see if we can craft this question in a fashion that makes it easier for you to provide us with an answer.     

MR. LESLIE:  That's fine.  I think if we can get some clarification --     

MS. CAMPBELL:  Sure.     

MR. LESLIE:  -- about what it is you're looking for, I think the information might be useful.     

MS. CAMPBELL:  All right.  So why don't we do that off the record.  

Those are my questions.  Thank you.     

MS. SEBALJ:  Thank you.  If we could just do a quick

switch with Greenfield.     

MS. DEJULIO:  Kristi, I have one question.  If I could ask that question going out of order?  Or not?     

MS. SEBALJ:  Sure.  You should come up to the mike.   

There's been a suggestion that we might break for lunch after this one question.  I realize that I had planned for a later lunch.  Is there any objection to lunch in about five minutes?
     Okay.  Go ahead.

CROSS-EXAMINATION BY MS. DEJULIO:     

MS. DEJULIO:  Thank you, Kristi.  My name is Gia  DeJulio.  I'm representing the Ontario Power Authority.  And I just have you one question following up on something Mr. Isherwood said in response to the Board's question 17(b). You might recall, Mark, that you mentioned that the open season would be co-ordinated with the OPA, and that you advised -- sorry.  Sorry.  Is that better?  Would you like me to repeat what I just said?  All right.  

My name is Gia DeJulio.  I'm representing the Ontario Power Authority.  And I have a question for Mark I should following up on his response to the Board's question 17(b).  Mark mentioned that the open season would be co-ordinated with the OPA, and I was wanting to ask Mark if he can advise as to what preparations Union expects to undertake with the OPA for this open season, that is, what are Union's expectations from the OPA in this exercise?     

MR. ISHERWOOD:  I would view the co-ordination being fairly informal.  We're certainly inconstant communication with the OPA.  We've visited with them several times and talked frequently.  So it's more of an informal 

co-ordination.  It’s really taking advice from the OPA in terms of when the time would be right.     

MS. DEJULIO:  Okay.  Thank you, Mark.  

    
MS. SEBALJ:  Okay.  Let's break for lunch. 

In the interests of trying to make this day as short as possible, knowing that we're probably going to go well over the 5:00 mark, is it possible for people to be back at 1:00 sharp, and then we'll hear from APPrO.   

--- Luncheon recess taken at 12:05 p.m. 


--- On resuming at 1:00 p.m.

     MS. SEBALJ:  Why don't we get started, in the interests of time.  

Go ahead, Mr. Moran.  Whenever you’re ready.


CROSS-EXAMINATION BY MR. MORAN: 

MR. MORAN:  Good afternoon, panel.

     Can we start off with the cost-based rates that you've identified a little bit earlier for storage service?  I think it was you, Mr. Isherwood, or maybe it was you,

Mr. Kitchen, who identified for 1.2 percent deliverability, the cost-based rate is 31 cents.

MR. KITCHEN:  Yes.

MR. MORAN:  And for 5 percent deliverability, it's 83

cents?

     MR. KITCHEN:  Yes.

     MR. MORAN:  And for 10 percent, I believe it was $1.51.

     MR. KITCHEN:  Yes.

     MR. MORAN:  Right.  And I wonder if you could confirm whether anybody is receiving cost-based service at the 5 percent and 10 percent deliverability?

     MR. SHORTS:  I don't know exactly at those levels.  We do have some customers who do have higher than 1.2 percent.  I don't actually have the number of customers at higher levels than that.  But certainly from the power customer's perspective, we haven't seen the big demand or customers contracting for deliverability in excess of the 1.2 so far.

     MR. MORAN:  When you say you haven't seen a big demand, does that mean you've seen some demand from existing power customers?

     MR. SHORTS:  The existing T1 customers?

     MR. MORAN:  Yes.

     MR. SHORTS:  There are some customers who have slightly higher than the 1.2 percent, but mostly are, I think, either 1.2 or lower.  And from a space perspective, a lot of those customers actually contract for less space than what they would be entitled to, given that aggregate excess calculation, so ...

     MR. MORAN:  All right.  And Mr. Isherwood, I think you identified a number of things that might be done to increase deliverability; I think you identified the construction of additional wells and the installation of additional compression; correct?

     MR. ISHERWOOD:  That's correct.

     MR. MORAN:  And you indicated -– you referred to a number, 200,000 Bcf.

     MR. ISHERWOOD:  200,000 gJs per day.

     MR. MORAN:  Sorry, gJs, my mistake.  And I wonder if you could indicate where you got that number from.  Did you carry out a needs analysis of some kind?

     MR. ISHERWOOD:  No.  Actually, it's just -– the rule of thumb that we've used is, a thousand megawatt plant would typically or may need up to a Bcf of space.  And then if you add 10 percent deliverability to that 1 Bcf of space, a 2,000 megawatt market in Ontario, in Toronto, you would need approximately 200,000 gJs per day.

     MR. MORAN:  Right.  And in order to develop that additional deliverability, you'd indicated that you would have to build more facilities; correct?

     MR. ISHERWOOD:  That’s correct.

     MR. MORAN:  I wonder if you could indicate whether, in creating that additional deliverability through the construction of new facilities, what impact that would have on the cost-based rates that were identified, the 83 cents for 5 percent and the $1.51 for 10 percent.  Would that change?

     MR. ISHERWOOD:  If we were developing deliverability, it would either be for exfranchise customers or it would be for infranchise customers above the 1.2 percent.  And that would be all at market-based rates.

MR. MORAN:  Okay.  But my question was, if you were developing that on a cost basis to be sold on a cost basis rather than a market basis, would those numbers, those costs, change that you had initially identified?  And if so, what would the change be?

     MR. KITCHEN:  The costs identified would increase, I would imagine.  I don't know by how much because it depends on how much it would cost.

     MR. MORAN:  All right.  Now, I take it that you have an understanding of the cost of putting in an additional well and the cost of putting in an additional compressor station, and so on.  I wonder if you could undertake to tell us what the change would be if you were to develop 200,000 gJ deliverability capacity.


MR. ISHERWOOD:  We could undertake to provide that.

     MS. SEBALJ:  If we could mark that as Union Undertaking No. 3, to provide -- Mr. Moran, to fill in the blanks?

     MR. MORAN:  The change in the cost for 5 percent and 10 percent deliverability based on the development of 200,000 gJs.

UNDERTAKING NO. 3:  FOR UNION TO PROVIDE THE CHANGE IN COST FOR A 5-PERCENT AND 10-PERCENT DELIVERABILITY BASED ON THE DEVELOPMENT OF 200,000 GJS 

     MR. MORAN:  I think it was you, Mr. Isherwood, who identified the timing associated with putting in those kinds of new facilities.  I think you indicated 24 to 30 months.

     MR. ISHERWOOD:  That's correct.

     MR. MORAN:  And I'm wondering if you could provide me with a better understanding of what 24 to 30 months entails.  I wonder if you could start with the installation of a well to increase deliverability.  What are the operational steps, and what kind of timing is associated with the installation of a well?

     MR. ISHERWOOD:  I think when I talked in terms of the 24 to 30 months, it was really -- the comparison I was using with the Dawn-Parkway expansion typically takes about 24 to 30 months.  I think I gave the reference that we were doing open season for ‘08 in May or June of this year, which is approximately -- I don't know whether that would be 28 or 29 months.  But that's certainly the order of magnitude.  

There are certainly ways to increase deliverability in small increments, by adding a well or to bottle-necking a piece of pipe.  But to get the kind of deliverability we’re talking about for the power market would be –

COURT REPORTER:  I’m sorry, could you slow down a bit, please.

MR. ISHERWODD:  Sorry.  I’ll take a deep breath between sentences.  

In terms of the large blocks of deliverability that

we're talking about for the power market, if, indeed, they need that kind of deliverability, you're talking probably more in terms of compression, and a compressor would definitely be that order of magnitude.

     MR. MORAN:  All right.  So if I understand what you said, the 24 to 30 months time frame would be applicable to additional compression?

     MR. ISHERWOOD:  It would be any major project.  A major project would involve compression.  It may also at the same time involve doing some well work.  It's not as simple as one piece of equipment.  It could be a multiple-faceted project.

     MR. MORAN:  Okay.  And I guess the determining component, then, if I understand what you're saying, is the installation of compression.  That's the longest time line?

     MR. ISHERWOOD:  Pipeline would be similar, because with the pipeline, you need to establish land easements, that type of thing, so a pipeline could be equally as long.

     MR. MORAN:  All right.  And if you were focussing on the installation of additional wells, what kind of a time frame for that kind of a project would we --

     MR. ISHERWOOD:  I'm not that familiar with how -- with

the process, if all goes through, in terms of environmental assessments.  I'm not that familiar with that.

     MR. MORAN:  All right.  Perhaps you could undertake to provide me with that information.

     MR. LESLIE:  What is the information you're looking for, Mr. Moran?

     MR. MORAN:  The time frame --

     MR. LESLIE:  How long it takes to put in a well?

     MR. MORAN:  The time frame associated with putting in a well, from whatever approval process is required to commissioning.

     MR. LESLIE:  We'll see what we can do.

     MS. SEBALJ:  Could we mark that as Undertaking No. 

4, for Union to provide the time frame for the construction and installation of a well.

UNDERTAKING NO. 4:  FOR UNION TO PROVIDE THE TIME FRAME FOR THE CONSTRUCTION AND INSTALLATION OF A WELL

     MR. MORAN:  What's the aggregate deliverability of Union Gas's existing storage?

     MR. ISHERWOOD:  It's approximately 2.2 Bcf per day.

     MR. MORAN:  And on a percentage basis, on a deliverability percentage basis, what would it be?

     MR. ISHERWOOD:  As I said earlier this morning, it's approximately 1.2 percent.

     MR. MORAN:  So that's the existing aggregate deliverability for the entire storage system?

     MR. ISHERWOOD:  That's correct.

     MR. MORAN:  What studies has Union done to determine what the storage capacity and deliverability requirements would be for power generators?

     MR. ISHERWOOD:  We've done a fair bit of consultation with power generators in terms of what they think they may need in terms of both space and deliverability, and Mr. Shorts going to jump in on this in a second.  We've used a lot of “rule of thumbs” in terms of the record we did back in the summer with the Board Staff and their consultant in terms of a power generator, again, using a Bcf of space and up to 10 percent would be 100,000 gJs per day deliverability.  In terms of specific discussion with customers, well, I'll go back to Chris.

   
MR. SHORTS:  We had many consultations through the RFP process with a number of parties who gave us forecasts and load-factor type of scenarios.  So we use those as well as the experience we've gained serving TransAlta in Sarnia and Brighton Beach down in Windsor, to help guide those rules of thumb.     

MR. MORAN:  All right.  So, in the context of --  well, let me clarify a couple of things first.  Other than those kinds of consultations, have you done any other kind of work to determine the storage and capacity and deliverability needs for power generators?  Or is it primarily based on those kinds of consultations?     

MR. SHORTS:  It's primarily derived from those consultations and what the customers have requested from us.     

MR. MORAN:  All right.  So I take it you don't have any studies, then, or reports available that would look at that question?     

MR. SHORTS:  No.     

MR. MORAN:  All right.  And in the context of the RFP process, as I assume that you're referring to the Ministry of Energy and the OPA procurement processes?     

MR. SHORTS:  Yes, that's correct.     

MR. MORAN:  All right.  And is it correct to assume that there were a significant number of people involved in that process, more than ultimately got chosen through that process?     

MR. SHORTS:  Oh, yes.  There was many in the -- all the way right the beginning all the way through to the end. The numbers did dwindle as, obviously, the contracts got awarded.     

MR. MORAN:  All right.  And you were able to consult with all of those players?     

MR. SHORTS:  Certainly all the pliers that were looking for Union infranchise-type services.     

MR. MORAN:  All right.  So in the context of looking at your consultations with those participants, are you able to provide me with an indication of what the average requirements were based on those consultations for storage capacity and deliverability?     

MR. SHORTS:  I think it's fair to say that in the initial conversations prior to when I think parties made their bids, a lot of parties wanted to sort of put in the boundaries so a lot of them asked us to look at up to 10 percent type of deliverability.
     I think when it actually got down to the time period of when people were willing to contract or get to specific negotiations, we saw those numbers dwindle dramatically, and as I mentioned before, we've seen very few of these parties, if any, that have actually requested anything higher than the 1.2 percent type of deliverability service.     
MR. MORAN:  Did you have an opportunity to look at any of the seasonal changes in requirements that power generators might have?     

MR. SHORTS:  Certainly generators over the years have provided us with load forecasts, covering, you know, a monthly load forecast for varying periods of periods of time that we've been discussing with them.     

MR. MORAN:  And in looking at that information, what can you tell us about the kind of deliverability requirements on a seasonal basis that would have been identified?     

MR. SHORTS:  Really, what you have to look at is, we do all of the calculation of the space.  First we calculate what the space applicable for a customer is, essentially using the aggregate excess methodology I spoke about earlier.
     Once we do that, then essentially it really comes down to whether or not a customer could use, say, off-peak services rear than that peak type of firm service.
     So it has, you know, generated some discussion on additional type services whether they be interruptible or market-based supplemental services.     

MR. ISHERWOOD:  If I could just add to that as well. There's loss of other options for power customers as well in addition to storage.  My sense is someone would be looking to marketers and producer to provide a balancing service or gas supply on short notice.   So storage may be one option, but they have other options as well.     

MR. MORAN:  All right.  And in the context of that answer, have you done any studies that would involve marketers who are looking for higher deliverability in the context of power generators?     

MR. ISHERWOOD:  We've done no studies with marketers.     

MR. MORAN:  And do you have any results from consultations that would provide any information on that?     
MR. ISHERWOOD:  We've talked to many of the marketers in terms of how they would potentially look at serving the power market.  And I think at this point in time it's in their own mind it's very preliminary.  They're not sure of the final contractual arrangements between themselves and power customers.  None of them have signed deals, for example, so they've not approached us at all in terms of deliverability or space requirements.     

MR. MORAN:  Now, you indicated that in the context of the consultations you have carried out to try to understand the deliverability needs that you've applied a number of rules of thumb.
     I wonder if you could indicate where -- what the origin is of those rules of thumb that you were referring to.     

MR. SHORTS:  Those rules of thumb, as I mentioned before, are based entirely on our past experience in serving the megawatts we're already serving, as well as consultation with a lot of those parties going into the RFP process, the OPA, or I guess at that time -- I can't remember who exactly the entity that was driving out the contracts but there was set processes on what times and years they were supposed to look at.
     So a lot of that, those models, if you want to call I that, were generated by those customers that we had those discussions with.
     So we generally saw their load peaking winter and summer.  So it generated, when you looked at the annual volume, obviously, a portion of what the peak storage applicability through the aggregate excess methodology.  So essentially we then would take that, look at what kind of deliverability a customer would want and whether or not it fell within the 1.2.  But as I mentioned before we found that those numbers tended to drop as the deliverability required or requested got smaller as they got closer to either a bid or awarding time period.     

MR. MORAN:  Now, you indicated that in terms of power generators, you apply the same aggregate excess methodology that you've always used; right?     

MR. SHORTS:  Yes, that's right.     

MR. MORAN:  Right.  And have you ever considered whether that methodology needs to be changed in order to accommodate specific needs of power generators?     

MR. SHORTS:  So far we haven't seen an instance yet in our experience that has given us an indication we'd need to change it.
     Like I said before, the calculation in most instances as far as I can recall have actually given numbers that are higher that they could actually contract for than what the customers have actually contracted for.
     So the methodology so far has seemed to meet the needs of those customers.     

MR. MORAN:  And when you say "those customers" you're referring to the existing -- the five generators that are on T1 and …     

MR. SHORTS:  As well as another T1 customer that we're currently -- one of the new RFP proponents.     

MR. MORAN:  Now in your evidence, just moving on to my next topic, you indicated that customers that have more than one plant in the Union south area are permitted to serve those plants through a single T1 contract, correct,  as long as they're all owned by same legal entity?     

MR. SHORTS:  That's correct.     

MR. MORAN:  Okay.  And that's the only instance under which you would consider a single T1 contract for multiple plants?     

MR. SHORTS:  Yes.  Essentially, due to the fact of joint and several liability that's embedded within those contracts, you're going to end up having one legal entity per contract.     

MR. MORAN:  Maybe you can help me understand the last phrase that you just referred to, the joint and several liability, what turns on that for you.     

MR. SHORTS:  Essentially, every location that’s on the T1 contract, since we're contracting with one party, we look to that party to basically be liable for all the debts and actions of all the parties on the contract.  So customers will not usually be in a position that they'll want to contract with a number of unowned other properties, and actually have to be on the hook for potential debts from those customers.     

MR. MORAN:  Is there any operational significance that relates to this kind of ownership requirement?     

MR. SHORTS:  There's not any operational perspective I can think of.     

MR. MORAN:  All right.  So what prevents Union from combining contracts from multiple plants who have the same operator, even if they don't necessarily have the same legal owner?       

MR. SHORTS:  It still goes back to the joint and several liability, whether or not those customers would be willing to enter in and be in a contract that, essentially, put them -- made them liable for the actions of all the other parties on the contract.     

MR. MORAN:  All right.  So in the -- if we use as an example, then, if you have an entity who is carrying out fuel management activities for a number of different plants who aren't necessarily owned by the same entity, assuming that the liability issue can be addressed, I take it there would be no problem on the part of Union, then, to accommodate that kind of combination of T1 contracts?     

MR. SHORTS:  I'd probably have to check into that.  I'm not a hundred percent sure.  I'm not a lawyer, but...     

MR. MORAN:  That's fine.  Why don't we just deal with it as an undertaking, then. 

     MS. SEBALJ:  I believe that's Undertaking No. 5, Union Undertaking No. 5, to provide an indication of what prevents Union from having multiple contracts for -- sorry, a single contract for multiple --

     MR. MORAN:  Multiple plants, not necessarily owned by the same owner, but fuel management being managed by the same legal entity.

Okay.  Is there anything that would prevent -–

MR. LESLIE:  Just while we're on that, I take it you're assuming that the management company would be an agent for all the owners?  Is that --

     MR. MORAN:  That's correct.

     Is there anything that would prevent Union from allowing customers to pool their contractual obligations with Union for the purpose of processing nominations?

     MR. ISHERWOOD:  Can you give an example?

     MR. MORAN:  Let's say there are two or three plants that jointly want to nominate a quantity as opposed to three separate nominations.  Is there anything that prevents Union from accommodating that?  Or calculating daily imbalances or, you know, balancing their storage accounts amongst themselves.  Is there anything that would prevent Union from accommodating that?

     MR. ISHERWOOD:  I think I need a more specific example.  I'm having trouble picturing what exactly we're being asked.

     MR. MORAN:  Let me come at it from a different angle.

     Is there anything that would prevent Union from allowing a number of T1 customers to have a combined storage account?  

MR. ISHERWOOD:  I think it goes back to the undertaking, doesn't it?  If they were operating all under the same agent, was the example, I think.

     MR. MORAN:  That's fine.  Then why don't we just add that to the same undertaking, and I'll wait for the answer on that.

     MR. ISHERWOOD:  Could you rephrase that for the undertaking, then?

     MR. MORAN:  Multiple T1 customers operating a common storage account.  It's not exactly the same as the original question.  It is an additional question.

     Mr. Rosenkranz suggested, the way you look at it is, instead of having one contract for several players, it's pooling multiple contracts for specific purposes.

     MR. LESLIE:  Yes, but we're assuming it would be one contract.  Is that your question?

     MR. MORAN:  No.  Pooling multiple contracts for --

     MR. LESLIE:  Under what aegis would the multiple contracts be pooled?  Under another contract?

     MR. MORAN:  I don't think it matters.  It's just a question of pooling the multiple contracts for the purpose of managing storage, managing nominations.

     MR. LESLIE:  Well, the difficulty I have is just, “pooling” is a word that doesn't mean much to me, other than to do something jointly.  I mean, we can try and figure out how it might be done, but I wondered what you had in mind.

MR. ROSENKRANZ:  Let me make an attempt of having an example of three T1 customers, each with T1 storage -- transportation contract, each one with a T1 storage contract.  Would it be possible for them to have their T1 storage balances considered as one aggregate T1 storage balance, and any imbalances on each of those three transportation contracts debited from that joint, now pooled, storage account?

     MR. SHORTS:  I still -- it still gets back to the answer to the first question, I believe, in the sense that you still need one contractual storage pool serving non-legally owned entities.  So I think if you go back, it's still –- it still falls under that same category as the first question.

     MR. ROSENKRANZ:  In both cases, we're assuming that you have a guarantor covering -- under the umbrella of indemnification for any concerns that you might have about who's responsible for paying it.

     MR. LESLIE:  Rather than take up more time, why don't you leave it with us and we'll do the best we can with it.

     MR. MORAN:  I'll leave it on this basis.  The difference between the two undertakings that I'm asking you:  One envisages a single contract for more than one plant owned by more than one person, and the second one envisages three separate contracts, for example, for three different plants but with a pooling arrangement for components of those three contracts.

     MS. SEBALJ:  And can I suggest that those are Undertakings No. 5 and No. 6 respectively.

UNDERTAKING NO. 5:  FOR UNION TO PROVIDE AN INDICATION OF WHAT PREVENTS UNION FROM HAVING A SINGLE CONTRACT FOR MULTIPLE PLANTS, NOT NECESSARILY OWNED BY THE SAME OWNER, BUT FUEL MANAGEMENT BEING MANAGED BY THE SAME LEGAL ENTITY 

UNDERTAKING NO. 6:  FOR UNION TO PROVIDE AN INDICATION OF WHAT PREVENTS UNION FROM ALLOWING MULTIPLE T1 CUSTOMERS TO POOL THEIR STORAGE ACCOUNTS AND THEIR NOMINATIONS  

MR. MORAN:  What criteria does Union use to determine the amount of firm and interruptible deliverability that a customer is allowed to contract for at cost-based rates?

     MR. SHORTS:  It's up to the 1.2 percent at cost-based rates.

     MR. MORAN:  And then everything after that is at market?

     MR. SHORTS:  That's right.

     MR. MORAN:  Thank you.

Now, you've indicated in your evidence that T1 customers can elect to take no storage at all; right?  They can go with third parties?

     MR. SHORTS:  Yes, that's correct.  There's n requirement for a customer, a T1 customer, to contract for the T1 storage.

     MR. MORAN:  Does Union provide the same no-notice balancing for a T1 customer who's using third-party storage as it does for a customer using T1 storage service?  

MR. SHORTS:  The whole intent of the T1 and the storage together is what provides you with the no-notice service.  So we don't have a service.  It would be up to the T1 customer to balance at the end of that -- end of each day.

     MR. MORAN:  Okay.  So the no-notice balancing component of the T1 service includes T1 storage service; it won't work otherwise?

     MR. SHORTS:  It certainly contemplates -- it certainly contemplates the storage.  It still doesn't take away the  no-notice provision.  A customer can elect to not change his nomination throughout the day as his consumption changes.  It’s just going to be what bucket of cost at the end of the day that gap falls into.

     MS. CAMERON:  And that, actually, if I could just add, is very similar to what we saw in the U.S. experience.  To the extent that you want a no-notice service on a U.S. pipeline, it usually required that you held storage as well.

     MR. MORAN:  From the same provider?

     MS. CAMERON:  Yes.

     MR. MORAN:  Yes, okay.  

What steps do you take to make the third-party storage service seamless with your service, if any?

     MR. ISHERWOOD:  We've not had that request from a third-party provider to go down that path in terms of being seamless.  So, really, if a third-party provider wanted to provide service to a T1 customer and wanted to make it seamless, we'd need to find a way to do that.

     MR. MORAN:  All right.  So right now you don't have a way to do that simply because nobody's asked to do that?


MR. ISHERWOOD:  Nobody’s asked us to do that.  

     MR. MORAN:  In order to be able to do that, assuming that somebody asked you, how would you go about determining it?

     MR. ISHERWOOD:  I have no idea.  I think the onus would also be on the third-party provider as well to provide the service to the customer.

     MR. MORAN:  And in order to do it, then, presumably you would have to work with the third-party provider and the customer, and I assume you would be willing to do that?

     MR. ISHERWOOD:  It depends on the circumstance and it depends on what they're asking us to do.

     MR. MORAN:  Okay.  If a T1 customer wanted to increase the firm deliverability of its Union storage without buying more storage capacity, how would that customer do that if they wanted to contract with a third party?     

MR. SHORTS:  Sorry, I was with you until you threw in the third party part at the end.     

MR. MORAN:  I'll take you to the evidence on that point.  That might help you.
     If you turn to tab 3, page 30.     

MR. SHORTS:  Yes, I have it.     

MR. MORAN:  It says:

"Currently customers receiving T1, U7, R20,
  
R100, and R25 service have the option of
    
contracting for a range of
     storage deliverability services from Union or
     from a third-party storage provider.
     Customers do not have to contract for Union
     storage services."

So in the context of what is stated in the evidence, if I'm a T1 customer and I want to increase the firm deliverability of my Union storage, how do I do that?     

MR. SHORTS:  If you want to increase the firm deliverability of your Union storage through Union, then you basically would request that.  Then we would basically price that up at market, and then it would be up to the customer to decide whether that was the option they wanted to take.     

MR. MORAN:  And that's the only way to do it?     

MR. SHORTS:  A third-party provider can provide deliverability.  We wouldn't be party to those types of arrangements, and again, as Mark had mentioned before, it would simply show up as the change in the nomination at Dawn.     

MR. MORAN:  Okay.  Now, as I understand it, Union has a number of market price-based contracts for storage with a number of entities; right?     

MR. ISHERWOOD:  That's correct.     

MR. MORAN:  And I guess the startling question S, How many of those contracts do you have at this point, and what's the aggregate capacity?     

MR. ISHERWOOD:  I answered that this morning, I believe, and I pointed back to an IR that we had submitted as part of our 2007 rate case.  I could go back to dig reference if it's helpful.     

MR. MORAN:  No, that's fine.  This was a long way of just asking if you could file those interrogatory responses that you referred to earlier today in this proceeding, I guess.     

MR. ISHERWOOD:  Certainly.     

MR. MORAN:  I don't know if that has to be an undertaking.  Might as well mark that as an undertaking.     

MS. SEBALJ:  We'll make that Undertaking No. 7, to file the interrogatory responses from the 2007 rate case. 

UNDERTAKING NO. 7:  FOR UNION TO file the interrogatory responses from the 2007 rate case   

MR. MORAN:  Now, I'm wondering if you could also, by way of undertaking, provide us with a table that would note the following information for each contract:  The expiry date; the amount of storage capacity; the deliverability for the withdrawal; the deliverability for injection, if it's different; whether deliverability is ratcheted; and whether a specific storage pool is identified for the contracted storage.     

MS. SEBALJ:  We'll mark that as Union Undertaking No. 8 -- sorry, I assumed it was an undertaking.  I shouldn't have done it.    

MR. ISHERWOOD:  I would suppose the material would be very confidential and we would not want to file it.  

I can confirm, subject to one question here.     

I can confirm that all of our exfranchise storage contracts do not refer to a pool.  It's basically Dawn storage as sort of a integrated operation.  So the last column in this all show Dawn.     

MR. MORAN:  All right.  So perhaps we can dispense with the need to indicate that if the answer is going to be the same for each one.
     I'm not asking you to provide the rate so there’s no confidentiality issue.  I don't need to know what the names are.  I'm asking for each contract, if you could simply identify the expiry date, the amount of capacity, and the deliverability associated with that capacity.          

MR. ISHERWOOD:  That's all very commercial to.  To the extent we start providing dates when contracts expire, I'm actually now providing all my competitors when my contracts come up for expiry and when I’ll be doing open seasons.   Very sensitive.     

MR. MORAN:  I don't need to know the names of --     

MR. ISHERWOOD:  You would find out the volume and you’d find out the dates, and you’d find out the deliverability, and that would affect our ability to get a maximum price.     

MR. MORAN:  Mr. Isherwood, I know that in other proceedings where similar issues have arisen that Union has been able to provide information, for example, on T1 contracts by simply saying customer A, customer B, customer C, and so on.  Is there any particular reason why we can’t approach it the say way for this?     

MR. ISHERWOOD:  The materials that you're suggesting in the past have all been cost-of-service rates and that's very simple to do that.  This is all market-based rates and market-based services.     

MR. MORAN:  I'm not asking for the rates.     

MR. ISHERWOOD:  I know, but you're asking for the dates, when the capacity comes up for renewal, with specific deliverability, which is a market signals to all my competitors when my next open season is going to be.     

MR. MORAN:  All right.  Let's see if we can figure a way around this.  Other than the expiry date, is there any other confidentiality concern triggered by what I asked?     

MR. ISHERWOOD:  I think this morning the answer to one question around how much exfranchise long-term market space do you have?  And I perhaps go back, I can't remember the exact numbers but anyway, 71.5 petaJoules, and we said of that there was 5Bcf that was non-standard.  So that table would show the difference, 65.5 would be all very standard, 1.2 percent, with the same injection, same withdrawal type parameters.  It would be 5 Bcf which I described this morning, in a consolidated basis, what those parameters were.     

MR. MORAN:  So there are only four contracts that have deliverability higher than 1.2 percent?  Do I understand that correctly?     

MR. ISHERWOOD:  There are four contracts that had deliverability different than 1.2 percent.  Some would be lower, some higher.     

MR. MORAN:  And that's the sum total of all 

market-based.     

MR. ISHERWOOD:  Sum of all, total -- all market-based.      

MR. MORAN:  All right.  Let me do it this way, then.  Could you aggregate the amount of capacity that expires at the end of -- by the end of 2006, by the end of 2007, and by the end of 2008, without indicating how many contracts are involved in that?     

MR. ISHERWOOD:  The difficulty with that request, and I hate to keep trying to evade the question here, but the problem with that is all storage contracts have the same termination date of March 31, so as I say, in ‘06 or ‘07, you just add March 31 in front of that and they all have the same expiry dates.     

MR. MORAN:  All right.  Are you able to provide me with the amount of capacity that's associated with all of the contracts that will expire on March 31st, 2006?     

MR. ISHERWOOD:  It's already expired, basically; right?     

MR. MORAN:  Yeah, but are you able to provide the information?     

MR. ISHERWOOD:  I'd only be prepared to do that if it already had been sold.  I'm not sure if it had or not.     

MR. MORAN:  All right.  And can you provide me with the amount of storage capacity that's under contract for all -- as an aggregate number for contracts that expire on March 31st, 2007?     

MR. ISHERWOOD:  No, that's again, back to the 

market-sensitive information.     

MR. MORAN:  And what would be the market sensitivity if it's an aggregated number?     

MR. ISHERWOOD:  Because my competitors will know I have X Bcf of space coming due next year.     

MR. MORAN:  Okay.  So we're talking about your competitors?     

MR. ISHERWOOD:  Absolutely.     

MR. MORAN:  We will have to think about this, and so I'll move on.
     All right.  Union has indicated in its evidence that the services that it offers to its north system customers are constrained by the services offered by TCPL.  If TCPL offers more flexible services, is Union prepared to implement the corresponding changes to accommodate those services for its north system?     

MR. ISHERWOOD:  Is there a reference?     

     MR. MORAN:  If you go to page 10 of tab 3, and if you look at the paragraph that begins on line 16:

               "Due to the configuration of the system and

               the number of interconnections with TCPL,

               there is a high degree of alignment between

               the services Union provides and those 

               provided by TCPL.  Union interacts and

               balances the needs of the system with TCPL,

               including those of transportation service

               customers.  Any changes Union makes to its

services must, to some degree, be complementary and aligned with services provided by TCPL."

If TCPL changes services to offer more flexibility to power generators, will Union make corresponding changes to accommodate that flexibility?  

     MR. SHORTS:  I guess we'd have to wait and see what those changes were.  What you have to realize is that, for example, the CBS, a lot of what we do in the CBS is dependent on, say, interruptible services or things that are somewhat beyond our control, things like system diversity.  So we really would have to try and see what those changes were and how they would create any kind of flexibility before we could say that we would be able to translate those into a change to the northern services.

     MR. MORAN:  Just a second.

Now, it's our understanding that TCPL is considering an additional service, FTSN.  Have you had any discussion with TCPL about that service?

     MR. ISHERWOOD:  We have had some discussion; that's correct.

     MR. MORAN:  All right.  And you understand how that service is intended to work?

     MR. ISHERWOOD:  I haven't actually seen the service for a month or so, and I understand they're filing evidence shortly with both the NEB and the OEB, so I’m waiting to see the final version of the product before we'd be able to comment.

     MR. MORAN:  Would I be correct in assuming that TCPL has reviewed this proposed service with you to try to determine if you would be able to accommodate it on your side of the fence?

     MR. ISHERWOOD:  We reviewed it with TCPL from the perspective of providing an interface at Parkway.  We’ve not, to my knowledge, had much discussion around what happened in north.

     MR. MORAN:  Okay.  What can you tell us today about your ability to accommodate that service?

     MR. ISHERWOOD:  At Parkway?

     MR. MORAN:  Yes.

     MR. ISHERWOOD:  The downstream pipeline balancing service, one of the features of that service would be to align with TCPL's requirement to have a 15-minute confirmation on volumes flowing at Parkway.

     MR. MORAN:  All right.  In the same vein, if you could turn up the Enbridge evidence at Exhibit C, tab 2, schedule 2.

     MS. SEBALJ:  Do they have the Enbridge evidence?  I doubt they have it in front of them.

     MR. MORAN:  Does anybody have it up there?

     MR. ISHERWOOD:  I have it.  I'm not an expert on it, obviously, but ...

     MR. MORAN:  That's okay.

     MS. SEBALJ:  I guess let's hear the question.

     MR. MORAN:  The reference is Exhibit C, tab 2, schedule 2, page 2.  And this is evidence that relates to Enbridge's Rate 125.

     MR. LESLIE:  Sorry, Mr. Moran, can you repeat the reference?

     MR. MORAN:  Exhibit C, tab 2, schedule 2, page 2.

If you look at the second paragraph on that page:

“Schedule of nominations under Rate 125 has to match upstream nominations.  There is no way to provide more flexibility than exists upstream with the EGD gas distribution system.  Where the customer's nomination does not match the confirmed upstream nomination, the nomination will be confirmed at the upstream value."

I guess the first question I have is whether you've had a chance to examine the Rate 125 proposal by Enbridge to understand the nominations available under their rate service.

     MR. ISHERWOOD:  It may be a better question to ask the panel tomorrow.  But we have had a lot of discussions with Enbridge in terms of upstream flexibility they may need and their customers may need, and that was really part of the basis for formulating those four new services.

     MR. MORAN:  All right.  So in the context of the Rate 125 proposal from Enbridge, do I understand you to be saying that you can accommodate the flexibility that they say has to be matched upstream?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  If you look -- how I read that paragraph is they have not defined what flexibility they actually need.  There's no definition of what they need.  What they're saying is, what I said this morning, in order to have the service telegraphed through to the customer, you need to have alignment between what Union is doing, Enbridge, and TCPL.

     MR. MORAN:  Can you accommodate the schedule of nominations under Rate 125?

     MR. ISHERWOOD:  Can you point me to the schedule? 

There is no schedule.  That's issue.

     MR. MORAN:  All right.  If there's no schedule, then I can’t point you to it, can I?  So the answer is you don't know.

     MR. ISHERWOOD:  It's undefined.

     MR. MORAN:  You've indicated that you've had discussions with Enbridge.  What is your understanding of the schedule of nominations that they're considering, subject to the ability to match that upstream?

     MR. ISHERWOOD:  Again, it's probably best to ask the panel tomorrow in terms of what they think they need.  But we have had a lot of chat, a lot of talk, around the ten nomination windows, and there seems to be some alignment there.

     MR. MORAN:  I’d leave it at that.

I'd like to move now to the new methodology proposed for T1.  I just want to confirm that my understanding of this is correct; that the four blocks that we see, the customer will pay the price for the block that that customer's annual consumption falls into or contracted amount falls into; correct?

     MR. KITCHEN:  Yes.  They pay one rate for the entire CD.

     MR. MORAN:  For the entire CD.  Okay.  And I think earlier today you indicated that you don't distinguish between distribution and transmission for the purposes of setting the -– of establishing the T1 rates; correct?

     MR. KITCHEN:  We did factor in, in terms of the blocking, the customers that are served off transmission versus distribution.  That's one of the justifications for having the lower rate at the upper end.

     MR. MORAN:  Right.  I think you indicated that your expectation or your understanding was that the larger customers would be taking primarily transmission service rather than distribution service; right?

     MR. KITCHEN:  They're probably primarily served off a transmission main as opposed to a distribution main.

     MR. MORAN:  I stand corrected, because you call it all distribution services.

     MR. KITCHEN:  Correct.

     MR. MORAN:  I wonder if you could then indicate for –I don't totally understand this.  What's your working definition for transmission main and distribution, so I can understand the difference between those facilities?

     MR. KITCHEN:  It's based on pressure and size of pipe. 

I'm not sure of the exact parameters.  It's really decided by our engineering folks when the pipe is constructed.

     MR. MORAN:  Okay.  Perhaps, then, you could just provide me a written response, establishing what the criteria are to distinguish between transmission main and distribution.

     MS. SEBALJ:  That will be Union Undertaking No. 8.

UNDERTAKING NO. 8:  FOR UNION TO PROVIDE A WRITTEN RESPONSE ESTABLISHING WHAT THE CRITERIA ARE TO DISTINGUISH BETWEEN A TRANSMISSION MAIN AND A DISTRIBUTION MAIN

     MR. MORAN:  Mr. Kitchen, are you able to identify the distribution cost component for each of the new blocks?

     MR. KITCHEN:  We allocate the distribution costs to the rate class.  We used the costs associated with serving individual customers within each block to determine the rate itself.  We don't actually allocate distribution costs to blocks, or transmission costs to blocks.

     It's a guide in terms of calculating what the rate needs to be.  In other words, there is no block 1 rate class to which we allocate costs.  We allocate to a class.

     MR. MORAN:  Right.  And when you say you allocate it to the class, I assume you're talking about the T1 class as a whole.

     MR. KITCHEN:  Correct.

     MR. MORAN:  All right.  And so in the context of the T1 class as a whole, there is a distribution cost component; is that correct?

     MR. KITCHEN:  Yes.

     MR. MORAN:  And a transmission main component.

     MR. KITCHEN:  Yes.

     MR. MORAN:  And then you indicated that in order to

establish the new blocks, the new proposed blocks, you took

into account the fact that the larger users will be using

more transmission and less distribution as you go up those

blocks?

     MR. KITCHEN:  That's correct.

     MR. MORAN:  How did you do that, in terms of landing on the numbers, if you didn't think about the distribution cost component?

     MR. KITCHEN:  What I did is I looked at what it would

cost to serve a customer through transmission main versus

distribution main.  I didn't necessarily allocate costs to a block.

     MR. MORAN:  Okay.  So when you refer to the cost of

serving a customer on a transmission main, what do you mean

by that?

     MR. KITCHEN:  Customers served off transmission isn't

causing Union to incur any distribution costs, so their

rate will necessarily be lower.

     MR. MORAN:  Okay.

     MR. KITCHEN:  I'm trying to make the distinction that

I'm not allocating costs to blocks.  What the rate is set to recover in the fourth block are essentially

transmission-related costs, and in the first block it covers transmission and distribution-related costs.

     MR. MORAN:  Is there any distribution costs in the

highest block?  In the biggest block?

     MR. KITCHEN:  Yes, there are some.

     MR. MORAN:  Do you know how much it is?

     MR. KITCHEN:  No, there's a single customer served off

of distribution within the last block.

     MR. MORAN:  Okay.  And then in the second-last block,

there are some distribution costs.

     MR. KITCHEN:  There would also be some there.  Some

customers served on distribution.  There would be some

customers served off transmission.

     MR. MORAN:  So there's more distribution costs in the

second highest block than the highest block?

     MR. KITCHEN:  Yes, correct.

     MR. MORAN:  Do you know what it is?

     MR. KITCHEN:  No, I don't on an absolute basis.  I know from a rate point of view that it costs approximately 8 to 9 cents per gJ per day per month to provide service to the customer not served off distribution.  It costs

approximately 30 cents per gJ per day per month to serve a

customer served off distribution.

     MR. MORAN:  Okay.

     MR. KITCHEN:  It's not an absolute level of cost.  It's also -- it also has to do with the billing units.  Some of that answer may be provided to you in the undertaking that we provided to Board Staff that talks about the detailed calculation.

     MR. MORAN:  All right, would it be fair to say that in

terms of determining the four blocks, that it was more of a

statistical exercise where you just took a breakpoint

between clusters?

     MR. KITCHEN:  We did look at the CD profile.  We took a first difference, and we determined the best place to break the blocks, based on that first difference, because as the evidence says, you want to have a sufficient gap and you also want to have a sufficient number of customers within each block to make it worthwhile 

     MR. MORAN:  Now, I think you also indicated that for

customers who are directly connected to the Dawn-Trafalgar

transmission main that you were going to eliminate certain

costs?

     MR. KITCHEN:  No.  For customers that are directly --

are you talking about the proposal to eliminate fuel and 

UFG?

     MR. MORAN:  Yes.

     MR. KITCHEN:  That would be only applicable to 

customers who are served, are directly connected to 

third-party transmission systems that are the only -- are served off dedicated facilities and there use custody transfer being at the interconnect.  It's not off the 

Dawn-Trafalgar.

     MR. MORAN:  Oh, I see.

     MR. KITCHEN:  It has to be off TCPL or Vector or some

third-party plan.  And the reason we can do that is those

customers are not using our integrated system.

     MR. MORAN:  Right.  So, if you have a customer and the only facility that you own is the piece of pipe from

that customer to the TransCanada Pipeline, for that particular customer you would not charge fuel or UFG; is that correct?  Is that what you mean?

     MR. SHORTS:  Well, it might be a little bit deeper than that because realistically you have to look at a situation where the customer, as Mark has said, not taking service from the integrated system.

     So you can say that where the hourly volume delivered

to that point of connection and the hourly volume consumed,

you can say the customer is not using Union's integrated

system.

     To the extent that on an hourly basis those volumes

don't match, then obviously volumes are being moved to and

from the Union integrated system.  So there is a little bit

more complexity to it than just saying connected, you avoid

all the fuel.

     MR. KITCHEN:  It is a – you have to be served by the third-party pipeline through those dedicated facilities, hour for hour.

     MR. MORAN:  Do you have any customers like that right

now?

     MR. SHORTS:  No.

     MR. MORAN:  No.  Do you expect to have any customers,

going forward, like that?

     MR. SHORTS:  It's certainly possible.

     MR. MORAN:  Or is this another example along the lines

of U7, it's there but nobody's going to use it or benefit from it?

     MR. SHORTS:  Realistically, we saw customers who were

seeking things like that, and this is another alternative

that we've given them.  Whether they choose to take it or

not is going to be up to the customer.

     MR. MORAN:  All right.  So to go back to where I think

I started with this line of questioning.  If you have a

customer who's directly connected to Dawn-Trafalgar, and

match hour to hour, and doesn't need any of Union's

integrated system service, would the customer qualify for

that elimination?

     MR. KITCHEN:  As soon as they attach to 

Dawn-Trafalgar, they're using the eliminated system.  

Dawn-Trafalgar is part of our integrated system.

     MR. MORAN:  So it's a question of definition of the

system you're attached to, it has to be a third-party system you're attaching to, it can't be a Union system even if it performs in a similar way for that customer?

     MR. KITCHEN:  That's correct.  Has to be a third-party

pipeline.

     MR. MORAN:  And those customers who are connected in

that fashion, that you describe who would qualify for the

elimination of fuel and UFG, would those be T1 customers?

     MR. KITCHEN:  It is a modification to the T1 rate

schedule, yes.

     MR. MORAN:  Did you consider creating a separate rate

class for customers like that?

     MR. KITCHEN:  Customers like what?

     MR. MORAN:  Like the ones that would qualify for the

elimination of fuel and UFG?

     MR. KITCHEN:  I don't think there's any need to create

another rate class for customers like that because they're

already covered off within the T1 rate schedule.

     MR. MORAN:  Did you consider a transmission level

service for customers like that?

     MR. KITCHEN:  That's what the rate re-design was 

intended to do.

     MR. MORAN:  As part of T1, though?

     MR. KITCHEN:  Yes.

     MR. MORAN:  Okay.

     If you could turn up page 31 of tab 3.  In the context of the discussion on U7, at line 9, you indicate:

     
"If the event consumption unexpectedly

           exceeds original supply arrangements, all

           customers can request to bring in incremental

           supply."

Could you please explain what you mean by "request"?  Like, what is the process?

     MS. PASSMORE:  The process currently would be to

nominate additional supply.  And one of the intraday NAESB

windows.

     MR. MORAN:  If the customer was within its firm

contract parameters, would you agree that they'd have the

right to increase the nomination under the existing contract as opposed to requesting it?  

     MS. PASSMORE:  Excuse me, are you speaking about supply coming on to the system?  A receipt at Union or to the plant?

     MR. MORAN:  I guess the real question is, what did you mean by “incremental supply” in your evidence?

     MS. PASSMORE:  We meant gas arriving on Union's system.

     MR. MORAN:  Additional to the contract amount?

     MS. PASSMORE:  No, no.  More than what had been nominated the day before on the timely window.  So if, during gas day, they consumed more than they had forecast, they would have the opportunity on the intra-day windows to nominate additional supply.

     MR. MORAN:  Okay.  Now, Union has indicated that an infranchise customer has to use a market-based hub contract to move gas to a different point on the Union system or to an off-system market.  What prevents Union from including secondary receipt or delivery point access in existing firm transportation contracts?

     MS. PASSMORE:  I'm going to have to ask you to clarify what you're exactly asking.

     MR. MORAN:  The infranchise customer who wants to move gas to a different point on the Union system, instead of what's in the contract, has to use, as I understand it, a market-based hub contract to do so; is that correct?

     MS. PASSMORE:  That is one of their options.

     MR. MORAN:  Is there anything to prevent Union from including secondary receipts or delivery point access along those lines in existing contracts as opposed to requiring it to be done through the market-based contracts?

     MS. PASSMORE:  What I think I'm hearing you ask is that if a customer had a Dawn receipt point on their T1 contract, then if they wanted just simply to deliver at Parkway the next day, are you asking would we -- would that be able to be accommodated?

     MR. MORAN:  Yes.

     MS. PASSMORE:  And I am suggesting that that has an implied value of Dawn-Parkway transport built into it, so that is why customers go to a hub contract.  So at this point in time, that certainly wouldn't be a free move.

     MR. MORAN:  Okay.  I wonder if you could explain the process of requesting DCQ suspensions or DCQ assignments or diversions.  What's the current process?

     MR. SHORTS:  Basically, the current process is stemming from a change in the operation of the contract.  So, in other words, if we had a customer who showed a need to actually have to get rid of some gas, and that customer was requesting a suspension, for example, if their DCQ, say, it was a hundred, dropping down to zero, then we would certainly look at the need from the customer's perspective and also any impact on the Union system.

     If we could accommodate it, we would.  The diversion or, in this case, the suspension would be an interruptible type of approval, with Union being able to revoke that, if you want to say that, if things changed as time went on.

     MR. MORAN:  All right.  And what kind of time is involved in processing that kind of a request?

     MR. SHORTS:  Basically, as long as we -- you know, we obviously need -- the customer needs to request that the day ahead, before that nomination is due for that gas day.

     MR. MORAN:  And the criteria that Union uses to evaluate the request, I wonder if you could provide some specific detail about those criteria.  How do you evaluate the request?  You made a reference to system impact.  But exactly what is it that you do to evaluate the request, and what drives the decision to say yes or no?

     MR. SHORTS:  Essentially, when a customer request comes in to the sales group who is responsible for that, we would then contact the gas planners and gas controllers.  And they are the ones that then do their analysis - again, I'm not the expert - but whether -- demands expected for the next day to see whether or not they would be comfortable, seeing there would be no negative impacts to the Union system and therefore granting the authorization.

     MR. MORAN:  And is there any written policy that guides the planners and the marketing people?

     MS. CAMERON:  If I can just add a little -- or answer that one.  It would really depend on the time of year and our current system operations and the actual request itself.  

I could use an example.  If you were asking to – you originally were going to deliver gas to Parkway, and on one day you wanted to elect to deliver gas at Dawn, is Union able to move the gas from Parkway to Dawn to accommodate that?  Can we accommodate additional receipts at Dawn, and can we accommodate a reduction in deliveries at Parkway?  It would really depend on time of year, the day.  And that's why the volume planners or our gas control group would evaluate that request.

     MR. MORAN:  And is there any written policy that guides the operational people?

     MS. PASSMORE:  None that I know of.

     MR. MORAN:  Are you able to provide an indication of how often you get those kinds of requests?

     MR. SHORTS:  Those would be requests for changes in delivery point or changes in the amount of the DCQ, or basically all of them?

     MR. MORAN:  All of them.

     MR. SHORTS:  We certainly receive those very frequently.  I would say daily.  We get those kinds of requests throughout the year.

     MR. MORAN:  Okay.

     MR. SHORTS:  I just don't have a specific number.

     MR. MORAN:  Do you have a sense of how frequently those requests are denied?

     MR. SHORTS:  Offhand, I don't.  I would suspect that what we will also do in some of these situations is we will be discussing with the customer.  Sometimes it never gets to the point of being denied, because, if we expect that, for example, it's going to be a peak day the next day, we'll basically tell the customer, You don't really need to ask because we are not going to be able to accommodate it.  So it may never actually get to denial, because the customer may not even ask once they understand how the system is operating on that day.

     So it wouldn't give you, I don't think, a real clear picture of ...

     MR. MORAN:  Thank you.  Now, Union Gas has indicated in its evidence that it wants title transfers to take place above ground, right, not in storage; correct?

     MS. PASSMORE:  That is correct.

     MR. MORAN:  And, as I understand it, it's because –- is it because of operational issues or is there some other explanation for that?

     MS. PASSMORE:  Well, if you go to the evidence, I believe there's several explanations for that, and the number one being there is a value in the title transfer.  And the marketplace for title transfers in Ontario is at Dawn, above ground.  The fact is that title transfers are not always notional.  Title transfers do cause a movement of gas at certain times, so that we need to support those as well.  There's a concern of arbitrage opportunities.  Title transfers can't take place between unequal contracts; therefore, a customer with a low deliverability title transferring underground to a customer with a high deliverability, now gaining access to a higher level service.  So Union has very distinct reasons why we believe it needs to happen above ground.

     MR. MORAN:  Do you agree that the reason the marketplace for title transfer is above ground is because you don't allow it below ground?

     MS. PASSMORE:  We believe the reason it's above ground is that is where the interconnecting pipelines, the gas being withdrawn from storage - both Michigan storage, Tecumseh storage, future other competitive storage - all meets and aggregates above ground at Dawn, and that's why that's where the marketplace is.

     MR. MORAN:  And in the list of items that you pointed to, am I correct in understanding that none of those are operational considerations?

     MS. PASSMORE:  Well, the operational consideration is the example of the instances where gas would have to move.  A title transfer is not always notional.

     MR. MORAN:  All right.  So there are two kinds of title transfers, then; there's the notional kind and the one that actually requires the movement of gas.  Correct?

     MS. PASSMORE:  There could be.

     MR. MORAN:  But you treat both of those exactly the same.

     MS. PASSMORE:  Yes, we do.

     MR. MORAN:  And so both of them will attract the same charges.

     MS. PASSMORE:  That's correct.

     MR. MORAN:  Even though one doesn't requirement movement of gas.


MS. PASSMORE:  As we discussed this morning, notional

services are the way the integrated North American market

work.  The customer receives value for that service.  They

get what they have paid for.  There is value to it.  Just

the same way as at many of our other services.  And we've

discussed this in front of the Board on several occasions,

the concept of notional versus contractual very physical.

MR. MORAN:  Are you aware of any other storage operators who offer in-storage title transfer?

     MS. PASSMORE:  I don't know of any in detail.

     MR. MORAN:  I'm not sure if that was a yes or a no. 

Does that mean you are aware that there are other storage

operators who offer in --

     MS. PASSMORE:  I would prefer not to speak anecdotal,

as far as what I understand takes place.

     MR. MORAN:  Okay.  Anecdotally, then, it sounds to me

like you've heard of other storage operators who might offer in-ground title transfer; is that fair?

     MS. PASSMORE:  Yes.

     MR. MORAN:  Have you followed up on that to examine or

take a look at the operations and how they work it?

     MS. PASSMORE:  I could tell you just from the anecdotal dialogue is that it is not firm.  It is done often on a -- it's very interruptible.  There's no commitment that you will get the service.

     MS. CAMERON:  I can add something to it.  There are

some storage providers in the U.S. who do offer in-field

title transfers.  This is still an interruptible service.  I mean, it is not -- they do not grant it -- every request is not satisfied.

     MR. MORAN:  How do you interrupt a notional transfer?

     MS. CAMERON:  It's at their discretion.  It is an

interruptible service, and the storage operator has the

discretion to not permit the title transfer.  They can

require that the gas is physically withdrawn, title

transferred above the ground, and then physically 

reinjected.

     MR. MORAN:  Okay, and have you undertaken any review of the circumstances under which something like that might

happen?

     MS. CAMERON:  No, we have not.

     MR. MORAN:  Okay, so it’s a high-level kind of

understanding?

     MS. CAMERON:  Yes.  Very much.  

     MR. MORAN:  If you could turn up tab 3, page 34.  First question is with respect to what you indicate starting at line 23, you list a number of interconnecting

pipelines.  Where does Trunkline interconnect with the

Ontario gas system?

     MS. CAMERON:  Trunkline does not interconnect with our system but is a supporting pipeline for Panhandle.       

MR. MORAN:  And then over on the other page, on line 2, you make a reference to some storage operators, Dawn,

Enbridge-Tecumseh pools, and in the future other third-party storage providers.  Who would those be?

     MR. ISHERWOOD:  The Board has recently had before them the Tribute storage pools up in the Goderich area.  As well, as NHP has had application before the Board in the Dawn area, to give you two examples.      

MR. MORAN:  And would you include Bluewater as well in that list?

     MR. ISHERWOOD:  Sure.   Bluewater, Washington 10 is another storage operation in Michigan as well.  That's quite active in the Dawn area.

     MR. MORAN:  If you could turn to tab 3, page 37.  

Starting on page 36, there's a discussion of an infranchise

service between T-service customers that are alike and

similar.  And then on page 37, at line 7, you say:

“Upholding the existing T1 structure, this service would be contracted through an authorization notice."

Could you provide some detail with respect to the

authorization notice process?

     MS. PASSMORE:  That's the same authorization process we spoke of earlier, where the customer requests to have the service take place. 

     MR. MORAN:  And it goes on to say:

"This is the current process for above-ground title transfers for T1 customers."

Sorry, when you say that this is what we talked about

earlier, we talked about DCQ diversions or suspensions,

that's what you were referring back to?

     MS. PASSMORE:  That's correct.

     MR. MORAN:  Okay.  And the authorization notice process also applies to the above-ground title transfer process as well?

     MS. PASSMORE:  That is correct.

     MR. MORAN:  And in the context of the time lines and

operational considerations, it works the same way for the

title transfer process as well?

     MS. PASSMORE:  Yes.

     MR. MORAN:  Has Union considered an option that would

involve inground title transfers that would have rules that

would address all the issues of concern that it identified

in its evidence and that you referred to a few minutes ago?

     For example, you expressed a concern about inground

title transfer between low-deliverability pools and 

high-deliverability pools.  Have you concerned an inground title transfer system that would address all of those concerns, such as that one?

     MS. PASSMORE:  As we had indicated in our evidence, if

the Board determines that that is an appropriate service,

then Union has proposed a service with parameters as

outlined on page 37 of 37.  It is Union's belief that there

is not a need for that service.

     MR. MORAN:  I see, so you want continue with the 

above-ground service but as an alternative you have proposed an inground service, but you're not actively pursuing approval of that?

     MS. PASSMORE:  That is correct.  

     MR. MORAN:  Have you given any consideration to title

transfer service being process through your nomination system and take advantage of the automation built into that?

     MS. PASSMORE:  No, not at this time.

     MR. MORAN:  Okay, moving to C1 storage.  How was the

rate range for C1 storage determined?

     MR. ISHERWOOD:  There is actually an interrogatory in the 2007 rate case that talks about how or why we're changing the rate range on C1 storage that might be of assistance.

     MR. MORAN:  All right.  Perhaps you could just

undertake, then, to file that in this proceeding.  And then, to the extent that it doesn't answer the question, perhaps you can add to the undertaking how it was determined.

     MS. SEBALJ:  I believe we're on Undertaking No. 9.

UNDERTAKING NO. 9:  FOR UNION TO provide how the rate range for C1 storage is determined

     MS. SEBALJ:  And that is, correct me if I am wrong,

Mr. Moran, to provide how the rate range for C1 storage is

determined?

     MR. MORAN:  Right.

      The maximum rate that is proposed, is that cost-based or market-based? 

     MR. ISHERWOOD:  It's market-based.

     MR. MORAN:  What Union service does TCPL use to provide STS service to Enbridge?

     MR. ISHERWOOD:  A good question for that panel.  I don't think any -- I don't think, but ...

     MR. MORAN:  How do you provide the nomination windows for that service?

     MR. ISHERWOOD:  It’s done through our GMS service, but it would be, actually, the end-user.  It would be GMI or Enbridge that would be the one nominating.  TCPL would take it as far as Parkway, and then Enbridge or GMI would nominate on Union to get the gas back to Dawn.  They do have other diversion rates on TCPL to get to Dawn, but failing that, they would use our system to get back to Dawn.     

MR. MORAN:  Are you able to provide an indication of what revenue you might forego if you allowed bumping through the evening nomination window?

     MR. ISHERWOOD:  I think we've addressed the bumping issue in our evidence by providing the F24-T service.  It's essentially a reservation of the capacity for the full day.

     MR. MORAN:  How about if you make transportation firm all day?

     MR. ISHERWOOD:  That's what F24-T does.

MR. MORAN:  And do you forego any revenue on the basis of that service? 

     MR. ISHERWOOD:  Sorry.  At tab 4, page 18 of 44.  I notice some of your line references are different than mine.  I don’t know why that would be.  But on my copy, it's line 20, page 18.  It says:

               "Assuming Union provides 250,000 gJs

per day of F24-T transportation service, the lost revenue is approximately $639,000."

     MR. MORAN:  Thank you.

     MR. MORAN:  Now, if I understand your evidence and what you indicated in response to earlier questions, you are prepared to consider additional nomination windows; correct?

     MR. ISHERWOOD:  If we had a consensus view on that, that's correct.

     MR. MORAN:  All right.  So it depends on whether there's a consensus view before you would decide to add additional nomination windows?

     MR. ISHERWOOD:  That's correct.

     MR. MORAN:  All right.  Now, in the context of being a facilitator and a leader, would it not make more sense simply to establish hourly nomination windows and let the customers figure out how they want to use that service, as opposed to having to work out a consensus amongst themselves about which ones they want to use?

     MR. ISHERWOOD:  I think ultimately, when you look at the proposal we've suggested, with the six additional windows, those windows have a two-hour gap between when you submit versus when they're effective.


MR. MORAN:  Right.


MR. ISHERWOOD:  You don't want to be in a position where you have windows overlapping each other.  You would be getting conflicting instructions from the various parties, whether it goes up or down or what's happening.  So, at a minimum, you wouldn't want to go hourly for that reason.  

As well, in the evening hours, it's our view that there's very little activity or need for nomination windows.  So, really, from the point of view of being efficient and effective in operations, what does the market really need?  And I think it is easy to get consensus.  I think we've had discussions at several broader-based meetings, and I think, whether it's through this process or after, if somebody came together as a group and came up with a nomination window, we'd be happy to add it.

     MR. MORAN:  Okay.  Operating on the understanding that the nomination window is effective two hours later, help me understand why it makes any difference if -- help me to understand how it overlaps.  If I nominate at 10 o'clock, knowing it's going to be effective at 12, and someone else nominates at 11 o'clock, knowing it's going to be effective at 1 o'clock, where's the overlap?

     MR. ISHERWOOD:  If you nominate at 10 o'clock and that results in me turning a compressor on at 11 o'clock for a 12 o’clock flow, and then at 11 o’clock, you nominate, No, I’m not starting, I don’t need that gas, so now you tell me to go down, I'll run a compressor for an hour that I didn’t need to operate.

     MR. MORAN:  All right.  So it's an operational issue?

     MR. ISHERWOOD:  It's an efficiency issue.  You get overlapping instructions.

     MR. MORAN:  So the concern is that somebody may nominate and then change their minds?

     MR. ISHERWOOD:  Or the conditions that they nominated for have changed.

     MR. MORAN:  A couple of questions on the F24-T service.  There seems to be a limitation on its availability.  Is that because it's only going to be available for expansion capacity?

     MR. ISHERWOOD:  It's actually a physical constraint.  What we are providing here is the ability to flow gas on short notice, i.e., two hours’ notice, and so the question back to our operations folks was, What kind of capability would you have in 2007 when that’s first required?  And the 500,000 is really an operational constraint.  

And just having said that, looking at the market for the 2007 power market, it’s probably one plant that would require one-fifth of that, maybe 150,000 gJs.  So, half a Bcf a day is more than sufficient for the market in ‘07.  And as we expand in ‘08 and beyond, that would ramp up.

     MR. MORAN:  Is there any limit on the amount of capacity for which Union could provide additional nomination windows if the existing bumping provisions are retained?

     MR. ISHERWOOD:  Sorry, ask the question again.  Sorry?

     MR. MORAN:  Is there any limit on the amount of capacity for which Union can provide additional nomination windows if the existing bumping provisions are retained?

     MR. ISHERWOOD:  The limitation we have to provide F24-T is the 500,000 gJs per day in 2007.

     MR. MORAN:  Based on firm all-day or two-hour nominations?

     MR. ISHERWOOD:  It's the same service.  F24-T, both of those are features of that service.  One is it's firm all day, and second is, the windows that we provide, the six additional windows, have a two-hour time differential between due and effective.

     MR. MORAN:  Which of those features causes the constraint?

     MR. ISHERWOOD:  Both.

     MR. MORAN:  They both do.  


MR. ISHERWOOD:  Sorry.  I'd say primarily it would be -– it would be the two-hour gap between the two.

     MR. MORAN:  If the F24-T contracts are based on the M12 schedule, why does Union retain fuel?

     MR. KITCHEN:  I'm not sure I understand the question. 

The M12 -- if you were taking M12 service, then there's fuel that will be incurred and you will either provide in kind or you will be charged a rate for it.  And that's the same under both the existing M12 and the F24-T.

     MR. MORAN:  So does that mean there's no additional fuel, then, as a result of the added-on F24-T?

     MR. ISHERWOOD:  No additional fuel between F24-T and 

M12.

     MR. MORAN:  Are you able to advise what the incremental costs would be of applying ten windows to all M12 contracts?

     MR. ISHERWOOD:  We have not looked at that at all. 

We've really looked at it from the point of view, what is the cost to provide a half a Bcf a day.  You certainly couldn't do the ten windows with 2 hours’ notice on all M12.  Our limit is half a Bcf a day.  It’s a physical constraint.  The capacity of that pipeline is much, much greater than that.

     MR. MORAN:  Right.  So the physical constraint might limit how many of those windows you could use up, but it doesn't necessarily limit the availability of those windows?


MR. ISHERWOOD:  It does.  It limits the two-hour gap between effective and due date or due time, that's the limiting factor.  As soon as you have that once, through all M12s, you couldn't do it.  The system would collapse.   

MR. MORAN:  Turning to the F24-S service,

can customers use the F24-S service contract to move gas to points other than Kirwall or Parkway.

     MS. CAMERON:  F24-S service is just a firm all-day

storage withdrawal service.  You would still need a

transportation contract to move that gas away from Dawn.

     MR. MORAN:  Could you use any contract, then?

     MS. CAMERON:  You would have to have firm rights on that contract.  Firm all day rights if you need to move it away from Dawn, on a middle of the day … 

     MR. MORAN:  Under the F24-S service, gas nominations

are scheduled on an equal hourly basis across the

remaining hours of the day.  Is there anything that would

prevent Union from allowing customers to nominate injections and withdrawals that varied by the hour?

     MS. CAMERON:  It is not able to provide that service.

     MR. MORAN:  And why is that?

     MR. ISHERWOOD:  The entire system is designed around

the NAESB standards so the whole rateable flow issue, I

said this morning.  So storage and injections/withdrawals are very much relying around the rateable flow from a point of view of nomination of scheduling.  I think some of the other services we talked about, especially the upstream balancing service, does some of that, in terms of converting a rateable flow at Dawn to a delivery at Parkway that is in a different pattern.

     MR. MORAN:  If you're able to provide a downstream

pipeline balancing service at Parkway, is there anything

that prevents you from offering a firm intraday park and loan service at Dawn?

     MR. ISHERWOOD:  We'd looked at it.

     MR. MORAN:  I gave you a document before we started,

and it consists of four scenarios, four power generation

days.  One for February 1, 2005, May 1, 2005, October 1,

2005, and July 1, 2005.  And what's set out on this

table is the pre-dispatch signal for each hour on each of

those days.  

I will send an electronic version over today.

     This is going to be an undertaking in any event.  Oh,

here's another one.  

     So there's a column for each day showing a 

pre-dispatch signal, a column showing the gas purchased per

megawatts produced and a column with a notional energy cost, and then the column that sets out the hourly Ontario electricity price.  Then, based on that, there are hourly gas imbalances.

    I wonder if you could, for each of those days,

indicate what charges would be incurred by the customer,

firstly using your existing T1 service, or your existing

services, and secondly, under the proposed new services? 

And if you could identify all of the costs, including

reservation charges, variable commodity charges, storage

costs, fuel and unaccounted-for gas costs, imbalance and

overrun penalties, and any other charges under normal-day

conditions and for an OFO day.

      And I take it for the new services, if you could

assume that the customer is either in the top block or the second top block, not likely that it would be in the

third or fourth because it is a large user.

     MR. SHORTS:  Again, some of the difficulties that we

had with question 35 this morning was that, again, there's a lot of information we need to know:  Contracted demand;  the absolute level of that; firm or interruptible; 

whether including compressor fuel or not; deliverability of

inventory to actually calculate the costs.  So I’m not sure where …

     MR. KITCHEN:  When the customer's directly connected to the transmission main.

     MR. MORAN:  I guess at the end of the day, I don't care what assumptions you want to make as long as it's 

consistently done through the piece.  In terms of the

contract demand, just assume that there's a contract command that falls into the top tier --

     MR. LESLIE:  Mr. Moran, if I can interrupt, we've

agreed to meet with Board Staff and Enbridge representatives tonight to discuss how we might most usefully respond to Board Staff's question number 35.  I suggest maybe you come to that meeting and we'll try to combine all this in one place.

     MR. MORAN:  Sure.  I don't have any problem with that 

proposal.

      And I have one last question.  The Greenfield Energy

Centre, with its own pipeline connected to the Vector

pipeline, would you consider Greenfield to be an

infranchise or exfranchise customer?

     MR. ISHERWOOD:  If it's not using a T1 service or an

infranchise service, M7 being a bundled version, then it

would be an exfranchise customer.

     MR. MORAN:  Thanks.  Thank you very much.

     MS. SEBALJ:  Thank you, Mr. Moran.  I think we're about five minutes before the scheduled afternoon break.  So while we do the transition from Mr. Moran to Mr. Thompson, why don't we take a brief, can I say, 10-minute break, and come back at ten to three.  

Thanks.

--- Recess taken at 2:40 p.m.

--- On resuming at 2:57 p.m.

     MS. SEBALJ:  All right.  Go ahead, Mr. Thompson.


CROSS-EXAMINATION BY MR. THOMPSON:

     MR. THOMPSON:  Thanks very much.  

Panel, I think what I'll do is just work backwards.  A few questions Mr. Moran asked, I have some follow-ups.  A few questions the Staff support team asked, I have a few follow-ups.  And then I have the IGUA/AMPCO game plan.  So I would be about an hour, I would think, perhaps a little longer, but only if Mr. Isherwood speaks more quickly.

     So the last discussion you were having with Mr. Moran with respect to this document that he put to you, and I understand you had further discussions about it, and he asked some questions, as I understood it, about T1 and the other services.  And I just want to clarify, make sure I understand, am I correct that the F24-T, F24-S, UPBS and the DPBS are exfranchise services only?

     MS. CAMERON:  Yes, that's correct.

     MR. THOMPSON:  So they don't apply to any users infranchise.

     MS. CAMERON:  Infranchise users have infranchise services, yes.

     MR. THOMPSON:  Which would be T1, U7 or M7; am I right?

     MS. CAMERON:  That's correct.

     MR. ISHERWOOD:  That's correct.

     MR. THOMPSON:  And in the north, it would be Rate

20, Rate 25, and Rate 100.

MR. ISHERWOOD:  That’s correct.

MR. THOMPSON:  Plus the CBS and the north -- what you call the northern storage service, or something like that?

     MR. ISHERWOOD:  That's correct.

     MR. THOMPSON:  Have I got the phrase right?  All right.  Thanks.

     Now, just on the F24-T, there's discussion in the evidence, and you had this discussion this morning, about a reservation of capacity of 500,000 gJs, if I understood the evidence correctly.  

     MR. ISHERWOOD:  That's correct.

     MR. THOMPSON:  Have I got that straight?  And you mentioned earlier that there is 153 pJs of storage capacity.  Is this reservation of capacity out of those assets?

     MR. ISHERWOOD:  Just to correct, I think the storage is 163, 1-6-3.

     MR. THOMPSON:  I'm sorry.

     MR. ISHERWOOD:  But the two are different assets.  The storage is, obviously, storage; 163 is storage.  The 500,000 gJs per day is really a transportation reserve between Dawn and Parkway/Kirkwall.

     MR. THOMPSON:  But is that transportation capacity currently allocated to exfranchise users?

     MR. ISHERWOOD:  Actually, that capacity doesn't exist today.  It will be built between the ‘06 and the ‘07 open seasons.

     MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  But it's being built for exfranchise customers --

     MR. ISHERWOOD:  That's correct.

     MR. THOMPSON:  -- it's not coming out of infranchise customers.

     MR. ISHERWOOD:  That's correct.

     MR. THOMPSON:  Thank you.  And then coming back to the storage capacity of 163 in total, I wrote down, I think I have this right, but was it 71 and a half for infranchise?

     MR. ISHERWOOD:  That was for exfranchise.

     MR. THOMPSON:  Exfranchise, okay.  And so the balance

is infranchise?

     MR. ISHERWOOD:  That's correct.

     MR. THOMPSON:  So that math is, what, 81 and a half pJs allocated infranchise?

     MR. ISHERWOOD:  Checking here.

     MR. THOMPSON:  No, it's 91.

     MS. CAMERON:  91 and a half.

     MR. THOMPSON:  91 and a half.  And is that then regarded as long term -- the equivalent as being long-term contracted to the infranchise customers?

     MR. KITCHEN:  I hate to bring this up, but some of that 92 would be system integrity space, about 9.7 pJs.  So you would have to take that off your 92, and then the rest is there for infranchise services.

     MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  And the system integrity is for

both in and ex?

     MR. KITCHEN:  In and ex, yes.

     MR. THOMPSON:  But the balance that's infranchise, then, is it as if it were contracted long term for infranchise customers?  In other words, can it be taken away?

     MR. ISHERWOOD:  Union Gas does a gas supply plan annually where we look at the use of infranchise/exfranchise space.  So depending on the outcome of that plan, we would allocate between.  But, to be honest, it doesn't change much from year to year.

     MR. THOMPSON:  So, subject to that annual allocation, it's locked in for infranchise?

     MR. ISHERWOOD:  Infranchise gets priority.

     MR. THOMPSON:  Now, for the remainder that's exfranchise, the 71 and a half, how much of that is under contract?

     MR. ISHERWOOD:  All of it.

     MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  And can you tell me how much of it is under long-term contract and how much is under short-term contract?

     MR. ISHERWOOD:  Actually, 71.5 is all that’s considered to be long-term space. 

MR. THOMPSON:  So Union, as we sit here today, does not have any uncontracted storage capacity?

     MR. ISHERWOOD:  We have no uncontracted long-term space.

     MR. THOMPSON:  Well, is the 163 all the space you have, or is there more?

     MR. ISHERWOOD:  To the extent that the infranchise customers don't use space during the summer, if we determine, for example, they're not using it all over the summer, we may release more space to the short-term market.   But I guess that's really a function of optimizing the system.

     MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  So how much is under short-term contract?  How much of the infranchise is being used to support TS, I guess, is really the question?

     MR. ISHERWOOD:  Again, infranchise takes precedent or takes priority first.

     MR. THOMPSON:  Right.

     MR. ISHERWOOD:  So it would only be released to the exfranchise market if they don't need it.

     MR. THOMPSON:  How much is under short-term contract, as we sit here today?

     MR. ISHERWOOD:  I don't know the number.

     MR. THOMPSON:  Could you undertake to get that for me?

     MS. SEBALJ:  That's Undertaking No. 10 from Union.

     MR. ISHERWOOD:  Just to define “short term”, I guess. This is storage less than a year, basically?

     MR. THOMPSON:  Well, you have a definition, don't you?

     MR. ISHERWOOD:  Less than a year.

     MR. THOMPSON:  Is it less than a year or less that two years?

     MR. ISHERWOOD:  No, it's one year or less, I believe, for a short term.

     MR. THOMPSON:  Well, whatever it is, that's a phrase that's used for the Board's purposes.  For your blanket storage approvals.

     MR. ISHERWOOD:  That's different, though.

     MR. THOMPSON:  That's different.

MR. ISHERWOOD:  Right.  The blanket for the Board is a two-year –- sorry, a 17-month blanket.  But how we differentiate between long term and short term is at the one-year break.

     MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  But does the --

     MR. ISHERWOOD:  Actually, I believe that was filed as part of the ‘07 rate case.  So we'll refile that in our interrogatories as well.

     MR. THOMPSON:  Anyway, you know what I'm after.


MR. ISHERWOOD:  Yes.


MR. THOMPSON:  Thanks.

     MS. SEBALJ:  For the record, what you're after is to provide the amount of the exfranchise that's under short-term contract?

     MR. THOMPSON:  It's all done on the infranchise side of the ledger, as I understand the panel.

MR. ISHERWOOD:  But it's sold to the exfranchise market.  So I think the question is, how much short-term space do you currently have under contract in the exfranchise market?

     MR. THOMPSON:  Using the infranchise allocation of storage.  Am I right?

     MR. ISHERWOOD:  I'm not as -- generally speaking, that's true.


MR. THOMPSON:  Thank you.

UNDERTAKING NO. 10:  FOR UNION TO PROVIDE THE AMOUNT OF SHORT-TERM SPACE CURRENTLY UNDER CONTRACT IN THE EXFRANCHISE MARKET, USING THE INFRANCHISE ALLOCATION OF STORAGE

     MR. THOMPSON:  Now, the below-ground title transfer, you had a discussion with Mr. Moran about that, and at the end of the day, he drew you to, or you drew his attention to, your evidence at tab 3, I think it was pages 36 and 37, where you were pulled, kicking and screaming, to a below-ground title transfer possibility.  And my question is, is that consistent -- what you have there at pages 36 and 37 with respect to the below-ground title transfers, is that consistent with the position of Enbridge on this point?  Or do you know?

     MS. PASSMORE:  To my understanding, it is consistent with Enbridge.

     MR. THOMPSON:  And your evidence indicates you had a number of discussions with Enbridge with respect to the issues here.  Was that a hot topic of debate between the two of you?

     MS. PASSMORE:  No, it was not.

     MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  Thank you.

     Now, you've used this phrase a number of times about your “integrated system”.  Do I understand that to mean that the storage, transmission, and distribution system is considered by Union to be integrated?

     MR. KITCHEN:  Yes.

     MR. THOMPSON:  And what does the word "integrated" mean?

     MR. KITCHEN:  It means, in terms of our operations, that we use all of the system; that to provide services, we may not use necessarily -- we may not provide it through physical flow.  It may be supplied through back-haul; it may be supplied at the east end.  It's -- we look at the -– we balance of the system as a whole.

     MR. ISHERWOOD:  A really good example is the Dawn storage operation.  It's 20 individual pools, but we actually operate it as if it were one, essentially.  It's very much interrelated.

     MR. THOMPSON:  But that's storage pools and then we got the transmission and then we got the distribution.

     MR. ISHERWOOD:  It's all integrated together, the way

Mark explained it was a good one.  I would just add that to the extent we are trying to serve a customer in Hamilton, and we have that measurement data coming into our gas control room, we’re using the whole system, the distribution, the transmission and storage to serve that customer.

     MR. THOMPSON:  And are the operations of the entire system centralized in one place?

     MR. ISHERWOOD:  The gas control room is in Chatham.

     MR. THOMPSON:  And that covers everything?

     MR. ISHERWOOD:  It does.

     MR. THOMPSON:  Back to -- Mr. Moran was asking you some questions, Mr. Kitchen.  I think it was about the design of T1, and there is a lot of evidence on that.  I think it's at tab 3, pages 12 through to 28.  I had a couple of follow-ups on that.  And there was some discussion about cost allocation.

     MR. KITCHEN:  Mm-hmm.

     MR. THOMPSON:  And do I understand correctly that you

haven't changed anything in the way you've allocated costs

to the class?

     MR. KITCHEN:  That's correct.

     MR. THOMPSON:  And so what's been changed, though, is the design of rates serving the class?

     MR. KITCHEN:  Right, the recovery of the costs.  What we did, and maybe this will help people, is that we, once we determined based on the scatter where we thought the logical break points were within the rate class, we looked at the customers within each block and tried to determine what costs we were incurring to provide service to the block.  And that became the basis for the rate.

     MR. THOMPSON:  Well, if you go to the chart at page 21, that helps me, I think.  A picture's worth a thousand 

words, according to Confucius.  And I see there for -- well, there are dotted lines dividing this box into four blocks.

     MR. KITCHEN:  Yes.

     MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  And the existing rate is two

Blocks; am I correct?  And the block, the first little 

dotted line is block one.  That's right at the bottom up.

     MR. KITCHEN:  That's correct.

     MR. THOMPSON:  And then the rest, block two takes it to the top.

     MR. KITCHEN:  That's correct.

     MR. THOMPSON:  And this four-block response was the

reaction to the Board's decision in the Greenfield case.

     MR. KITCHEN:  This is our response to the Greenfield

energy decision.

     MR. THOMPSON:  Now, what I'd like to just ask you is,

if a customer bypasses, actually leaves this class, what

happens to the costs?  What happens to the allocation

factors?

     MR. KITCHEN:  If the customer leaves the class in.

     MR. THOMPSON:  There's actually a bypass.

     MR. KITCHEN:  An existing customer taking service

within T1 would bypass us, leave us?

     MR. THOMPSON:  Leaves.

     MR. KITCHEN:  Well, it's obviously -- first of all, we

wouldn't recover the revenue from that customer in which case the next time we set rates, we would need to recover the allocated costs from somebody.

     MR. THOMPSON:  But am I correct that the, in

effect, the cost responsibility, the allocation factors for

the T1 class would reduce?

     MR. KITCHEN:  Yes.

     MR. THOMPSON:  Compared to the classes, all else being

equal.

     MR. KITCHEN:  That's correct.

     MR. THOMPSON:  And the costs associated with the

service that was being taken by the departed customer, would they get spread across the entire system?

     MR. KITCHEN:  Yes.  To the extent that they weren't

Variable, they would get spread across the entire system.

     MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  Now this design that you've

come up with indicates that it's going to have a significant impact on the smaller T1 customers, 40 percent, I believe, is the delivery rate impact; have I got that straight?

     MR. KITCHEN:  That's correct.  It will take them closer to cost.

     MR. THOMPSON:  Well, it will, it will take them

somewhere, I'll tell you.

      I have a couple of questions.  One is, did you

give any thought to phasing this in over four years?

     MR. KITCHEN:  No, we didn't.  Well, I shouldn't say

that.  We thought about -- we didn't look at the rate 

impact.  I'm just not sure how we phase-in a change from a

declining block rate structure to a stepped block rate

structure; you're either in or you're out.  I don't

see how you could be in between.

     MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  Well, let me ask you this.

     If you had kept with two blocks -- well, let's start it this way.

      If you had started with three blocks, i.e., the current first block remains the same, the second block is as you have proposed it but instead of having two more you just had one more.  Could you undertake to tell me what that would do to the rates and the rate impacts?

     MR. KITCHEN:  I'm not sure I understand.  You would

like to see, the first block stays at the 140.

     MR. THOMPSON:  Right

MR. KITCHEN:  And then where would the second block?

     MR. THOMPSON:  It would be as you proposed it so that

the second one, instead of having two blocks above the line

that's above 400, that would only be one block.

     MR. KITCHEN:  So one block above the 420.  So we

would eliminate the block at 1100, 11...

     MR. THOMPSON:  Right.  That's my question.  Could you

show the impacts of that by way of undertaking response? 

MR. KITCHEN:  Yes, I think we can do the analysis to show that.

     MR. THOMPSON:  And then the second scenario I'd ask you to display by undertaking response is two blocks but with the break not at 148 but at 400.  Would you undertake to do that as part of the same undertaking?

     MR. KITCHEN:  Yes.

     MR. THOMPSON:  Thank you.

     MS. SEBALJ:  So that's Undertaking No. 11.  Just for clarity, the second part -- it's a two-part undertaking, the first part being that basically you eliminate the fourth block on chart 1, on tab 3, page 21?

     MR. THOMPSON:  At the top.

     MS. SEBALJ:  And the fourth block at the top, and

determine the impacts on the rates.

      And the second being, there's two blocks and when you

say with the break at 400, you mean the break at 422,610?

     MR. THOMPSON:  Right.

     MR. KITCHEN:  Sorry.  I missed the clarification.  Can

you say that again?

     MS. SEBALJ:  On the second part, so this will be

Undertaking No. 11(B), which is to create two blocks with the only break being at 422,610 MQ per day?

     MR. KITCHEN:  Yes.  And just to be clear, do you mean

stick with the same rate structure as a stepped block rate

structure?

     MR. THOMPSON:  Yes, I mean one commodity charge.

     MR. KITCHEN:  One commodity charge and a single demand

charge for the entire CD.

UNDERTAKING NO. 11(A):  FOR UNION TO ELIMINATE THE FOURTH BLOCK ON CHART 1, TAB 3, PAGE 21, AT THE TOP AND DETERMINE THE IMPACTS ON THE RATES 

UNDERTAKING NO. 11(B):  FOR UNION to create two blocks, with the only break being at 422,610 MQ per day
     MR. THOMPSON:  Okay, thanks.  Now, one other question that came out of Mr. Moran's discussion about T1. 

You were having a discussion about multiple locations, you

recall that?  And there was a debate as to whether different owners would make a difference.  You got into agency arrangements, and you headed for the cover of lawyers.

      But my question relates to two things.  There was a discussion in your testimony about this multiple

location issue.  I think it's at tab 3, page 5, of the middle of the page.  Yes, it starts around line 10 and carries on, and you use the example of multiple plant locations being served on T1 with the one plant in Milton, and another miles way in Chatham, and Hamilton and Burlington.  These arrangements are available, are they?

     MS. PASSMORE:  Yes.  That's currently how T1 works.

     MR. THOMPSON:  Right.  And if you go to the rate

schedule, which is at tab A, you'll see under "Applicability," last paragraph:

               "For the purposes of qualifying for a rate

               class, the total quantities of gas consumed,

or expected to be consumed, on the customer’s contiguous properties will be used irrespective of the number of meters installed."

Does the multiple location policy that you're applying in practice fall within this language?  Is that the authority for it?

     MR. SHORTS:  What you have to remember is that there are really two components to the T1 service.  One is the redelivery or the distribution service, the transport service, to the end-use facility, and the beginning part of that is basically the storage and the gas coming in.

     What you'll find is that the contiguous property relates to the redelivery points for the various facilities.

     MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  So what is the definition of "contiguous property"?

     MR. SHORTS:  Basically, on same property with no break in that property via public right-of-way, et cetera.

     MR. THOMPSON:  No, but how -- I mean, I'm understanding I can get it under one contract.  I can get deliveries at Milton and Chatham.  There's a little bit of space between those two properties.

     MR. SHORTS:  There is some contiguous, yes.  But what you're mixing in there is the storage component versus the redelivery -- each redelivery point has its own contractual parameters on the redelivery, a contracted demand to serve that, whether it be firm or interruptible.  That is where the contiguous property definition comes into play, not --they can be under the same T1 contract for balancing purposes.  But from a redelivery perspective, each individual unit has to be -- each individual facility has to be on contiguous property for the calculation of the volume and the services for the property or location.

     MR. THOMPSON:  That particular property.

     MR. KITCHEN:  Another way of saying it, to qualify for the rate schedule, you can't put –- add your volumes together from your Chatham and your Milton sites to meet the eligibility criteria of 5 million cubic metres.  You have to meet them individually.  But it's all under the same contract.

     MR. THOMPSON:  Now, does that apply in the north as well?  In other words, if someone has a big property on one side of the street and a big property on the other side of the street, as long as the volumes meet the criteria of the -- each property meets the applicable rate schedule, that's okay?  Do you get my drift?

     MR. SHORTS:  Yes.  The rule isn't any different.  The facilities that are being served need to be on the contiguous property.  They may be able to use CBS in a joint manner, like the T1 storage, if they're in the same zone in the north.

     MR. THOMPSON:  Where did I put my Moran sheet?  The other point that came up in his questioning of you, and I think it came up with others as well, is this business of deliverability in excess of 1.2 percent.  And you indicated that -- I think you indicated there were some T1 customers that had deliverability from storage and into storage in excess of 1.2 percent.

     Just stopping there, did I understand that correctly?

     MR. SHORTS:  Yes, that's correct.

     MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  And so if they're 1.2 percent or less, their cost would be 31 cents per gJ, roughly?

     MR. KITCHEN:  Yes.

     MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  And so if a T1 customer wants, let's say, 3 percent instead of 1.2, how does that get reflected in the contract and the price?  Do we have 1.2 percent at cost and the difference at something else?  Or how does it work?

     MR. SHORTS:  Yes, they would have 1.2 percent deliverability under the T1 contract.  They would then need to have a supplemental service added on top for anything higher at a market-based rate.

     MR. THOMPSON:  So it's actually a separate contract?  Or is it a supplemental service?

     MR. SHORTS:  It's a supplemental service.

     MR. THOMPSON:  And the authority for the supplemental service to infranchise customers is what?

     MR. SHORTS:  If you look at appendix A, page 2 of 5, the short-term storage and balancing service, because essentially we would equate that on a short-term basis and re-contract for it if the assets were available.

     MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  And in determining the price for that increment, if you will, of deliverability, how is it determined?  What's the market option that is considered?  Everybody's looking at one another.

     MR. ISHERWOOD:  They're all looking at me, I think.

     The market option for deliverability is, when buying gas from a producer or a marketer, you have a choice of taking it out of storage today at a higher volume or buying a service to get it out of storage.  That service could be from Union or it could be from other parties.  So there are lots of options for deliverability.

     MR. THOMPSON:  So it's the commodity market, the spot commodity market, in effect?

     MR. ISHERWOOD:  It’s part of it, or an alternate storage provider could be another part of it.

     MR. THOMPSON:  I guess that's what we don't understand.

     Give me a “for instance”.  Who would be an alternative storage provider for the added deliverability?  You’re talking about new storage with higher deliverability, is that --

     MR. ISHERWOOD:  Or it could be existing storage with other providers.  It could be somebody in Michigan.  There's a couple large players in Michigan that do market-based storage.  I think in the Enbridge evidence they talk about developing high-deliverability storage.

     MR. THOMPSON:  Thank you.  I'll move on.  

I now have some follow-ups with respect to some of the questions the Board's support staff asked.  

The first one was with respect to question 2.  You

were asked about how large a demand shift could be, a sudden demand shift could be accommodated.  Do you recall that?

     MR. ISHERWOOD:  Yes, I do.

     MR. THOMPSON:  And my notes are that you responded by referring to the F24-T reservation of 500,000 gJs.

     MR. ISHERWOOD:  That's correct.

     MR. THOMPSON:  But I'd like to understand.  That reservation is there for people who want -- who actually contract for the F24-T service; is that right?

     MR. ISHERWOOD:  Yes, I think where the question was going was, there is a perception that the power market will have large swings on a day or across the week.  So the F24-T service was really designed to accommodate and to provide for those kinds of swings on the system.  If you don't look at the power market, you look at the existing market as you know it today, with heat-sensitive loads, some industrial loads, et cetera, the system is designed today to meet all firm loads.

     MR. THOMPSON:  I think we understand that.  But what concerns us is what if one of the power -– one of these new power generators doesn't opt for the F24-T service and comes on -- my understanding is they suck a lot of gas out of the system.  And so the question is, in that scenario, how much of a sudden swing can the system tolerate before it fails?  At Parkway, let's start at Parkway.

     MR. ISHERWOOD:  It depends, but I think it's really up to the operator that has the power plant attached to it to ensure that the customer always has the proper supply at line.  And I know there are some provisions on U.S. pipelines where they actually install control valves – it’s quite common - for that very reason.  So if the supply that’s coming in on the Vector pipeline as well, if the supply is not arranged and not there, that valve would be closed.

     MR. THOMPSON:  So that's cutting them off if they haven't --

     MR. ISHERWOOD:  Or not turning them on if it’s not -- it's, you know, the half-full or half-empty argument.

     MR. THOMPSON:  Is that part of your proposal?

     MR. ISHERWOOD:  The F24-T, this is one of the issues we have in terms of providing a service that's two pipelines away.  We don't have a control valve at the Enbridge site, we don't have a measurement at the Enbridge site.  We really do rely upon Enbridge to manage that account.

     MR. THOMPSON:  Okay, well, I'll come back to this in a

moment.  Let's take an example of a power generator on your

system, in other words, they're not two pipelines away, they're on your system.

      And for whatever reason, that power generator doesn't

subscribe to F24-T but turns on and takes what it needs to

start up, let's say it's 50,000 gJs a day at Parkway.  Can

the system tolerate that?

     MR. ISHERWOOD:  It's no different than an

industrial start-up suddenly as well.  If an industrial is

down and forecast to be zero and they suddenly start-up, it's no different than that, but I'll let Chris add to that.

     MR. SHORTS:  All I was going to add was that if we assume the customer is firm, then as Mark had mentioned before, the infranchise firm services have firm all day already.  So essentially the assets would be …

     MR. THOMPSON:  All right, let me move on, then.  There

was some discussion with Staff, I think it might be question 5.  This was about the IESO scheduling process.  And that was tab 2, page 21 and following.

      Now, am I correct that what you're describing here at

pages 21 and 22 is the extent to which the variability of

gas demand by the power generator is affected by the IESO

scheduling process?

     MR. SHORTS:  Essentially, this evidence section is to

provide some broad general comments in regards to how the

IESO's scheduling process impacts the predictability of the

load.

     MR. THOMPSON:  Right.  And what is it telling us about

the predictability of the load?

     MR. SHORTS:  Essentially what it's saying is that, in

general, what we're finding is that the predictability of

the load has been getting better over time.  With the

introduction of some of the new services, the day-ahead

commitment process, as well as the potential for the 

day-ahead market, we expect that predictability to become

better and we also expect it to become sooner.

     MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  So it's not addressing the

volatility of the electricity price as a result of this

process?

     MR. SHORTS:  No --

     MR. THOMPSON:  At the margin?

     MR. SHORTS:  It has nothing to do with the price, it's

really just dealing with the gas system's ability to manage

the gas-fired generation, both now and going forward.

     MR. THOMPSON:  And do the natural gas-fired generators

have to generate?  In other words, can they look at what's

happening in this IESO scheduling process and simply stay

off line?

     MR. SHORTS:  It really is going to depend on the kind

of agreement that they have.  If they were in the day-ahead

commitment process, they are basically making a commitment

to operate.

      There will definitely be situations in which you can't always predict what's going to happen.  There will be

potential generators being knocked off-line for reasons

beyond their control, whether physical...

      What we're trying to say, just in general those don't

happen all that often, and that the thing -- the market is

becoming more predictable over time.  

     MR. THOMPSON:  I guess my question is can they elect to stay off-line?  And in effect sell their gas into the gas market?

     MR. SHORTS:  Certainly, depending on the arrangement

they have, and we have seen customers who have certainly

chose not to produce electricity but sell their gas off

instead.

     MR. THOMPSON:  And doesn't that create increased

volatility in both the gas market and the electricity 

market if they do that?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  It may affect the pricing in these

two markets but this evidence is really addressing how

predictable is the load coming on tomorrow?  What we're trying to paint a picture here is there is some level of predictability today, and going forward it will get better.

     MR. THOMPSON:  Well, are you concerned about the 

pricing in those markets?  Are you concerned about the

volatility?

     MR. ISHERWOOD:  We have no evidence on the pricing of

those two markets?

MR. THOMPSON:  Well, but are you concerned

about it?  Is there something that can be done through the

gas utility that could assist in this -- in preventing this

volatility?

     MR. ISHERWOOD:  We've really given it no thought, to be honest, in terms of this evidence and what we've filed here today.

     MR. THOMPSON:  I've been through most of this here.

      Oh, yeah.  Mr. Moran asked you, and this also came up

with Board support staff counsel, the cost base for 1.2

percent, 31 cents per gJ;  5 percent, 83 cents per gJ; and 10 percent, $1.51 -- $1.51 per gJ, I think I've got those right.

      And there was some questions about the market and you

made reference to some interrogatories, responses that had

been filed in the 2007 case.

      My question is can you tell us what the spread is

between these cost-based prices -- the approximate spread,

and the market price to date?

     MR. ISHERWOOD:  I think the interrogatories will

provide – the one undertaking we took earlier will give some of that information.   It gives some high-level ranges.

     MR. THOMPSON:  Well, can I take it the market's

higher?

     MR. ISHERWOOD:  The market's higher.

     MR. THOMPSON:  Thank you.  And then there were some

questions about -- these were the questions 27, 30, and 32,

about these charges for UPBS, DPBS, and F24-S.  And you

said they were market priced because they were based on assets that supported exfranchise services as I understood your answer.

     MR. ISHERWOOD:  That's correct.

     MR. THOMPSON:  Now, are those assets in rate base?  

     MR. ISHERWOOD:  Yes, they are.

     MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  And can you undertake to give me the cost-based prices for each of these services?

     MR. KITCHEN:  The challenge I have is that, for example, in the DPBS, which is essentially a park and loan at Parkway, I'm not sure how you would calculate a cost based rate for that service.

     MR. THOMPSON:  Well, could you give me the undertaking?  And if you can't, you can tell me why you can't, in the undertaking response, for each of these services.  Is that the best way to deal with it?

     MR. KITCHEN:  Yes, I think so.

     MR. THOMPSON:  Thank you.

     MS. SEBALJ:  If we could mark that as Undertaking

No. 12, and as I understand it, it's what are the cost-based prices for UPBS, DPBS, and F24-S.

UNDERTAKING NO. 12:  FOR UNION TO PROVIDE THE COST-BASED PRICES FOR UPBS, DPBS, AND F24-S

     MR. THOMPSON:  Right.  I suppose we should add to it F24T as well.  That's maybe already covered.

     MR. ISHERWOOD:  That already is cost-of-service.

     MR. THOMPSON:  Oh, that is cost-of-service.

And then there were some questions, 29, 31, and 33, again, about these same three services and their impacts.  And the text talked about affecting interruptible activity.  Do you recall that phrase?

     MS. CAMERON:  Yes, I do.

     MR. THOMPSON:  And my question is, interruptible activity for whom?  Does it affect end-use, infranchise interruptible customers, or are we talking about storage?

     MS. CAMERON:  It does not affect activity to an end-use facility plant.

     MR. THOMPSON:  Thank you.  Okay.  So that's Mr. Moran and Board Staff.  Now here comes the game plan.

     Just a few context points, and I'll try and do this as quickly as I can.  At tab 1, page 3, you have a list of specific approvals that you're seeking in this case with respect to rates -– some rate changes for M12 and C1.  There's a request for some cost-allocation, as I understand it, approvals, and then the request for approval of the changes to T1.

     Stopping there, you're seeking specific rate approvals in this case?

     MR. ISHERWOOD:  That's correct.

     MR. THOMPSON:  Whereas Enbridge treats this proceeding as sort of a concepts proceeding and then we go back for fine-tuning of rates in a rates proceeding.  Was that a topic that you discussed with Enbridge in your dealings with them?

     MR. ISHERWOOD:  Not a lot.  Our interpretation of the Procedural Order was to come forward with specific rate proposals.

     MR. THOMPSON:  All right, and that's, I think, a fair interpretation.  But from a mechanics perspective, would you have any objection if we kept the concepts and put the rates -- after the concepts were debated here, put the rates back into a subset of the rates case?

     MR. ISHERWOOD:  I think part of the logistical problems we have is our ‘07 rates case, actually, the testimony, the hearing part of that, actually happens before the NGEIR hearing part.

     MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  Thank you.  So you're looking at this as the only place to get your rates finalized, is ...

     MR. ISHERWOOD:  That's correct.

     MR. THOMPSON:  Now, there's one piece of evidence in the rate case --

     MR. KITCHEN:  Mr. Thompson, just before we go on, I want to make one little comment on Mark's answer to the last question.  

Right now the T1 rate changes are based on the proposed ‘07 costs, so to the extent that the Board finds that those cost levels or that deficiency needs to be adjusted, then that would be reflected in the rate change.

     MR. THOMPSON:  Just on those proposed changes to T1, they weren't made in the rate case, were they?  They first surfaced in this case.

     MR. KITCHEN:  That's correct.

     MR. THOMPSON:  Is there a notice problem there in terms of ratepayers?  They really haven't received official notice of these rate changes.  Has anything been done informally to notify all T1s?

     MR. SHORTS:  We've had some discussions with a number of T1 customers about this change.

     MR. THOMPSON:  No, but has -- I think there's some of them in IGUA, big ones and small ones.  But has there been a general notice to them, a letter from Union saying, We have proposed changes to your rate; and, if approved, it's going to go up 40 percent?

     MR. SHORTS:  I'm not aware of a general notice that's gone out yet on the proposed rates.  That's something we would have -- we would be in the process, I would guess, of doing right now.

     MR. THOMPSON:  Well, I suggest you give it some thought.  It might be helpful to let them know.

     Okay.  Now, one other thing that's in the rate case that sort of has been deferred to this case is this issue of -- and it depends not so much on the rates to power generators but this storage forbearance issue, but you talk in the rate case about asking the Board to allocate the premium above cost-based storage rates to the shareholder.  And I'm just trying to understand when and where is that issue going to be heard?  It's behind the decision in this case, but when does it come back to the agenda, and where?  Can you help me?  Do you want to give me an undertaking on that?  Would that be the best way?

     MR. KITCHEN:  It's not really my --

     MR. LESLIE:  Mr. Thompson, it's my understanding that that will be dealt with as part of this proceeding in the second phase.  But why don't we give the undertaking.

     MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  Yes, all right.  So you're going to file some evidence on May the 1st as well.  It's going to be the grand -- talk about the big bang.  

     MS. SEBALJ:  So do we have an Undertaking No. 13 there, or are we deferring it to the May Technical Conference?

     MR. LESLIE:  Well, I think the undertaking is that we'll let Mr. Thompson know if what I just said is wrong.  That is, Mr. Thompson wants to know where we're going to deal with the proposals, if they relate to the allocation of any differences between market cost, whether it be a premium or a loss, I suppose, and my understanding is that would be dealt with in the second phase of this proceeding.  And we'll let you know if I'm wrong about that.

UNDERTAKING NO. 13:  FOR UNION TO ADVISE IF PROPOSALS WILL NOT BE DEALT WITH IN PHASE TWO OF THIS PROCEEDING 

[Note:  Undertaking was answered at page 197 of transcript and removed from undertaking list]

     MR. THOMPSON:  Thank you.

     Okay.  Let's turn, if we might, to tab 2, pages 14 and

15, and this is, again, coming back to this topic of unexpected changes in supply or demand.

     Over on page 15, you talk about the system being compromised:

“If the system is compromised, Union could be

forced to curtail firm system loads and affect the system recovery, which could jeopardize public safety and have significant economic consequences on Union's customers’ interconnecting pipelines and Union.”

And I don't know if you're aware of this, but there's a discussion in the Enbridge evidence about what happens if the gas system goes down somewhere, and the time it takes to get it up and running.  Are you familiar with that sort of general high-level discussion?

     MR. ISHERWOOD:  No, I'm not.

     MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  Well, the evidence, as I understand it, is, if you have a drop in pressure that knocks the system out, then it takes a number of days to get it up and running, and you have to go into every home twice and all that kind of stuff, is that consistent with Union's experience?

     MR. ISHERWOOD:  It would be the same issue.

     MR. THOMPSON:  And so the event that I understand gives rise to this risk is a pressure drop below a certain point in the system at a particular locale; am I right?

     MR. ISHERWOOD:  That's correct.

     MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  And can you help us with the extent to which that risk has increased as a result of these new power generators coming on stream?

     MR. ISHERWOOD:  The four services that we're presenting here are really, all around, helping our customers to balance their gas supply on a daily basis.  So by giving them access to firm pipe all day long, giving them access to more nomination windows, and especially giving them access to windows that have a much-condensed time frame between nomination due and nomination effective, all give them a lot better control of their gas supply and allow them to much better match when the gas comes to them and when they actually come up on the demand side.

      So this piece of evidence was written really around how important it is to have that two-hour advance notice so we can prepare the system for that plant come up.

     MR. THOMPSON:  It depends on discipline, does it not,

in the system, by the power generators, and I suppose

everybody else for that matter?

     MR. ISHERWOOD:  It would depend on discipline and

contractual penalties and whether it's physical or 

operational, ways to deal with it.  Operational being a

control valve.  Contractual being penalties.

     MR. THOMPSON:  Right.  And on a penalties point, do you know -- what is your degree of familiarity with these contracts that the power generators have, there’s the clean energy contract, and then there's a so-called accelerated clean energy contract.  Are these -- are you familiar with these -- the provisions of these documents?

     MR. SHORTS:  We're certainly somewhat familiar in the

discussions we've had with the customers and, you know, the

various information that's come out from the OPA.

      I think one thing it's important to note as well is

that you can get in into situations where an act, an action

by a power generator will, in essence, be a self-correcting

situation.  The power generator pretends to pull the

pressure on the system down.  Because they, in most cases,

require high pressure, they will in essence force themselves off.  Therefore maintaining the rest of the system at least at the lower pressure customers can stay on.  So some of that there will be a certain amount of that situation that could happen in certain areas.

     MR. THOMPSON:  You mean the pressure drops to a point

where they have to turn off –- 

MR. SHORTS:  Or they would just be kicked off because the turbines won't operate at the pressure that's...

     MR. THOMPSON:  But it's still good enough to keep my

pilot light going.

     MR. SHORTS:  In certain situations, that could be the

case.  It will all depend on the various customers, what

kind of generator pressure is required and what kind of

back-up system they might have as far as they might have compression as well.  

     MR. ISHERWOOD:  I think it's fair to add as well, I

mentioned in the introduction, Union has 4,400 megawatts in

our system, and our experience has been extremely good in terms of serving the power markets.  

     MR. THOMPSON:  But these aren't these big peaker units that --

     MR. ISHERWOOD:  Well, Lennox is 2,000 a peaking which is a huge load to serve, and fit comes on suddenly on gas, they would have a similar situation as you described,

Mr. Thompson, and they also have 1,000 megawatts under the CDS type of contract, albeit a long track record with those

folks yet, but in general the 4,400 megawatts we’ve had excellent experience.     

MR. THOMPSON:  Can anyone on the panel tell me whether

penalty costs are a flow-through for the power generator?

     MR. SHORTS:  Depending on the contract, we don't

actually see the contract, but our interpretation is that

essentially, on the clean energy supply contracts, they have a deemed revenue and deemed dispatch type of scenario.  So the penalty is really the foregone revenue, of which the

have gotten had they run.

     MR. THOMPSON:  I'm not quite so sure I followed that,

but are you saying they cannot flow-through penalties that

they might incur by taking more than their entitlements from the system?

     MR. SHORTS:  Those customers, to the best of our

understanding, bid a price into the market.  And basically,

what will then happen is that once the market price gets to

that trigger point, they will have been deemed, essentially, to have run.  If they chose not to run or could not run during that time period, then that's revenue they don't -- they will basically forego.

     MR. THOMPSON:  All right, well, I'll reflect on that at the moment.  You've answered the question.  But you're not aware of the provisions of the contracts.  Are they not public knowledge somewhere?

     MR. SHORTS:  I don't believe the specific contracts were.  The general standard contract was but whether or not

there were some specific clauses within those contracts,

they were not, to the best of my knowledge, have been made

public.

     MR. THOMPSON:  Do you know what the provisions of those contracts are with respect to gas costs?  The gas cost price at Dawn, for example, or do you know?

     MR. SHORTS:  It was basically, if my memory serves me

correctly, the noon index price for the Dawn gas price that was used as the benchmark.

     MR. THOMPSON:  And so for power generators in EGD's

area, that would have to be an add-on to get that -- well,

would there be an add-on to that gas cost, that they’re flowing through in their electricity price, to get that gas to EGD's franchise area?

     MR. SHORTS:  That would have been their responsibility to bid the proper costs, to add it on to that Dawn index

price to get it to the location.

     MR. THOMPSON:  Now, can you help me with -- if a system failure occurs as a result of one of these plants taking more than they -- the system can handle, how far does it extend?  Does this depend on when you catch it?

     MR. ISHERWOOD:  It would depend on that.  It would

depend on where the plant was located and what facilities

were being used to serve the plant.  It would depend on

the time of year where the system was set -- a lot of

it depends -- type of -- parts to that.  It would very much

dependent upon the situation.

     MR. THOMPSON:  It's location-related.

     MR. ISHERWOOD:  Very location and very 

systems-operation related as well.

     MR. THOMPSON:  Thanks.  Now, looking just in the sort

of short term and the number of new plants that we're dealing with here in Union's franchise area as well as EGD's, I think there was something about this at tab 2, page 25.  And here you mention a number of facilities.  And I just want to find out in whose franchise area these facilities are.  The Greenfield Energy Centre, is that Mr. Moran's client?

     MR. SHORTS:  Yes, it is.

     MR. THOMPSON:  So if he goes bypass, he's exfranchise,

that's what I understood.

     MR. SHORTS:  That's correct.

     MR. THOMPSON:  And if the bypass is going to hook up

with Vector; is that right?

     MR. SHORTS:  That's our understanding, yes.

     MR. THOMPSON:  Right.  But your T1 proposal is supposed to address the bypass risk.  And is there a possibility that Mr. Moran will come back into the fold?

     MR. SHORTS:  I guess anything is possible.

     MR. THOMPSON:  He's a tough guy to corner.

      All right.  Now, St. Clair power, is that up and

running, or is that something new?

     MR. SHORTS:  St. Clair power was the other plant, part

of the clean energy supply RFP, it's really the Invenergy

project located North of the geeing facility but still in

the Sarnia area.

     MR. THOMPSON:  So of these three, the first three are all pending?  

     MR. SHORTS:  Actually, the first four were basically a

product of the CES contract, the 2,500 megawatt RFP.

     MR. THOMPSON:  But Greenfield Energy, St. Clair and

Greenfield South are in Union's franchise area?

     MR. SHORTS:  Greenfield South and GTAA are not.  Those

are in Enbridge's territory.

     MR. ISHERWOOD:  And so is Sithe-Goreway and Portlands.

     MR. THOMPSON:  So St. Clair Power, is that in your --

     MR. SHORTS:  Yes, it is.

     MR. THOMPSON:  And that's a work-in-progress, is it? 

     MR. SHORTS:  That's correct.

     MR. THOMPSON:  When's it scheduled to be up and 

running?

     MR. SHORTS:  I believe that's in the first quarter of

2008.

     MR. THOMPSON:  And is that hooking up to Union or is it bypassing too?

     MR. SHORTS:  We're currently in negotiations with the

T1 contract.

     MR. THOMPSON:  Mr. Moran representing them too?

     MR. SHORTS:  Not that I am aware of.

     MR. THOMPSON:  Too bad.  Do they have a bypass option?

    
MR. SHORTS:  Any customer can certainly look at that

alternative, but there hasn't been any interest expressed by this particular customer.

     MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  So we've got Sithe and Portlands, and they're in Enbridge's franchise area.  And GTA West RFP, what's that all about?

     MR. ISHERWOOD:  GTA West RFP is, the OPA is conducting an RFP to establish more generation on the west side of the GTA, and that load may be in Union's franchise or it may be in Enbridge's.  It’s kind of right on the border.  That likely won't come up and running until ‘09/’10 type of time frame.

     MR. THOMPSON:  So in looking at 2007, who's likely to come on, of the new power generators?

     MR. ISHERWOOD:  In terms of 2007, we did an open season on the Dawn-Parkway system, which would be for the Enbridge contractors, and both Sithe-Goreway and GTAA were both in that open season.

     MR. THOMPSON:  So have they contracted for space within Union?

     MR. ISHERWOOD:  They've contracted with us, subject to Board approval, of the expansion.  GTAA, I believe, is operating today.  Sithe had a ground-breaking ceremony yesterday and just started construction.  They expect to be up and running in the late spring, early summer of ‘07.

     MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  Can you help me with this:  If either of those plants in Enbridge's area, being infranchise customers, got their service from Enbridge, wouldn't it be cost-based all the way back to Dawn?

     MR. ISHERWOOD:  I don't know the Enbridge services that well.  I think what Sithe and GTAA were trying to do is get the gas to the Enbridge service area.

     MR. THOMPSON:  And do you have a storage deal with them?  Are they using Enbridge storage or --

     MR. ISHERWOOD:  No, we have no storage with them.

     MR. THOMPSON:  So yours is purely transportation.

     MR. ISHERWOOD:  Purely transportation.

     MR. THOMPSON:  And that's M12, that's cost-based.

     MR. ISHERWOOD:  Cost-based, M12.  Both are in the -- the whole M12 premium is still to be debated.

     MR. THOMPSON:  Yes, but that was peanuts, wasn't it? 

Not from the peanuts gallery, but ...

     MR. ISHERWOOD:  A pure definition, it's not all cost-of-service, I guess, from the purist's point of view.

     MR. THOMPSON:  We're not here to discuss that, I understand.  Thank you.

     Okay.  Tab 2, page 25, and you may have mentioned this, Mr. Shorts, but this deemed dispatch concept, could you just explain that to me, please.

     MR. SHORTS:  Essentially, under the CDS contract, at a very high level, there were incentives in those contracts that basically stated that, if the price got to a certain point in the market, and that price would cover off the cost that the customer had bid into the process, then essentially the market would then deem that they would have run; and therefore, if they deemed they ran, then what they would do is deduct that revenue from the fixed monthly revenue that the customer bid into the process.

     So, basically, in the process they were to bid in a fixed monthly, if you want to call it, revenue that they needed.  And what would happen is, they would then take this deemed dispatch, and every time the market signals were such that the plant should have run economically, then they would deduct that revenue from that monthly payment, essentially so they weren't being compensated twice.

     MR. THOMPSON:  All right, I think I understand that.  We're not flaring money, are we?

     MR. SHORTS:  Not to my knowledge.

     MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  Or gas?  They're not actually running under this deemed dispatch scenario?

     MR. SHORTS:  Well, essentially they are incented to actually run when the market signals said they should have run.  And if they didn't run, then essentially they're not going to get the money they had thought they were going to get every month.

     MR. THOMPSON:  But if they did run but didn't –- sorry.  Is there a scenario where they run but they don't sell any electricity into the market so they're just burning gas and nothing else?

     MR. SHORTS:  No.

     MR. THOMPSON:  Thanks.  Now, the day-ahead commitment process is a precursor, is it, to the day-ahead market?

     MR. SHORTS:  It's something the market and the IESO have been work working on as basically a precursor to a full day-ahead electricity market.

     MR. THOMPSON:  And is it up and running now?

     MR. SHORTS:  I believe it's going to start June 1.

     MR. THOMPSON:  Now, I think this is tab 4, 

page 39, you use the word "caution," proceeding with caution, or something to that effect.  The day-ahead market concept is one of the topics that is causing you to exercise caution.  Is the contingency of LNG coming in on the east coast another contingency that causes you to exercise caution?

     MR. ISHERWOOD:  If I could just comment on the word “caution” here.  The point that I'm trying to make in evidence at this point is there are a lot of moving parts right now.  We've done a lot of work on designing new services that would be used for the electric industry really based on today's environment.  It's my belief they work very well.  But at the same time we have these services being developed which are still preliminary in nature.  The IESO is doing a lot of work on day-ahead commitment and also on eventually a day-ahead market.

     When that work gets completed, whether it's two years or three years from now, some of the services we're talking about today may no longer be required.  If the day-ahead market creates more certainty around dispatchability, some of the services we have on upstream and downstream pipeline balancing may not be as valuable to customers.  So there's caution in terms of, we don't want to recommend we develop a lot of services at a lot of expense, if two years from now they're put on the shelf and not used.

     Now, in regards to your comment on LNG, I would view LNG as being a positive into the market.  It brings another source of supply into the market.

     MR. THOMPSON:  So, in terms of your plans and these contingencies that may, if you will, relax the need for the services that you propose, they will, I suggest, relax the need for builds in the future.  Is the contingency of these possibilities prompting you not to build?

     MR. ISHERWOOD:  Build infrastructure or build the systems around it?

     MR. THOMPSON:  Well, adding storage deliverability. 

There was a lot of talk this morning about how much would it take to add 200,000 of deliverability, all that kind of stuff.  I wanted to know how your plans address these contingencies.  What are you doing to be cautious?

     MR. ISHERWOOD:  In terms of building infrastructure, the pipeline part of the infrastructure will definitely be required to go between Dawn and Parkway.  So to meet that plant's operating needs on an hourly or a daily basis, the pipeline piece will always be required, irrespective of how it's dispatched.  

In terms of storage deliverability, I believe that asset would be required as well from the point of view of giving customers flexibility on how they serve their daily load in Toronto, whether it's from supply above ground at Dawn or from deliverability out of the ground.

     So the part that I'd be cautious on is not so much the physical hard assets; it's more around the IT development cost of some of the services.

     MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  Thank you.  At tab 2, page 12, there's discussion about line pack.

COURT REPORTER:  I’m sorry?

MR. THOMPSON:  Line pack, l-i-n-e, pack, two words, 

p-a-c-k.

     MR. ISHERWOOD:  Sorry, the page number was?

     MR. THOMPSON:  I think it's page 12, line 10 or thereabouts.

     Yes, it starts -– well, you describe it at lines 7 and 8, and then you say:

"The amount and location of line pack is

variable within the day and from day to day."

And then you say:

"If Union is aware of a future demand, it can proactively plan the system to ensure that there is sufficient line pack available in order to satisfy the daily requirement of the system.”

And can you quantify for me the amount of line pack that you can squeeze into the system to guard against these

contingencies?

     MR. ISHERWOOD:  We would only adjust line pack if we

had a nomination from the customer that they're going to be

coming on within that two-hour -- in terms of power market,

it would only affect line pack if we knew they were coming

on in that two-hour gap.  

In terms of how the system operates today, if we know from the weather forecast that it's going to be cold tomorrow, the gas controllers will definitely increase the line pack to anticipate that.

     MR. THOMPSON:  But is there sort of a minimum level of

line pack beyond which you can't go below, and then a

maximum?  We're trying to get a handle on the --

     MR. ISHERWOOD:  Yeah, from a gas control point of view, it's really done through pressures.  They wouldn’t be measuring line pack, per se, they would be measuring

the pressure at Parkway.  And I believe the minimum pressure we have into our system at Parkway is 600 pounds. So they'd want to stay above that comfortably, depending on time of year.  Obviously a cold winter day in January, they’ll prepack the line much higher than 600 pounds, and a warm summer day with no power load, it would a lot closer to 600 pounds.

     MR. THOMPSON:  Is there any information you could

provide to us now or either by way of undertaking to help us quantify the volume that can be made available as line pack on short notice?

     MR. ISHERWOOD:  And again, not measuring in terms of keeping meters, but in terms of capability, the downstream pipeline balancing service is essentially a service where we would prepack the line for the power customer and that service is really designed around having four hours' capability to draw down on short notice.

     MR. THOMPSON:  And this may not be the way to put it

but when you increase the pack in the line, that adds costs, and how are those costs allocated?

     MR. ISHERWOOD:  The costs of the service would be 

recovered from the point of view of storage and

deliverability, we'd recover those costs.  As well as in our evidence there's a developmental costs in terms of the IT capability of providing that service.  That would be 

recovered in the same rate as well from the customer using

it.  In terms of actual fuel costs, although it may be incremental fuel at the time, it's fuel that would be saved or made up later.  So from a fuel point of view over the course of a day, there's no fuel change.  It's really just shifting of fuel from one hour to another hour.

     MR. THOMPSON:  So does everybody pay for the increase in line pack, or is it allocated to the -- I assume there's one customer that's caused the decrease in pressure, does that customer pay the freight?

     MR. ISHERWOOD:  Just the customer that contracted the service would pay that cost.

     MR. THOMPSON:  I wasn't thinking in the context of

contracted service.  Are you talking about --

     MR. ISHERWOOD:  I was talking about the downstream

pipeline balancing service that has a line pack component to it.

     MR. THOMPSON:  And I'm talking about the sudden drop by somebody who hasn't contracted for anything, and you add

line pack.  Does that get allocated to that -- assuming it's one customer that caused the problem, or to everybody?

     MR. ISHERWOOD:  I think if a customer that came on

suddenly with no notice, would definitely impact line pack,

but that would be exactly the situation we're try to

avoid by offering these services.

     MR. THOMPSON:  There was some discussion with prior

questioners about developing storage.  Can you help us with

the amount of undeveloped storage capacity there is in

Ontario that could be developed on economically feasible

terms?  Is there some sort of rule of thumb out there, how

much?

     MR. ISHERWOOD:  There really isn't.  Union's own plans, we have no plans to develop any storage space in the next five years as a result of the power market developing.  We have talked this morning about developing potentials in

deliverability.

     MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  Now, my last area, may take a few moments but it's dealing with the existing services and how they operate -- will operate for a power generator who's coming online.  And this is the M7, U7, T1, I think I can leave U7 aside, because nobody's using it or there doesn't seem to be any candidates.

      But let's just talk about M7.  And let's assume we've

got somebody coming on that's about 400,000 megawatts.  And my understanding is that rule of thumb, that type of customer would require a CD of up to 100,000 a day; is that right?  Big picture?

     MR. SHORTS:  I think you said 400,000 megawatts.

     MR. THOMPSON:  What was I supposed to say?

     MR. SHORTS:  Our rule of thumb is a 500 megawatt plant

would require, essentially, about 100,000 gJs.

     MR. THOMPSON:  500 megawatts.  I got my thousands mixed up.  So it's 100,000 for 5,000 megawatts.

     MR. SHORTS:  That's a general rule.

     MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  And the load factor would be

about 50 percent?  Is this, again, realistic?

     MR. SHORTS:  Certainly in the way we see the market,

that's -- 5 by 16 is slightly less than that, but that's 5 -- that would be about 48 percent load factor, but in the

ballpark of 50, yes.

     MR. THOMPSON:  Close enough.  And so that customer

would have a DCQ of 50,000 a day.

     MR. SHORTS:  Under an M7 bundle, that's correct.

     MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  And that customer would not have to jump-start storage.

     MR. SHORTS:  No, that's correct.

     MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  And so, day one, that customer

comes on and wants 100,000.  It delivers 50, takes 50 out

of storage; is that right?

     MR. SHORTS:  That's correct.

     MR. THOMPSON:  And does that cause a problem?

     MR. SHORTS:  Those costs would already be incorporated

within that M7 bundled.

     MR. THOMPSON:  So you would have the 50,000 on hand in the storage?

     MR. SHORTS:  Pursuant to the balancing arrangements

that are embedded within the bundled M7 contract.  We do

have set points for September and February, so there's

checkpoints.

     MR. THOMPSON:  Yes, I understand.

     MR. SHORTS:  So, subject to the checkpoints and all

those types of things equated with the bundled service, yes.

     MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  And so we go to day two, and the

power generator's off.  He's delivered 50,000 on day two, under his DCQ.  That goes into storage.  Is that right?

     MR. SHORTS:  Yes, it goes into his -- we're saying

storage, and for a bundled customer it's technically not allocated storage.  We refer to it as the BGA or the bundled gas account.

     MR. THOMPSON:  Day 3, the customer's off, another 50,000 comes down the pipe.  Where does that go?  Does it go into his BGA.

     MR. SHORTS:  Still goes into his BGA, yes.

     MR. THOMPSON:  And when does he hit the wall on the BGA?

     MR. SHORTS:  He would essentially hit the wall when he

violates his checkpoint balance, or end of contract,

whichever might be sooner.

     MR. THOMPSON:  Okay, now, with a T1 customer, that

customer has to put 50,000 in storage, assuming the same

parameters.

     MR. SHORTS:  Yes.

     MR. THOMPSON:  BCQ of 50,000 and 100,000 CDs.  That customer has to put the 50,000 into storage on

day one?

     MR. SHORTS:  That's an alternative, they could

certainly decide.

     MR. THOMPSON:  In order to jump start storage?

     MR. SHORTS:  Oh, on day one?  Essentially they would,

in that situation, if they didn't have 50,000 sitting in

storage, then they would obviously have to buy more gas on

the market that day.

     MR. ISHERWOOD:  Just one point to add to that.  The

ability to get gas out of storage would be restricted to his parameters he has in his contract.  So deliverability out, he may not be capable of doing the full 50,000, especially on a firm basis.

     MR. THOMPSON:  And that would be the same for U7, if

there was such a thing.

     MR. ISHERWOOD:  That's correct.

     MR. THOMPSON:  There would be some constraints on how

much he could pull out?

     MR. ISHERWOOD:  That's correct.

     MR. THOMPSON:  So if you are looking at the risk of

these types of customers drafting the system, is the M7 the

highest risk for drafters?  Because it doesn't have anything to start with?

     MR. SHORTS:  The M7 certainly would be a higher risk

than the T1.  The T1 does not have the ability to 

essentially draft the storage.

     MR. THOMPSON:  And how many of your -- I think you've

got five -- I thought I saw five power generators in your southern operations area, are they all on T1?

     MR. SHORTS:  Yes.

     MR. THOMPSON:  And in the north, this really doesn't

apply in the north, does it?

     MR. SHORTS:  In the north, they’re essentially can be rate 100, rate 20, rate 25.

     MR. THOMPSON:  Excuse me one moment.

There's discussion in your evidence about competition.  This is storage.  This is my last area.  And I think in tab 2 - I hope I've got this reference right - at pages 9 and 10, you talk about underground storage facilities in Michigan and elsewhere.  And you've discussed this in your responses to others.  And somewhere else in your testimony - it's in a footnote and I think it's at tab 1, page 3 of 7 - you describe the exfranchise market as being considered to be a wholesale market.  Do you see that?

     MR. ISHERWOOD:  Yes, I do.

     MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  And I represent end-users in your franchise area, both of whom -- who use both gas and electricity.

     So these would not be part of the wholesale market, would you agree?

     MR. ISHERWOOD:  In terms of the exfranchise customers, if they were in Enbridge's franchise and they wanted to buy a service from Union, from Union's perspective, they could be viewed as exfranchise.

     MR. THOMPSON:  Right.  But they're not wholesale.  They're not intermediaries, is the phrase you've used here.

MR. ISHERWOOD:  Yes, from the point of view of classifying whether they’re infranchise or exfranchise, they're definitely exfranchise.

     MS. PASSMORE:  It says “the majority” ...


MR. ISHERWOOD:  The majority of the market, if you look at the exfranchise market, it's really dominated by the three big transportation customers: GMI, TransCanada, and Enbridge.  And from a storage point of view, it's dominated by Enbridge and GMI and some marketers.

     MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  Well, I'm going to leave you with a question about competition.  You talked -- and this deals with storage services, and I'm talking about infranchise end-use customers.  And what I'd like you to do for me by way of undertaking, if you could, is this:  Take a large user in the northern operations area; let's put the user in Sudbury.  Take a second large user in your southern operations area, at the western end -- sorry, at the eastern end, which would be Hamilton.  And take a third large user at the eastern end of the system, which would be, I guess, Windsor, would it?

     MR. ISHERWOOD:  That’s western.

     MR. THOMPSON:  Close enough?

     MR. SHORTS:  That's western, the western end.

     MR. THOMPSON:  I've got it backwards.  Western, right. 

Hamilton's not in the west, it's in the east.  Anyway, you can tell I'm getting to the end.  Do I have to start again?

     MR. SHORTS:  No, continue.

     MR. THOMPSON:  Thanks.

     And what I'd like you to do, panel, by way of undertaking, is this:  Calculate how that customer, each of those customers, large volume end-users, would get the storage services that you currently provide to them under T1, M7, R100, R20, CBS, northern storage, how they would get that from Michigan and the costs that they would have to pay to do the daily balancing, annual balancing, that you provide; and compare that to the cost-based rates they pay to Union.  

Do you understand me?

     MR. ISHERWOOD:  I guess I'm not very sure what's driving the question.  All those customers would have accessible to them cost-of-service-based storage today.

     MR. THOMPSON:  Right.  But you say they have competitive alternatives, and so I'm just asking -- and you say Michigan is one of them.

     MR. ISHERWOOD:  Right.

     MR. THOMPSON:  So I'm just asking you folks to complete for me what accessing that competitive alternative that you say exists would cost them?

     MR. ISHERWOOD:  So it's really a question of what would be the market-based equivalents to those customers compared to the cost-of-service?

     MR. THOMPSON:  No, what they would have to pay to get it.  They would have to get the storage.

     MR. ISHERWOOD:  Right.

     MR. THOMPSON:  The in and out.  That's a price.

     MR. ISHERWOOD:  It would be very expensive.  You’re now going from cost-of-service on Union’s system to a market-based system, so it would be --

     MR. THOMPSON:  I understand.  I want to see the comparison.

     MR. ISHERWOOD:  Okay.

     MR. THOMPSON:  Are we on the same page?

     MR. ISHERWOOD:  We need some parameters, probably.

     MR. SHORTS:  Again, it's very difficult because we don't know the value, for the most part, of what those market services would be, to do the comparison.

     MR. THOMPSON:  What do you mean you don't know the value?  You're pricing your services at market value.

     MR. SHORTS:  And that changes continuously.

     MR. THOMPSON:  Well, pick a date; market value for the services on a particular date in Michigan.

     MR. SHORTS:  The Michigan provider may have a different risk profile that he would want to put a premium on that.  I find it -- I don't know how I could sit in the Michigan provider's shoes and give an answer to what a Michigan provider would charge for a service like that. 

MR. THOMPSON:  You say Michigan is a competitor of yours in storage services.

     MR. SHORTS:  Yes.

     MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  So do you monitor the prices Michigan charges?

     MR. ISHERWOOD:  No, we don’t.  We can't.  It's all confidential.  That's why I'm so careful to keep my prices confidential, because I don't know their prices either.

     MR. THOMPSON:  Well, then, how can you set your prices at market-based prices if you don't know what the market's doing?

     MR. ISHERWOOD:  We do an open season and we let the market determine the price.  And we just award the capacity to the highest bidders.


MR. THOMPSON:  You’re selling C1 storage services today at market --

     MS. SEBALJ:  Can we just have some quiet in the room so that the court reporter can hear?  Thanks.

     MR. THOMPSON:  You tell us you're setting your C1 storage services at market-based prices?

     MR. ISHERWOOD:  It's actually our range rate, from 0 

to $3 for space and 0 to $3 for deliverability.  So we do an open season.  And if we're trying to sell, say, 2 Bcf today with an open season, we will allocate the 2 Bcf based on the highest bids, provided they fall within the range.

     MR. THOMPSON:  So you can't tell me what Michigan charges.

     MR. ISHERWOOD:  I have no idea what Michigan charges.

     MR. THOMPSON:  Do you know what Iowa charges?

     MR. ISHERWOOD:  I have no idea, other than I do know that customers coming to Union looking for storage are also going to those same providers.

     MR. THOMPSON:  Do you know what's charged for transportation from Michigan to Ontario?

     MR. ISHERWOOD:  It depends if it's a firm rate or an interruptible rate.  Vector can do either, and quite often it shows up as an IT volume.

     MR. THOMPSON:  So if we do the calculation, you can't quarrel with it.

     MR. ISHERWOOD:  It would be your calculation.

     MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  Well, we'll do it.  Thank you very much, panel.

     MS. SEBALJ:  Thank you, Mr. Thompson.  

I would suggest, for the court reporter, that we take another short break.  But before we do that, by my calculations, we have - and I'm taking your estimates at face value, which is a big mistake, and has been a big mistake so far - we have at least three hours to go.  So that's not going to happen because I think our court reporter might collapse in front of us.  

We probably have until - I'm pushing it - 6:30, on the assumption that we take a break now and we take one more break before then, for her sake.  And so I'm wondering if we can push on with -- I think if we're doing order of appearances, Dave Matthews with Direct Energy, and then Randy Aiken, and then potentially take another short break, or perhaps we can do James Wightman as well from VECC, if your estimate really is ten minutes.  

MR. WIGHTMAN:  It will be less.

     MS. SEBALJ:  Okay.

     MR. WIGHTMAN:  It will be less.

     MS. SEBALJ:  And then perhaps take a short break, because then we have people who may be a bit longer.  David

Brown for Portlands, TCE, and Sithe, and Patrick Keys from TCPL.  


I'm sure you want to know what we're doing to do when the straw breaks.  We have some different suggestions

on blocks, and I'm going to chat with Mr. Leslie on the

break to find out which ones we want to exercise to get this done.

      So let's come back at about can we say a quarter to 5:00?

     MS. GIRVAN:  Can I just say that my questions have been asked and answered already. 

MR. MATTHEWS:  Kristi, I wonder if we could just go around and get an estimate.  It might make the alternatives easier to assess.

     MS. SEBALJ:  Sure.  So can I assume that Direct Energy

is still 20 minutes?  Sorry.  

Randy?

     MR. AIKEN:  No, I don't have any questions.  Mr. Thompson covered everything for me.

     MS. SEBALJ:  Mr. Wightman, you just said less than

ten.

     MR. WIGHTMAN:  Presumably three minutes.

     MS. SEBALJ:  I'll hold you to that.  

Mr. Brown?

     MR. BROWN:  Down to about 30.

     MS. SEBALJ:  30.  Where I am next?  Jim.  Jim, you just had the one question?

     MR. REDFORD:  Yeah, just one question.  Five minutes.

     MS. SEBALJ:  Okay.  And Mr. Keys.

     MR. KEYS:  I'm feeling pressured now so I'll say 30

minutes as well.

     MS. SEBALJ:  Don't say 30 if it's not true.  So that

takes us down to probably more around.

     MR. LESLIE:  That's an hour and a half.

     MS. SEBALJ:  So -- oh, sorry.  Valerie Young.

     MS. YOUNG:  We're still sitting at about 15 minutes.  One five.

     MS. SEBALJ:  Yeah, one five.  Okay.  So about an hour and a half, two hours.  We may be able to do it this evening, which would be great, or we'll discuss options.  I don't want to discuss options now because then people will take longer.  So I'll see you at a quarter to 5:00.

--- Recess taken at 4:31 p.m.

--- On resuming at 4:45 p.m.

     MS. SEBALJ:  Okay.  Just before we get started, I think that Mr. Leslie has a clarification on what we marked as Undertaking 13 but I think that we can eliminate as an

undertaking as a result.


RESPONSE TO UNDERTAKING NO. 13 PROVIDED BY MR. LESLIE:  

     MR. LESLIE:  Yes.  Sorry.  The question was in which proceeding will Union be dealing with the disposition of revenues from the sale of storage at market prices?  And the answer to that is, in this proceeding, by virtue of the Board's directive, which is attached to Procedural Order No. 3, Schedule A.  And it provides that all matters related to the market pricing of storage services could be dealt with in the storage phase of these hearings, and that's where they'll be dealt with.

     MR. THOMPSON:  Thanks.

     MS. GIRVAN:  Sorry, a clarification.  Is that including the elimination of the S&T account?

     MR. LESLIE:  Yes, it is.  That was also moved from the

rate case to these proceedings.

     MS. GIRVAN:  Okay.

     MS. SEBALJ:  All right, Mr. Wightman, the floor is

yours.


CROSS-EXAMINATION BY MR. WIGHTMAN:

     MR. WIGHTMAN:  Panel, James Wightman on behalf of VECC.  Just a couple of questions; my estimate was three minutes. 

Let me just take you back briefly to the Board support team.  They were asking you for some estimated times for different six steps in the nomination process, and you said after, Step one takes two hours.  Now, that was a duration of two hours; correct?  That didn't tie up one person full-time for two hours, did it?

     MS. PASSMORE:  That's the nominations group, the staff that would be on, it would take between two and two and a quarter hours to confirm the availability of the interruptible services.

     MR. WIGHTMAN:  For those that had requested it?

     MS. PASSMORE:  Yes, that's right.

     MR. WIGHTMAN:  So it's like a duration.  And you did mention, I believe, that there would be incremental capital costs with some of these new services, if there were sufficient interest.  They wouldn't be at zero, the costs.  There would be incremental costs; is that correct?

     MR. ISHERWOOD:  That's correct.

     MR. WIGHTMAN:  Okay.  Lastly, then, going back to tab 3, page 24 of 37, starting at the end of line 8, this is where you're maintaining the same overall recovery you proposed in the phase two evidence of your 2007 rates  case.

     Now, when you put in your 2007 rates case and did your costing associated with the revenue requirement, was it at all influenced by the fact that you might be offering these new services at all?  Did that have any impact on your 2007 rates case?

     MR. KITCHEN:  No.  There are no cost-allocation impacts as a result of this.

     MR. WIGHTMAN:  Okay.  Then, had you proposed these services first and then done your 2007 rates submission, would there have been some rate impacts on other classes?

     MR. KITCHEN:  I don't know.  I don't think so, but it's one of those things I can't look back and say, because 

it's ...

     MR. WIGHTMAN:  I guess I just mean, is it possible that some of the incremental capital costs, if they were being allocated, would be allocated to other rate classes?

     MR. KITCHEN:  No.

     MR. WIGHTMAN:  Okay.  So if -- the reason I'm asking this is that you say you're proposing the same overall recovery for other classes, and yet there are incremental costs associated with these services if they come on stream.  If you then went back and refiled a subsequent cost-of-service case later on, these new services would have no impact on any other rate classes; is that fair?

     MR. KITCHEN:  Well, our proposal is to recover the costs from the customers taking the service.

     MR. WIGHTMAN:  So the customers taking service that require these extra nomination windows, all this stuff,

would be paying entirely for them.

     MR. KITCHEN:  They would be paying the costs, yes.

     MR. WIGHTMAN:  Not only in 2007, but at any future date at which you brought forward an application?

     MR. KITCHEN:  That's our current proposal, yes

     MR. WIGHTMAN:  Okay.  That's all.  Thank you.

     MS. SEBALJ:  Thank you, Mr. Wightman.  

Mr. Brown?

     CROSS-EXAMINATION BY MR. BROWN:
     MR. BROWN:  Panel, good afternoon.  I’m sort of batting clean-up, so I'll try not to till ground already gone over.  My name is David Brown.  I act for Sithe, Portlands Energy, and also for TransCanada Energy.  I'm not going to spend time identifying who's interested in which question I ask you.  When I ask you a question, simply take it that one of those three is interested in the question.

     I think the way I'd like to proceed is simply to try and fill in some gaps, perhaps, in the evidentiary record, dealing first with some background questions; then title transfers, T1 service, and then I've got a few questions on the various exfranchise services that you offer.

     Board Staff asked, I think it was you, Mr. Isherwood, a question this morning.  You indicated that Union has to deal with a situation here where you have end-users who are two pipelines down.  You made the observation that Union does not see the consumption data or consumption projections of those customer two pipelines down.

     My question to you is, would seeing that information be of operational assistance to Union?

     MR. ISHERWOOD:  It may provide some operational assistance, but from the point of view that we actually bill based on the nomination, seeing the actual consumption may be of interest in terms of understanding the overall load in the area, but we would get that through the Enbridge control room anyways today.  It wouldn't be real-time, obviously, but we would be having that communication with Enbridge, and TCPL, for that matter, on an ongoing basis.

     MR. BROWN:  So from your point of view, are you getting sufficient information, then, from the downstream pipelines with respect to projected customer consumption?

     MR. ISHERWOOD:  We're not proposing at all to get the measurement data directly into our control room from plants two pipelines away.  We’re not asking for that at all.

     MR. BROWN:  Continuing on this theme of information that would allow you to anticipate load for next day, I think some questions were asked of you by Board Staff as to whether you looked at the IESO data.  And I was unclear as to whether Union's answer was, you do, as a matter of course, look at the IESO's load forecast data to project your load forecasts, or whether you do not.  Could you perhaps clarify that for me, please.

     MR. SHORTS:  We do not specifically look at that to help with that load.  We look at it in the sales group just to give us an indication of where our customers may end up being, and where the customers that might impact the market might be.  But we really do depend, as Mark said, on the nomination, because it's just not whether the customer's on.  If they're dual-fueled, we need to know what fuel they're using, as well as the source of the gas; whether it's coming from storage or whether it's an upstream supply.

MR. BROWN:  But I take it, in terms of your forecasting, you would be looking at some common elements as to those looked at by the IESO, for example, weather being a primary one.

     MR. SHORTS:  The IESO would use that in their forecast of demand from the electricity side, and then they would take the bids that have come into the market to find where that supply and demand crossed.

     MR. BROWN:  Has Union decided as a matter of policy that it's not useful to look at the IESO forecast data, or is that simply what happens right now?  What I'm trying to get at is, have you consciously decided as a corporation that the IESO's forecast data is not of operational assistance to you folks?

     MR. SHORTS:  Oh, no, not at all.  I mean, we look at the data as well, I mean, as part of the entire process that we go through in trying to plan and manage the system.

     MR. BROWN:  I think references were made to the evidence that you filed where you indicated that the report of the market surveillance panel indicated that, on an annual basis, the variance between the pre-dispatch price signal three hours ahead and the real-time price signal is, I think, in the magnitude of 1.6 percent.  I take it you're conscious of the fact that that's an annualized number, and that when you were taking a look at peak seasons, winter peak or summer peak, there will be a more significant variation between the three hours ahead and the actual price.

     MR. SHORTS:  We do realize that is probably a

simplistic approach, but it does show the trend that the

accuracy has been getting better over time, and we certainly expect it to get better.

     MR. BROWN:  And certainly when you look at a day

in a peak period, in an electricity peak period, whether

it's summer or winter, you are aware that there are

significant variances between the $3 pre-dispatch signal and the actual real-time price?

     MR. SHORTS:  Oh, there's definitely situations.  A

storm coming through Toronto that can all of a sudden cut

the forecasted demand significantly for sure, yes. 

     MR. BROWN:  And so I take it your simple point 

is that you've got a lot of bright people looking at the gas and electricity side looking to get better information about what's going to happen a day ahead.  So you anticipate that the errors of prediction will reduce over time; is that your simple point?

     MR. ISHERWOOD:  I think the overall message is exactly

that Mr. Brown, that to the extent you have some predictability today, it will only get better as you go through the day-ahead commitment process, and further into the day-ahead market process.

     MR. BROWN:  Okay.  If I could deal with the

second area, then, which is the title transfer area.

     And this was the issue of above-ground versus 

below-ground title transfers.

      As I read Enbridge's evidence, they are proposing that with respect to storage contracts that have the same service parameters, they would be prepared to entertain below-ground transfers, but if it comes to contracts that have different service parameters, title transfers would have to be dealt with on an above-ground basis.  My question to you is:  Have you considered adopting a similar approach to that proposed by Enbridge?

     MS. PASSMORE:  As we had indicated in our evidence, if

the Board recommended that that was a service or felt that

was a service that needed to be developed, we would propose

a service that was very, very much like what Enbridge had put in their evidence.  But Union continues to maintain we

believe that there isn't a need for that service, that the

marketplace for title transfers is above ground at

Dawn, and there is a value that the customers receive for

that transaction. 

MR. BROWN:  All right.  A matter of corporate perspective.  

Do you believe it would be in the public interest for both Enbridge and Union to be on the same page with respect to the way they treat title transfers?

     MS. PASSMORE:  I don't have an opinion on that.

     MR. BROWN:  Okay.  If we could move, then, to T1. 

Forgive me if I jump around a bit, but I'm trying to avoid duplication.

     With respect to the T1 service, does Union currently

use a form of standard carriage service contract for its T1

customers?

      MR. SHORTS:  We do have a standard carriage service

contract for T1 customers, although depending on the nature of a contract, whether it be long term, there may be other clauses or issues that have to be dealt with that are

different than what I would refer to as a standard rolling

one-year type of T1 contract.

MR. BROWN:  And did you file that standard contract as an appendix to your evidence?

     MR. SHORTS:  No, it's available on the Union Gas

website.

     MR. BROWN:  I appreciate that.  Could I ask you,

I'm just trying to get the record of -- in this proceeding full, could I ask you to undertake to file in this proceeding a copy of Union's standard T1 carriage service contract?

     MR. SHORTS:  Sure.

     MR. BROWN:  Thank you very much.

     MS. SEBALJ:  If we could mark that as undertaking

number 13.  We have 13.  It got struck, and this is new 13.

UNDERTAKING NO. 13:  FOR UNION TO PROVIDE COPY OF ITS STANDARD T1 CARRIAGE SERVICE CONTRACT

     MR. BROWN:  Obligated daily deliveries under T1

contracts.  My recollection is that in recent months, Union

has moved from a situation where all T1 customers were

required to have daily delivery obligations to a situation

where that is optional for some contracts -- some customers; is that correct?  

MR. SHORTS:  In recognizing some of the changing needs of these power customers, we did come up with the 

non-obligated alternative for those T1 customers who

were located essentially in the Sarnia area west of Dawn.

     MR. BROWN:  Okay, well, that was my point.  In

terms of eligibility for a non-obligated daily delivery,

is that service only available to those west of Dawn?

     MR. SHORTS:  Essentially west of Dawn, as well in that

Sarnia area.

     MR. BROWN:  And could you please explain why only

customers in that area would be eligible for a 

non-obligated daily delivery?

     MR. SHORTS:  We've certainly been looking at how we

could potentially offer or expand that to customers

elsewhere on our system.  Currently, because you have the

issue of our east-end deliverability, that is one of the

main reasons that we could not offer the same level of

flexibility that we did for those customers who are in the

Sarnia area, close to the integrated Dawn hub.  So that's

the main driver.  We were analyzing and it and continuing to work on trying to at least come up with a way that 

potentially we could offer a similar type service to those

infranchise customers who are located east of Dawn.

     MR. BROWN:  What obstacles do you foresee that

you would have to overcome in order to make a non-obligated

service available to customers east of Dawn?

     MR. SHORTS:  It essentially comes down to, obviously,

the obligations of those customers.  When it comes to, for

example, on the east end, if you have a customer who

consumed their entire 100,000 gJs, using the case of a 500

megawatt plant, we're still struggling with how do you

maintain that kind of flexibility, and who would actually

have to bear the costs of, say, the M12 capacity or the Dawn to Parkway capacity that you’d essentially be taking or setting aside for that to happen on a non-obligated basis. 

MR. BROWN:  Is Union actively looking into ways to make a non-obligated service available to customers

east of Dawn?  Is that a top priority for you at this

point in time?

     MR. SHORTS:  We continue to look at that.  I guess when we get a physical customer who actually requests it, we'll certainly put that into high gear.

     MR. BROWN:  And perhaps you could help me out.  What is the rationale from Union's perspective for requiring

an obligated daily delivery?  I guess what I'm coming to,

and I don't know whether, Mr. Kitchen, this is more in your

bailiwick or Mr. Isherwood's, but if a customer pays a demand charge, you have your negotiations with the customer.  You establish a contract demand and whatnot.  As long as the customer pays the demand charge, why are you worried about obligated deliveries?

     MR. ISHERWOOD:  I'll make a start and see if

Mr. Kitchen wants to join in at the end.  But the obligated

deliveries at Parkway, there’s a very historical context around that.  To go back to the very beginning days of

direct purchase, when customers went to direct purchase, we

actually allocated them some of our upstream capacity on

TransCanada to facilitate them going direct purchase.

      So if you go back to the late ‘80s, our system was designed based on our system portfolio delivering gas into Parkway plus the physical capacity of Dawn-to-Parkway system.  

When people went direct purchase and we allocated them the TransCanada capacity, we had to have them obligate that

capacity coming into Parkway to ensure we did not compromise our Dawn-Parkway system.  So there’s quite a bit of history around that, and in fact, today, I don't know the exact number, but it's in excess of 600,000 gJs a day we have obligated at Parkway.  If that gas was not there, you would have to expand Dawn-Parkway at considerable expense and roll those costs into tolls.   

So it's really from the point of view of efficiency and lower rates have been able to keep the Dawn-Parkway system, if you want, optimized by having deliveries at Parkway and being obligated. 

     MR. BROWN:  And do those same concerns apply, Mr. Isherwood, to a new, let's say, generator customer who

would arrange for their own upstream contracting?

     MR. ISHERWOOD:  Yeah, it really depends on where that

customer is located, but yeah.

     MR. BROWN:  Under the T1 service, are there hourly redelivery parameters?  And I guess the simple example is, is that essentially Union takes care of the balancing over the course of the day, under the T1 service. 


If I am contracted to deliver 100 units a day under

the T1 service, can I consume all the 100 units in the first hour of the day, or are there redelivery restrictions on my ability to do that?

     MR. SHORTS:  There is a maximum hourly redelivery component within the T1 contract, and that would be essentially for each location or end-use facility that would be on that T1 contract.

     MR. BROWN:  What factors do you take into account in establishing those redelivery parameters?

     MR. SHORTS:  Essentially the peak requirements of the customer.  If the customer -- in our generic or general rule-of-thumb case, we'd be expecting a 500 megawatt plant to require something in the neighbourhood of 4 to 5,000 gJs per hour.  We would obviously design the facilities to serve that kind of a load.

     MR. BROWN:  Once you establish those parameters, in terms of the hourly variability that a customer can demonstrate, is it as flexible as between zero and the maximum parameter?

     MR. SHORTS:  It would be between zero and that maximum parameter.

     MR. BROWN:  And am I correct that on the T1 service, in terms of deliveries -- I guess, receipts by you equally and redeliveries by you, the balancing is looked at simply at day's end, not on an hour-by-hour basis?

     MR. SHORTS:  Yes, for T1 that's correct.

     MR. BROWN:  When Board Staff counsel asked you some questions in respect of their question number 11, I think they asked whether you had taken a look at any rates for -- any separate rates for customers who were directly connected to transmission lines.  And I think, Mr. Kitchen, I have it noted here that you said that you had considered that possibility, but you had dismissed it.

     My question is, what design work have you actually done as part of the process of considering that option?

     MR. KITCHEN:  Well, in terms of -- my answer was that we didn't think it was appropriate to have a customer that couldn't tell what rate class they were under based on their load characteristics, and that we didn't think it was consistent with postage-stamp ratemaking.  

In terms of recent work, we have not looked at whether there's a need for a specific rate class for those customers served off transmission.  We did look at it in the past.  That wasn't the goal.  We did look at whether or not there was a need for a rate class for power customers, as part of responding to the Board's directive some time ago.

     MR. BROWN:  Right.  I recall that.  But in terms of specifically a rate class for customers directly connected to the transmission system, it’s your evidence that you haven't actually looked at that or analyzed that.

     MR. KITCHEN:  We considered it and dismissed it, yes.  We haven't actually done the work, so to speak.

     MR. BROWN:  And when you say you considered it, you simply reflected upon it, or did you actually do any analytical work?  What I'm getting at is, do you have any work product to show what you considered as part of that thought process?

     MR. KITCHEN:  It was discussion within the rates group.

     MR. BROWN:  Some questions were asked of you regarding the T1 service, of situations where you have multiple plants and the prospect for aggregation.  And I think it may have been you, Mr. Shorts, there was some discussion about joint and several liability.

     As I understood the questions that were put to you, they seem to contemplate a situation where you might have several users under T1, and they all avail themselves of what I will call the gas manager to basically manage their day-to-day gas needs.

     Has Union contemplated an arrangement where you could have essentially one common T1 contract, an umbrella contract, for those multiple facilities with their common gas manager, and you simply assign the joint liability to the gas manager and you leave each of the individual users only severally liable for their own exposure?  

The point of my question being, I can understand Union saying, if someone's managing all of these things as a bundle, you want to make sure you’ve got someone who's on the hook for the whole ball of wax.  That's perfectly understandable.

     My question is, can you simply put together a contract package where you have a creditworthy gas manager on the hook for all the liability, but the individual users would simply be on the hook for their caused share of the costs.

     MR. LESLIE:  It would probably be simpler, Mr. Brown, to have one T1 contract with the gas manager and have him look for indemnity with his clients, which is the way the thing's going to work anyway.

     MR. BROWN:  Well, that may be one way of going, Mr. Leslie.  Since there was a lot of discussion or questions on this morning, I'd really ask whether --

     MR. LESLIE:  The question requires some legal analysis, I think.  If you want us to think about it, we will.  But I mean, the answer I would have given is you’re really just setting up a situation where the gas manager's got the contract.  And then it's a question of who takes the risk if one of the clients is not good for it.

     MR. BROWN:  Well, could I perhaps ask you to formally think about that and undertake to advise as to whether that's an arrangement that Union would consider to be feasible?

     MR. LESLIE:  Sure.

     MR. BROWN:  Thank you very much.

     MS. SEBALJ:  So if we could mark that as Undertaking

No. 14, and my understanding is that we're looking at whether there could be an arrangement where the gas manager is under a T1 or jointly -- had the joint liability, whereas owners were severally liable.

     MR. BROWN:  Essentially.

     MS. SEBALJ:  Do you want reword that?

     MR. BROWN:  Would Union contemplate an arrangement whereby you had multiple T1 users who all were under contract to a common gas manager and the contractual arrangement between them and Union would be one where the gas manager would be jointly liable for all liability in respect of those locations and each end-user would only be severally liable for that branch of costs.

UNDERTAKING NO. 14:  FOR UNION TO ANSWER THE FOLLOWING QUESTION:  WOULD UNION CONTEMPLATE AN ARRANGEMENT WHEREBY IT HAD MULTIPLE T1 USERS WHO WERE ALL UNDER CONTRACT TO A COMMON GAS MANAGER, AND THE CONTRACTUAL ARRANGEMENT BETWEEN THEM AND UNION WOULD BE ONE WHERE THE GAS MANAGER WOULD BE JOINTLY LIABLE FOR ALL LIABILITY IN RESPECT OF THOSE LOCATIONS AND EACH END-USER WOULD ONLY BE SEVERALLY LIABLE FOR THAT BRANCH OF COSTS

     MR. LESLIE:  To be perfectly frank, as I understand what you're proposing, Union, if there was a need for recourse, would first have to go against individual clients pursuant to their several responsibility; and if they couldn't collect from them, they would then be able to go against the gas manager pursuant to his joint responsibility.  Is that the way to put it?

     MR. BROWN:  No, I'm not suggesting that you’d have to go to one first before you go to the other.  All I'm saying is, if you went to the end-user, there would be a limit to the responsibility --

     MR. LESLIE:  On your scenario, could we sue the gas manager for the whole amount?

     MR. BROWN:  That's what I'm suggesting.

     MR. LESLIE:  All right.

     MR. BROWN:  Okay.  I'll move from T1, if I could, to storage.

     Mr. Moran asked you to give an undertaking with respect to some of the characteristics or information relating to current storage contracts that you had.  I think his focus was on all storage contracts, but my focus is really more on exfranchise contracts, storage contracts, that you have.  He was asking you to provide information regarding existing contracts with respect to volume, deliverability, and a number of other factors.

     MR. ISHERWOOD:  I believe his question was exfranchise as well.

     MR. BROWN:  You, I gather, are going to have some discussions with him.  Mr. Moran said he was being quite careful; he didn't want to know what the actual rates were for any of those contracts.  I'd like to try and get some information on rates.  Let me tell you what I'm trying to get at, and ask you whether there's a way that you can provide it that certainly will not breach any confidentiality with respect to a particular client but will give us some information.

And the reason I'm asking it is that the Board, in one of its procedural orders, indicated that it would like to hear from you about pricing for storage under three different scenarios: cost plus market, cost only, and market.  And so I'm trying to develop some information on the market.

What I'm driving for is that you’ve got a set of exfranchise contracts right now.  Each of them would have been negotiated at a point in time.  At that point in time, you would have known what your tariff cost-based rate for storage was, and for each contract you would have negotiated a market-based rate for storage.

     I'm interested in the historical delta between what the cost-based rate for storage was at that point of time and the market-based rate that you actually negotiated.  And I was wondering whether there's some way that you could provide a table setting out that information; the difference between the market-based rates negotiated and the cost-based rate, aggregated in such a way that it would still be useful but would allay any concerns about confidentiality.

     MR. ISHERWOOD:  I’m just flipping back to a question that Board Staff had asked, I believe it was question number 21.

     MR. BROWN:  Yes.

MR. ISHERWOOD:  The unitized, the average unitized market-based rates, and I think at that point, I pointed back to an interrogatory we just finished writing for our 2007 rate case.  And it's subsequently been asked as part of this record as well.  So – and we'll do that.  But that will give you historical prices that we've sold exfranchise storage at.

     MR. BROWN:  Because what I'm looking at, because

I'm not exactly sure what Board Staff is driving at, but

what would be useful for our purposes is that if one had a

table for the last three or four years and for each year you had your cost-based rate, and for that year you also had the average market-based rate that you negotiate Ford that year.

     MR. ISHERWOOD:  I think question 21 is a

market-based rate so I'd ask Mr. Kitchen about the

cost-of-service and the comparison.

     MR. KITCHEN:  I think we could add that.

     MR. BROWN:  Okay.  If you could.

     MR. KITCHEN:  At the cost-based rate.

     MR. BROWN:  That would be very helpful.

     MR. ISHERWOOD:  Just appreciate it's not always at the same time.  Market-based storage is being sold throughout the year.  Cost-based would be sort of an average over the year, basically.  It would be indicative of where I think where you want to go.

     MR. BROWN:  Okay.  Well, that would be helpful if you could roll that into the answer to the Board

Staff question, then.

     MS. SEBALJ:  Sorry, are we adding that to -- was it an

undertaking to provide the IR to Board Staff?

     MR. BROWN:  Question 22, I think it was.

     MR. ISHERWOOD:  I think that IR is already written, so

it might need to be a new undertaking to add the new information to it.

     MS. SEBALJ:  I think we'll just do it as a separate

undertaking.  I think it's in addition to Undertaking No. 7.  But let's say Undertaking No. 15 is to provide the historical cost-based rates for storage.

UNDERTAKING NO. 15:  FOR UNION TO provide the historical cost-based rates for storage

     MR. BROWN:  To follow up on a question that

Mr. Thompson asked, did I understand your answer to be that

with respect to the methodology that you use for setting

market-based rates for storage, you rely solely on the

results of open seasons and you view market-based price as

the highest bid resulting from the open season?

     MR. ISHERWOOD:  That's by far the most common approach.


MR. BROWN:  Are there other approaches?

     MR. ISHERWOOD:  You can calculate to a certain point

what the market price of storage is at any given moment,

just by the summer/winter differential in price on NYMEX. 

You have to add in the costing of the gas to Dawn,

obviously, and there are some seasonal differences to that

and so it gets a little complicated, but there is a

mathematical formula that you can come up with the inherent

value of storage.   What makes it difficult to estimate the true market value is each marketer will then -- or

whoever's buying it, each customer, each end-user will add

on top of that a premium to reflect the value of that

storage to them.  And that's where you get quite different

bids.  You get quite a wide range.

     MR. BROWN:  Could I ask you to just set down in

Writing, by way of undertaking, in a few words, your 

understanding of what that formula would be to calculate the market-based rates?

     MR. ISHERWOOD:  And it's a theoretical value, if you

want.

     MR. BROWN:  That's fine.  I understand that.

     MS. SEBALJ:  That's Undertaking No. 16, which is the formula for calculation of market-based rates.

UNDERTAKING NO. 16:  FOR Union Gas to provide the formula for the calculation of market-based rates 

     MR. BROWN:  You've been asked a lot of questions

about how much storage capacity you have who pulls what and

whatnot.  I don't want to flog a dead horse, but I was

wondering whether you could advise that, based on the

existing storage assets that you have, how much 5 percent

delivery service would you be available to provide with your current assets.  And also, how much 10 percent

deliverability service could you provide with your current

assets?

     MR. ISHERWOOD:  I don't know the exact question, but

that was one of the questions that the Board Staff had

presented to us a couple of days ago.  And I guess the way

we look at storage and deliverability is they're really

two different assets.

      Storage, on average, comes with 1.2 percent

deliverability.  The extent we had a customer interested

in higher deliverability, 5 or 10 percent, we would look at

that quite independently of developing more space or using a specific pool.  We would look at what project we can do to develop the deliverability by itself, and provided the customer was prepared to contract longer-term, and we recover our costs, obviously, then we would build project to do that.

      So it's not really looking at how much we have.  It's

really looking at the current system is 1.2 percent across the whole 163 petaJoules of space that we have today.  If somebody wanted an extra 100,000 in deliverability to get up to an extra 5 or 10 percent, then we'd need to go build for that.  

I don't want you to have the impression that we have a bunch of 5 ask 10 percent deliverability sitting on the shelf, waiting to be sold.  We would very quickly have to go build some.

     MR. BROWN:  And could you put a number on it very

quickly, is it your 100,000 gJs?

     MR. ISHERWOOD:  No, it would be less than that.

     MR. BROWN:  Could you give me a ballpark 

estimate.

     MR. ISHERWOOD:  Not – it would be confidential.

     MR. BROWN:  Why would it be confidential? 

Because what I'm simply trying to get to is if you had a

bunch of customers coming to you today saying, we would like to have higher deliverability levels.  Given what you have today, how much of that how much of that demand could you have to satisfy and at what point would you have to say to the folks, Look, we're going to have to build new stuff. 

That's all I'm trying to understand.

     MR. ISHERWOOD:  I think the way we've tried to look at

it, Mr. Brown, again, from the power markets point of view,

using a very high-level rule of thumb, but there’s probably a couple Bcf of high-deliverability storage required by the market in the short term.  That's assuming a Bcf for every thousand megawatts.  

So, if that 2 Bcf required higher deliverability, it would be 200,000 gJs per day, we would have to build for that.  There's no doubt about that.  And we suspect Enbridge would have to as well.

     MR. BROWN:  And have you done any studies on that

point to, I guess, identify what the trigger point would be for you, to actually have to build new assets, and did those studies conclude what the trigger point would be? 

     MR. ISHERWOOD:  That gets back to the question, how

much excess deliverability do you have today, which is

confidential.  It's really the same question.

     MR. BROWN:  Okay.  And perhaps you could just put

on the record why Union believes that that information is

confidential.

     MR. ISHERWOOD:  I think the market looks at Union's

storage operation from a very competitive point of view. 

Whether that's Enbridge looking at Union or some Michigan

providers looking at Union, but our capability in terms of

excess deliverability or space or space development

capabilities is all very confidential.  People are

always looking for that information.

     MR. BROWN:  You were asked a few questions this

morning, and this is in the context of T1 service and

storage associated with that, about the methodology that you use to allocate storage space to a new customer.  And you talked about the aggregate excess formula.

      Could you provide a concrete illustration that would

explain the processes that you would go through in order to

calculate the maximum storage space that a T1 customer could be allocated under that methodology?

     MR. SHORTS:  Sure.  As I mentioned before, we would look at the average daily winter consumption.  We would subtract from that the average annual daily consumption, and we would multiply that number times 151 days, which represents the winter period.

     MR. BROWN:  And I think it was your evidence,

Mr. Shorts, that you, up to the present, had been able to

accommodate all the storage requests for infranchise

power generators, that -- using that methodology, you don't see a need for new methodology for power generators?

     MR. SHORTS:  That –- certainly, that methodology has

created numbers in aggregate that are usually higher than

what the customers have actually said they wanted a contract for.

     MR. BROWN:  If I could ask you a hypothetical

question, and if you could tell me what the revenue

consequences would be.

      I'd ask you to assume that a generator contracts with

you for a high deliverability storage service.  I'd also ask you to assume that there are times during the year when the generator does not use that service.

      If Union uses that capability, that deliverability

capability that the generator has contracted for but is not

using, would the generator receive a credit from Union for

any of the revenues that Union derived from using that

capacity -- that capability?

     MR. ISHERWOOD:  In today's framework, the S&T revenues

that we would earn on that would go into the deferral account.

     MR. BROWN:  And you've got the sharing.

     MR. ISHERWOOD:  Sharing mechanism, yes.

     MR. BROWN:  One final question on storage, and this relates to your F24-S proposal, I believe in your evidence, on page 36, dealing with the storage, you indicated that the F24-S service, the cost of increased nomination windows are proposed to be recovered from the F24-T customers.

     Is the assumption behind that answer that, from your perspective, all F24-S customers are going to be F24-T customers, so you've got identical folks who will be -- identical customers who will be paying for the service?

     MR. KITCHEN:  They will either be F24-T customers with F24-S service or they will be contracting for -- they will be F24-T service customers contracting with another party for F24-S service.  That's the basic assumption.

     MR. BROWN:  Okay.  If I can move to your F24-T service proposal, there were some questions asked of you as to whether you would consider additional nomination windows, and I think, Ms. Cameron, you may have provided some responses to that.  

As I heard the responses, Union was saying that if there's a consensus as to where an additional window should go, you'll listen to it and probably adopt it.  

Could you advise us as to the different proposals that various customers have made regarding where additional nomination windows should go?

      Again, I guess what I'd like to get from you is simply a list -- based on the contact that you've had with your customers, you've heard from your customers that there is some desire to have additional windows at this point, this point, and that point, but you don't view that a consensus has yet been reached with respect to those points.  I'd really just like a shopping list of the various places customers have said you should add in another nomination window.  

MS. CAMERON:  Sure.  We have heard from customers.  They requested a nomination window that was effective at midnight, and, in our perspective, we would make that nomination deadline at 10 p.m., effective midnight.  They also requested a nomination window that was effective at 8

a.m. -- or effective at 10 a.m., rather, at the beginning of the gas day.  And they also asked for a nomination window at 12 for 2 p.m.

     MR. BROWN:  12 noon for 2 p.m. in the afternoon.

     MS. CAMERON:  Yes.

     MR. BROWN:  That's right, because you've got that 4-hour gap or something in the early afternoon hours.

     MS. CAMERON:  Yes.

     MR. ISHERWOOD:  If I could just add to that.  I guess the one that makes the most sense, from the point of view that we've heard it more than once, was probably that last one.

     MR. BROWN:  And tell me, how many players are there out there from whom you have to get consensus?  Is this a group of 10, a group of 12?

     MS. CAMERON:  I would think you would want the majority.  To date, most of those requests, with the exception of one, have only come from one party, a different party each time.  So there has not been a consensus from anyone.

     MR. BROWN:  And for which window did you hear from more than one customer?

     MS. CAMERON:  The midnight one.

MR. BROWN:  The midnight one.

MS. CAMERON:  Yes.  Oh, the 12 for 2, sorry, I apologize.  It’s the 12 for 2.

MR. BROWN:  Are there any incremental costs, from your point of view, in adding any of those three windows to your proposal?

     MS. CAMERON:  No.

     MR. BROWN:  So why wouldn't you add them?

     MR. ISHERWOOD:  It's more from a point of view of overall efficiency and effectiveness.  So instead of having people tied up doing nominations, or being prepared to do a nomination that is ineffective or will not be used very often, we're really trying to find nomination windows that are going to be the most effective for people and the most valuable for people to use. 

So the one at midnight, for example, I think the idea was around the fact that the electric market ends and starts at midnight.  From the gas generation point of view, the practical point of view, not many people expect to be running gas plants at midnight.  So that nomination window doesn't have, I don't think, a lot of value.  The one at 12 o'clock for 2 o'clock probably does have value.

     MR. BROWN:  Now, I know Union has done a ton of consultation with customers, and you’re to be commended for that.  On this particular point, when a customer raises with you a proposal of, Let's have a window at midnight, have you then gone around and canvassed all the people that you've talked to, to say, Look, we've heard from one customer about this desire for something at midnight, what do you think about it?

     MR. ISHERWOOD:  We’ve had a similar discussion as we’ve had today, where we’d ask people in terms of what nomination windows would you recommend, and we would obviously recommend -– not recommend, but talk about one's we've heard previously.

     The other item to consider, I guess, is Union adding a nomination window is one option, but it's also important, as I said this morning, in terms of getting a line of sight right to the plant, it's also important that the providers, TransCanada and Enbridge, would also be able to add the same window.  It's also important to other storage companies at Dawn, marketers, brokers.  So this is not isolated to Union.

So before we go forward with a revised proposal, it is very important that we get a majority consensus.

     MR. BROWN:  From Union's perspective, is the minimum lapse of time between the time of nomination and the effectiveness of nomination two hours, or, operationally, are you able to reduce that further?

     MS. PASSMORE:  At this point, operationally, we can't reduce it any further.  We've taken the four hours -- we've got the one hour, actually, in our nominations group and the one hour that our operations group would actually be rescheduling the gas on pipe.  So this two hours is as low as we can take it.

     MR. BROWN:  I've read in your evidence a description of the proposed TransCanada pipeline firm short notice service, the 15-minute windows.  You were quite clear in your evidence that the way TransCanada used the word "nomination" was not the same sense in which Union used it.

     But would you be in a position to effectively go to a 15-minute window service similar to what TransCanada will be proposing?

     MS. PASSMORE:  Well, that's the downstream pipeline balancing service.  That actually enables a customer who does need to come on and needs to confirm that supply that we would be able to.  But all we're confirming there, right, is the amount of gas currently moving down the pipe and the amount of gas that is credited to the customer in that essential balancing account at Parkway.  We're certainly not completely rescheduling or reconfirming all of Dawn.

     MR. BROWN:  With respect to the F24-T service, when a new nomination is made, do I understand it that that nomination is then scheduled for delivery in equal amounts over the balance of the gas day?

     MR. ISHERWOOD:  That's correct.

     MR. BROWN:  If a customer’s delivers and receipts under the F24-T service result in a daily imbalance, how are you proposing -- what services are you proposing to offer?  You've referred to the downstream one.  Are there other services that Union would offer to try and handle that daily imbalance?

     MR. ISHERWOOD:  Actually, it's very difficult to get an imbalance on M12, because flows are scheduled based on the nomination and the nomination only gets scheduled if it's confirmed both upstream and downstream.  So for us to confirm 100,000 gJs at Parkway, we'd we want to have confirmation that a producer or marketer was supplying it at Dawn, and that TransCanada was prepared to accept it at Parkway.

     MR. BROWN:  Is the M12 service used to support TransCanada's STS service for Enbridge and Gaz Métro?

     MR. ISHERWOOD:  Sorry, the question was M12 service?

     MR. BROWN:  Yes.

     MR. ISHERWOOD:  It’s basically -- it's a bit of a question between -- the Dawn-Parkway system has two different services.  One is an easterly service, which, today, is the M12 service we talked about.  It also has a westerly service, which is getting the volumes in the summertime from Parkway back to Dawn, and so it’s a westerly service.  Union is in the transition stage now of moving those contracts towards a C1 contract.

     MR. BROWN:  Historically, have the nominations under those -- under the contracts that you have to support the STS service been firm on an all-day basis?

     MS. CAMERON:  No, they have not. 

     MR. BROWN:  I think in your evidence you indicated that for the F24-T service to be available, Union would require a minimum of 250,000 gJs a day.  Could you explain why you would require that minimum amount to offer this service?

     MR. ISHERWOOD:  The F24-T service is a cost-of-service

based service.  So you are really trying to recover your

costs based on a forecasted volume.  So anything less than

the 250,000, based on the costs presented in the evidence,

it would be non-economic to go forward.  Once you hit the 

250,000 a day threshold, the service is then supporting

itself.

     MR. BROWN:  Okay.  Let me move, then, to the

upstream pipeline balancing service.

     And some of these are simply informational to put

information on the record.

     If a person contracts for the upstream pipeline 

balancing service, do you foresee that any daily imbalances

could arise under that service?

     MS. CAMERON:  Daily imbalances on Union Gas?

     MR. BROWN:  Yes.

     MS. CAMERON:  To the extent that they're -- they did

not reduce their supplied nomination over the day, no.

     MR. BROWN:  In your evidence, you indicate that

you would require a minimum of 12 hours redelivery under

your proposed upstream pipeline service, as I recall?

     MS. CAMERON:  Yes.

     MR. BROWN:  Could you explain what constraints

permit you from enabling a customer to have redeliveries for a lesser period of time, if the generator says I'm going to only run six hours a day or eight hours a day, why would it not be possible for you to provide an upstream pipeline balancing service to them under those circumstances?

     MS. CAMERON:  As discussed earlier, these services

provided are Union Gas's storage assets, both space and

deliverability.  The ability to withdraw that gas faster

requires a significant greater amount of deliverability,

which is currently non-available.       

MR. BROWN:  So is it a matter of it simply not being available, or you would have to make available services at a different price for fewer hours of redelivery?

     MR. ISHERWOOD:  I think the service as it’s described in evidence is sort of a framework or a core service that we're recommending.  If the individual customer wanted to go to a one-eighth or a one-tenth-type service, I'm not saying it's not possible.  It would be a unique service for that one customer, and it would definitely be at a higher rate, as Ms. Cameron mentioned.  It would definitely use a lot more deliverability at -- the lower number of hours you get to, and it would certainly take us to a build sooner if they offered services that low.  So at that point, we would require a long-term commitment to the service to support the build.  I wouldn't say it's not ever available.  It would be a very unique service, though.

     MR. BROWN:  And the higher price for that would

be tied primarily to the need for deliverability, greater

deliverability?

     MR. ISHERWOOD:  That's correct.

     MR. BROWN:  As I read your evidence with respect

to the upstream balancing service, I think you indicated

that the maximum hourly flow for that service would be based on, and this is where I'm confused, would be based on the M12 levels or the F24-T levels, or are the latter two the same?

     MS. CAMERON:  The requirement to hold F24-S -- or UPB, upstream pipeline balancing service is that a shipper holds an M12 transportation contract.  That is your only

requirement.  So it would be tied to your deliverability,

your contract quantity there.

      The F24-T service, as designed, does not require you

to require you to match your F24-T service to your actual M12 transportation contract.

      An example would be, you can have the right to

transport under an M12 agreement 100 units a day but only want to contract for 50 of those as a firm all-day

service.

     MR. ISHERWOOD:  If I could just add to that.  I think

the reference in the evidence, what we're trying to say

there is, if we're delivering gas to you at Parkway using

the one-twelfth rule, M12 contract has a maximum hour deliver parameter in it, and it’s one-twentieth of your daily.  So if you have 100 units, it gives you the capability of delivering at Parkway 5,000 gJs per hour.  So all we're saying is the UPBS service doesn't give you any more than that 5,000.  So if what your plant needs is anywhere between zero and 5,000 for that hour, it works fine.

     MR. BROWN:  And so where in your evidence you

refer to a maximum hourly contracted limit for the UPBS

service, that would be the same as for the M12 service?

     MR. ISHERWOOD:  In terms of what's being delivered to

Parkway; that's correct.

     MR. BROWN:  In your evidence, you've indicated

that Union's proposing to offer this upstream pipeline

balancing service at a market price.  What do you consider

to be the market or the market participants for alternative

service that would set that market price?

     MR. ISHERWOOD:  There is really two things driving that statement.  I guess the first is the assets that we're using to provide that service are assets we're currently using today in the exfranchise market, as well as going to a customer that's in the exfranchise market.  And both of

those point us towards that service being a market-based

rate.

      I think your question asked who other service 

providers could provide a similar type of service?

     MR. BROWN:  I guess it's an awkward way of trying to

get a handle on what is this -- what is the price for this

service going to be?  And perhaps I should have approached

it differently and asked you to assume that I'm a customer

coming to you saying:  I've heard about this upstream

pipeline balancing service.  I think I'd like to look into

it.  Tell me what it costs.  How will you go about telling

me what it will cost?

     MR. ISHERWOOD:  And again, for the same market reasons, but it's very difficult.  Because the cost or the value of that will change, and whether the customer wants it for a few years or for 20 years, it would certainly change the price as well.   So it's really dependent upon the customer's requirements as much as anything else?

     MR. BROWN:  What factors will Union take into

account in considering what the market price should be for

that service at any point of time.

     MR. ISHERWOOD:  The easiest way for us to establish

that is through an open season.  So if we thought there was

a market demand, we'd do an open season for the province.

     MR. BROWN:  Is it your intention only to offer the upstream pipeline balancing service through open seasons?

     MR. ISHERWOOD:  It really depends on the market, where

we view it as being market depth.  If we only had one

customer interested in it, then obviously we would try and

negotiate an arrangement with that one customer.

     MR. BROWN:  Right.  And I'm not trying to be

argumentative here, but you do have a bunch of folks who are interested in what you're proposing but are trying to get a handle on how is this going to be priced.  You know, if you don't have a lot of interest out there and therefore conclude that you aren't going to run an open season, how are you going to carry on a pricing discussion with a potential customer?   What's the customer going to hear from you in terms of your saying, Well, we're going to come up with a price, and here's how we're going to come up with it?

     MR. ISHERWOOD:  From our perspective, how we would look at the value of the product in terms of us selling it, it would be one of two things.  It would be the cost to build new deliverability, and so those economics would work into the price.  Or if it was an existing asset, what would be the alternative uses we could use that asset to sell in other markets or sell in other services?  So we'd want to at least be able to recover what we could get for the asset in selling it in other locations.

     MR. BROWN:  If I could move, then, to the -- you've indicated in your evidence that the upstream, and actually also the downstream pipeline balancing services will only be offered if there is sufficient interest expressed in them.  For you, what benchmark sets sufficient interest?  What's the minimum threshold of demand for the service that you would require before offering it?

     MR. ISHERWOOD:  I think in the evidence as well we talk about the IT development costs that's associated with both services.

      We want to have some comfort that between the current

market and the future market, that we'd be able to recover

those costs plus the value of the asset.  So we really want

to make sure that there was, again, market depth.  So if one customer came to us looking for a small part of this, we'd have no hope of every recovering the infrastructure, the IT costs, and that would be a signal to us probably not to develop the service.

     MR. BROWN:  So is there a minimum volume number

that you can point to that’s -- would say --

     MR. ISHERWOOD:  Not in my mind, there’s not.  It really depends. If one customer were prepared to accept the whole IT development costs, which I wouldn’t expect they were, but if they were, then that one customer would be enough.

     MR. BROWN:  If I could turn, then, to the other service, the downstream pipeline balancing service that you're offering, do I read your evidence correctly that this will be a service offered on a firm basis, year-round, no seasonal restrictions?

     MR. ISHERWOOD:  That's correct.

     MR. BROWN:  I think your evidence indicates that you're looking at a maximum of four hours of service under this proposal.  I think you had phrased it as two hours park and two hours loan.  Would a customer be able to negotiate more than two hours of parked service under your proposal?

     MR. ISHERWOOD:  It's possible, again, depending on market depth.  We would definitely want to be able to make sure we had enough of the product for the power market in Toronto.  But to the extent not all customers wanted access to it but one customer did, for example, then it's quite likely that we would be able to do more than just the four hours.

     MR. BROWN:  There's some references in your evidence to, one of the benefits of this service would be it would enable a customer to start firm the next day.  What is the minimum amount that they would have to have in their service balance or their account balance to be able to start firm the next day?

     MR. ISHERWOOD:  The nice feature of that service, in my mind, is it really puts the decision-making in the hands of the customer.  So it gives them the chance to go anywhere from minus two hours to plus two hours.  And that hour, again, is tied back to the M12 max hour.  

So we used an example earlier of 100,000 a day.  1/20th of that is 5,000.  So if it’s 100,000 a day, with an M12 contract or an F24-T contract, you would have 4 hours' capability, if he had chosen to end the last day fully subscribed or filled in his park and loan account.  So he would have 4 hours’ capability at 5,000 an hour.

     MR. BROWN:  And in terms of our hourly delivery parameters - we're talking in terms of, let’s say, two hours of gas that is parked with you at Parkway under this service – could I, as a customer, draw on all of that two-hour volume over the course of one hour or would I only be able to draw on it on a one-hour-by-one-hour basis?

     MR. ISHERWOOD:  He could nominate anywhere from zero to the max hour, until that four-hour equivalent volume is gone, on his M12 contract.

     MR. BROWN:  Have you had any discussions with TCPL or Enbridge Gas Distribution about their ability to accept that kind of delivery that's nominated under your proposed downstream pipeline balancing service?

     MR. ISHERWOOD:  We've had some discussion with TCPL in regards to their FTSN service, so the downstream balancing service fits very well and complements that service very closely.

     I wouldn't say I have confirmation from Enbridge in terms of whether they could accept a 15-minute nomination window at this point in time.

     MR. BROWN:  In terms of the balance that a customer carries at any one point in time in this downstream pipeline balancing account, is there any limit on the length of time which a customer can carry that balance forward?

     MR. ISHERWOOD:  Just the end date of the contract. 

MR. BROWN:  And these contracts, you anticipate, will be typically for what period of time?

     MS. CAMERON:  They would be for a minimum of one year.

     MR. BROWN:  On the issue of the pricing for this service, I understand from your evidence that Union is proposing to offer it on a market-priced basis?

     MR. ISHERWOOD:  That's correct.

     MR. BROWN:  And again, what factors will you be looking at to determine the market price?

     MR. ISHERWOOD:  It ties back to Dawn's storage and deliverability.  So it goes back to the alternate use of those assets in other markets and the value of those assets.

     MR. BROWN:  The way the market stands today, are you aware of any other service providers that could provide a comparable service at Parkway as an alternate or substitute to what you're proposing?

     MR. ISHERWOOD:  I believe TransCanada is developing and proposing a similar type of service, park and loan.  I don't know if it's exactly the same.  I understand Enbridge has similar type services in the market area as well.  Both of those would also, obviously, be competitive forces in terms of establishing the price as well.

     MR. BROWN:  In terms of the enhanced services that you're proposing, the F24-T, the upstream balancing and the downstream pipeline balancing, from your perspective, are there common costs associated with each of those services?

     MR. ISHERWOOD:  Certainly the upstream and the downstream pipeline balancing service definitely would have a deliverability component.  I believe in the evidence we talked about, as different services sell in different amounts, at some point Union will get pushed into doing a build.  So there are definitely dependencies between them all, and also dependencies involved in providing high-deliverability storage to a customer as well.  It's all using the same asset or the same future asset.

     MR. BROWN:  In terms of the additional services that you're going to offer, the F24-T, F24-S, the upstream pipeline balancing service and the downstream pipeline balancing service, do you anticipate that a customer who wishes to subscribe any of those services may have to provide additional credit support to you in order to take advantage of those services?

     MR. ISHERWOOD:  It's possible.

     MR. BROWN:  Could you perhaps outline for me the various considerations that you would take into account in determining whether or not a customer would have to –- and I'm assuming here you've got an M12 customer who wants to upgrade.  What are the various considerations that you would take into account in determining whether additional credit support would be required from the customer?

     MR. ISHERWOOD:  We have a difference of opinion about what the question was, but is it more around credit-rating,

that kind of thing?

     MR. BROWN:  Well, you've got M12 customers out there now.  You may have new M12 customers in the near future.  Under each M12 contract, you're going to negotiate a certain level of prudential support with the customer.  If that customer comes along and said, Look, I'd like to now upgrade, or to bolt on, I think is the language in your evidence, and take advantage of some of these additional services, my question is, would you go back to the customer and say, We’re pleased to do that, but in order for you to subscribe to these services, we're going to have to ask for more credit support from you.

     So my first question would be, would you perhaps be asking that from a customer; and, secondly, if you were, what factors would you be taking into account in determining what the additional amount of credit support might be?

     MR. ISHERWOOD:  Union would certainly be asking, or potentially having to be in a position to ask, for more credit if their level of business is increasing with any individual shipper.  A good example is, on the M12, our current credit requirement is, if they do ask for credit, we have the right to ask for up to 12 months of demand charges.  On F24-T, that incremental charge would be a demand charge based component.  

So, as an example, if the current demand charge is X, with the F24-T service taken out, it actually increases to Y.  So when you look at the 12-month demand charge calculation, you would be using the Y number instead of the X number.

     MR. BROWN:  For the M12 contract.

     MR. ISHERWOOD:  For the M12 contract.  As an example, that's right.

     MR. BROWN:  And in terms of any credit support directly linked to the F24-T contract?

     MR. ISHERWOOD:  Well, I guess that's really the same one, because it’s the F24-T contract that’s creating the higher demand charge.  That's the one that’s making it go from X to Y.

     MR. BROWN:  Okay.  Well, thank you very much for your patience.

     MS. SEBALJ:  Thank you, Mr. Brown.  

I look to you, Karin, for some guidance as to whether you need some time.

     COURT REPORTER:  A short break would be appreciated.

     MS. SEBALJ:  We'll take a short break -- actually, can we do Mr. Redford, who has one question?  I just looked down at my list.

     COURT REPORTER:  Yes, certainly.  

CROSS-EXAMINATION BY MR. REDFORD:
     MR. REDFORD:  Good afternoon.  Market Hub Partners Canada just has one question, two parts.  

We're really looking to understand how a third-party storage operator might interface with customers using the new services that Union is proposing.

     Our first question is to explain the applicability of the proposed new services to customers seeking to source their gas from third-party storage facilities rather than utility-owned storage, and to illustrate with examples.

     And I'll read the second part, because it may be easier to tackle this as one, is to explain the significance of infranchise and exfranchise services in connection with the first part.

     MR. ISHERWOOD:  Let me take a whack at this and see if I'm asking your questions directly or not.  If you look at the example of a third-party storage provider fitting into the market at Dawn, the connection really between the third-party storage provider and Dawn is their M16 contract.  It's a transportation contract that goes from that third-party provider's pool to -- gets it back to Dawn.  So, in terms of fitting into the services we described, they're all Dawn-based; all four services have Dawn elements to them.

     So the question that I think you're asking is:  How can you get your gas to Dawn to participate in those types of markets?  And I think it's probably as simple as extending the F24-T flexibility in terms of more nomination windows and firm all-day to M16 firm service.  Is that really the question?

      MR. REDFORD:  I think that's -- I think that's part of it.

      We would look -- I think we'd be interested in understanding that from somebody supplying infranchise, so they would need an M16; in other words, it would connect directly to the Union facilities.  We would also be interested in the same answer with respect to somebody outside the franchise area that's supplying to a Dawn-based service.

     MR. ISHERWOOD:  Well, the M16 would supply it back to

Dawn.  So if you lay on the F24-T parameters, being the ten windows and firm all-day, that would really be in the exfranchise market.  That gets the storage pool’s gas back to Dawn on the same parameters, if you want, or same operating method, gets back to Dawn; but then that same gas can participate on the F24-T service into the Toronto market quite easily.

     That would imply or mean that the pool and the third-party operator would need to be able to operate across ten windows and all those types of things as well.

     MR. REDFORD:  I think that does it.

     MS. SEBALJ:  Thank you.  Thanks.  

Is 15 minutes adequate?  Let's take a 15-minute break to 6:15, and then we'll have Patrick Keys from TCPL.

     Thanks.

--- Recess taken at 5:59 p.m.

--- On resuming at 6:25 p.m.

     MS. SEBALJ:  Apologies for the delay.  We are going to get started with Aegent's questions, and then we are still in the midst of discussing options to accommodate our -– TCPL, who has kindly offered to get bumped from the order, but we're otherwise trying to make arrangements for them.  So let's get started on these questions and then we'll deal with how to finish this up.


CROSS-EXAMINATION BY MS. YOUNG:

     MS. YOUNG:  Good evening.  I think it's officially safe to say that.

     My name is Val Young, and with me is Frank Brennan,

and we're with Aegent Energy Advisors.  The reference for our first question is tab 1, page 5, lines 4 and 5.  It's also a follow-up to one of Mr. Thompson's questions.

     Union has indicated that in preparation for this proceeding, it reviewed its T1 service with its infranchise customers.  Could you tell us, was this service reviewed with all of Union's current T1 customers?

     MR. SHORTS:  Essentially, what we had done was in the scope of the power customers -- so, as Mark Isherwood mentioned, we had sponsored the August 23rd session in which we invited all of the existing prospective as well as other market players that were looking at power plants to discuss the T1 and whether the T1 met the needs of power customers.

     MS. YOUNG:  Okay.  So there are, in all likelihood, some existing T1 customers who have not been approached to discuss the nature of the service and whether it's adequate?

     MR. SHORTS:  Not in the -- not as far as this proceeding was related to the power services.  We do that in the normal course of business when we're talking to them to see if the service at the level they've contracted for still meets their needs.

     MS. YOUNG:  And will you be approaching them to discuss the T1 rate to restructuring?  This is the point that Mr. Thompson was referring to?

     MR. SHORTS:  Yes, we will be talking to those customers, sending them communications.  We're currently working on a communications plan and strategy to be able to go to the remaining T1 customers that already haven't been spoken to directly.

     MS. YOUNG:  Thank you.  And will that be communication on the rate impacts?

     MR. SHORTS:  Yes.

     MS. YOUNG:  The second question is, I think, a more general question than Board Staff's question 11.  They asked specifically about whether or not you have looked at an option for a new rate class for customers served directly off the transmission main.  And our question is a bit more general than that in that it is:  What options, just generally, what options, other than a redesign, did Union examine in order to address lower rates to large customers, such as gas-fired power generators?

     MR. KITCHEN:  We looked at whether or not we could maintain the declining block structure, if we could do that.  We looked at whether, if we had a third declining block, it would work.  In some cases, though, we didn't do any analysis to those.  We just looked at it from a pragmatic point of view, said it wouldn't work.  

We also looked at whether or not there was any merit to designing rates for customers east and west of Dawn, different rates.  That didn't yield a significant difference in the rate.  

So we did look at other options.

     MS. YOUNG:  Thank you.  This third question, and it has three parts, it may be that it's an undertaking, but I will let you decide.

     The reference is tab 3.  It's page 26, and it's table 3 on that page.

     For each of the blocks, the percent in the last column, it's our understanding that is the average delivery rate impact for that particular block?

     MR. KITCHEN:  That's correct.

     MS. YOUNG:  Would it be possible to get, for each block, the range, so the highest percentage change and the lowest percentage change?

     MR. KITCHEN:  Yes.  Yes, I could provide that through an undertaking.

     MS. YOUNG:  Right.

     MS. SEBALJ:  Sorry.  I think we're at -- I just want to mark that.  I think we're at Undertaking No. 17, and that's with reference to tab 3, page 26, table 3, a provision of the range, I guess, from highest to lowest, in the final percentage column.

UNDERTAKING NO. 17:  FOR UNION TO Provide a provision of the range at Tab 3, page 26, table 3, from highest to lowest, in the final percentage column

     MS. YOUNG:  Same table.  For each of the blocks, could you also provide the number of customers that fall within each block?

     MR. KITCHEN:  Yes, I can.  Actually, I could probably, if you I could take an estimate, and subject to checking, I could tell you that now.  There is approximately 50 in the first block, nine in the second block, seven in the third block, and five, I believe, in the last block.  If those numbers aren't right, I can provide an undertaking if they're not correct.

     MS. YOUNG:  Of those numbers, how many would be existing T1 customers?  I'm assuming it's the lion's share, but how many would be existing T1 customers and how many would be potential new forecast T-1 customers? 

     MR. KITCHEN:  I might have to look at that and take an undertaking to do that.

     MS. YOUNG:  Thank you.

     MS. SEBALJ:  So this will be Undertaking 18.  And my

understanding of the question is, how many of the customers in that final column of tab 3, page 26, table 3 are existing and how many are new/forecast customers.

     MS. YOUNG:  Within each block.

     MS. SEBALJ:  Yes, within each block.  Thanks.  

UNDERTAKING NO. 18:  FOR UNION TO PROVIDE A BREAKDOWN OF how many of the customers IN THE FINAL COLUMN OF TAB 3, PAGE 26, TABLE 3 ARE EXISTING AND HOW MANY ARE NEW/FORECAST CUSTOMERS WITHIN EACH BLOCK
     MS. YOUNG:  And the last part to this question:  Would it be possible to get a table similar to table 3; however, instead of the reference point for the determination of the percentages, instead of that reference point being the 2007 proposed rates, could it be the existing rates, so your April 1 rates?  Is that doable?

     MR. KITCHEN:  Our April 1 rates, our 2006?

     MS. YOUNG:  Yes.

     MR. KITCHEN:  Yes.

     MS. YOUNG:  Okay.

     MR. KITCHEN:  That can be provided.

     MS. YOUNG:  Thank you. 

     MS. SEBALJ:  So that's Undertaking 19, which is a new table where the reference point is the 2006 rates rather than the 2007 rates.

UNDERTAKING NO. 19:  TO PROVIDE a new table where the reference point is the 2006 rates rather than the 2007 rates

     MS. YOUNG:  The next question, the reference is tab 4, and the particular item that we're interested in appears in a number of places.  And it has to do with your references to TransCanada PipeLines' proposed FTSN service.

     Now, I think you may have spoken to this earlier, but we weren't quite clear on exactly what is the status of that service, and it seems to be an integral part of your proposals.

     MR. ISHERWOOD:  It's my understanding that TCPL's preparing to file that with the National Energy Board any time now, basically, so it's about to be filed.

     MS. YOUNG:  Would you have a description of the service?

     MR. ISHERWOOD:  Not in its current form.  I've not really followed it in the last month or so.  It was still in development as of a month ago.

     MS. YOUNG:  Okay.  Thank you.

     The next question, the reference is tab 4, page 10, table 1.  It's the proposed nomination schedule.  Could you please explain how Union's proposal for the additional nomination windows aligns with the nomination windows for TransCanada's storage transportation service?

     MS. CAMERON:  TransCanada's STS, or storage transportation service, currently provides customers with an additional four nomination windows.  Those nomination windows we tried to reflect in our proposal as well.  

They are –- the tenth window is an STS, an existing STS window, as is the eighth window.  

Libby, can you actually jump in?

     MS. PASSMORE:  Sure.  Currently, the STS windows are the equivalent of a 10 a.m. for an effective time of 12 noon, okay; then the 2300, with the effective time of 0200 the next calendar day but the same gas day; and as well, 0400, effective 0600.  So the only one of these that does not appear on our proposed schedule right now is the 11:30 a.m., effective 1800.  That is another one of the STS windows.

     MS. YOUNG:  Thank you.  Last question, the reference being tab 4, and the particular item we're interested in actually appears in three places, pages 18, 24, and 33.  But let me describe what we're after.

    On each of those pages, Union states that with respect to the F24-T, the upstream pipeline load balancing and the downstream pipeline load balancing services, that if the

Board found the immediate offering of these services to be in the public interest, then Union could include the total costs associated with developing the new service in the M12 transportation toll.

     Our question is, could you explain how this approach gets the service in place faster, which we understood to be the objective?

     MR. ISHERWOOD:  The proposal that Union Gas has made on those services really ties back to there being enough market demand to justify that.  And to the extent that market demand takes a year or two or three - my mike is going in and out, but maybe it's just me - if that market demand takes two or three years to actually develop, then there would be a delay in getting that service implemented.

So the one option is -- the cost is fairly expensive; in total between the four services, it's almost $5 million in IT development cost.  But if you spend that through the M12 rate or allocate it across the M12 rate, then you could get the service developed right away, rather than waiting for the market indicator.

     MS. YOUNG:  Thank you.


PROCEDURAL MATTERS:

     MS. SEBALJ:  Thank you.  I believe that there needs to be a discussion as to what the options are.  

As I understand it now, there's the option of starting tomorrow at 8:30 or starting tomorrow at 9:30 and then fitting TCPL in at another date.  So can I just have an off-the-record discussion and then we'll come back on the record and determine what we've done.

[Off-the-record discussion]

     MS. SEBALJ:  It looks like we've reached a decision that's unpleasant for everyone equally.  We will be reconvening tomorrow morning at 8:30 to finish off Union, and then -– 

[Laughter]

     MS. SEBALJ:  -- not literally, and then starting right after that with Enbridge, hopefully at 9:30.  I was going to ask if there are any objections, but frankly --

     MS. CAMPBELL:  No.  And if there are, you can point them out to me personally.

     MS. SEBALJ:  Thanks, everyone, for staying so late.  Thanks especially to VVR for your dedication, and thanks so

much to Union for staying overnight when you had planned to

go home.

--- Whereupon the hearing adjourned at 6:41 p.m.
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